TLR5 Signaling Causes Dendritic Cell Dysfunction and Orchestrates the Failure of Immune Checkpoint Therapy Against Ovarian Cancer

Mitchell Thomas McGinty Clifton, Virginia

B.S., Biology, James Madison University, 2014

M.S., Biomedical Science, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, 2018

A Dissertation presented to the Graduate Faculty of the University of Virginia in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Cancer Biology

University of Virginia November 2024

Abstract

Ovarian cancer is the seventh most common and eighth leading cause of cancer death in women globally. Diagnosis is challenging due to vague symptoms and a lack of effective screening methods, leading to late-stage diagnosis and poor prognosis. Despite progress in surgical techniques and chemotherapy regimens, overall survival improvements remain modest. New approaches such as immunotherapy have shown limited success despite their effectiveness in other cancers. Patients bearing ovarian tumors infiltrated with high frequencies of T cells are associated with a greater survival probability. However, therapies to revitalize tumor-associated T cells, such as PD-L1/PD-1 and CTLA-4 blockade, are ineffective for the treatment of ovarian cancer. Thus, there is a demand to understand why immunotherapy is ineffective against ovarian cancer.

A study from a parent lab found that Toll-Like Receptor 5 (TLR5) signaling impacts inflammation, anti-tumor immunity, and the clinical outcome of ovarian cancer patients. However, the influence of TLR5 signaling on immunotherapy remained unexplored. In this dissertation, we demonstrate that in late-stage murine ovarian cancer models, TLR5 signaling, the only known ligand for which is bacterial flagellin, leads to failure of immune therapy. Mechanistically, we demonstrate that chronic TLR5 signaling on dendritic cells impairs the differentiation of functional cDC1 subsets within the tumor microenvironment (TME). Instead, chronic TLR5 signaling biases precursor cells towards myeloid-associated subsets expressing high levels of PD-L1. This culminates in impaired activation of CD8 T cells, reducing CD8 T cell function and persistence within the ovarian tumor microenvironment. Expansion of cDC1s *in situ* using FMS-related Tyrosine Kinase 3 ligand (FLT3L) in combination with PD-L1 blockade achieved significant survival benefit, but only in TLR5 KO mice, whereas no benefit was observed in the presence of TLR5 signaling. Thus, we identify a host-intrinsic mechanism leading to failure of immune therapy for ovarian cancer, demonstrating that chronic TLR5 signaling on DCs is a barrier limiting the efficacy of immune

therapy. Clinically, roughly 7.5% of the general population harbors a TLR5 SNP that diminishes TLR5 signaling and is associated with increased long-term survival for ovarian cancer patients. Therefore, patients who express the TLR5 SNP may immediately benefit from anti-PDL1 therapy, and those without the SNP, TLR5 antagonism.

Acknowledgments

I am very grateful to have had the opportunity to pursue my doctoral studies at the University of Virginia. I would never have reached this point without the people who helped set my scientific foundation at the NIH and Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai. I thank Dr. Melanie Vacchio and Dr. Remy Bosselut at the NIH for my first opportunity to work in an immunology Lab. Their initial guidance set me on my current career trajectory. At Mount Sinai, I thank Dr. Miguel Fribourg, Dr. Paolo Cravedi, and Dr. Peter Heeger for their mentorship and support while I juggled classes, lab work, and applications. Beginning at UVA, I was looking for a mentor who encouraged me to pursue my scientific curiosity and challenge me to design the best experiments possible, which I found in Dr. Melanie Rutkowski. I thank my mentor, Melanie, for her support and guidance. I always left our meetings feeling motivated and excited for the next experiment. I would also like to thank past and present members of the Rutkowski Lab: Dr. Alkaid Feng, Dr. Claire Rosen, Francesca Azar, Sree Kolli, Audrey Putelo, Simona Bajgai, Madison Dietl, Cara Hatzinger, and Mika Poblete. Those extensive mouse experiments would not have been possible without their coordination, knowledge, and expertise. I am grateful to my committee members, Dr. Sarah Ewald, Dr. Tim Bullock, Dr. Victor Engelhard, Dr. Tim Bender, Dr. Ulrike Lorenz, and Dr. Michael Elliott, for their thoughtful advice, encouragement, and intellectual discussion. Specifically, I thank Dr. Sarah Ewald for chairing my committee. Additionally, I thank Dr. Ulrike Lorenz, Dr. Tim Bender, and Dr. Michael Elliott for contributing to my committee meetings even after leaving UVA. Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family, whose support has made this all possible. Specifically, I would like to thank my wife, Dr. Juliana Piacentini, who filled my time in grad school with love and happiness.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
Lists of figures and tables	vii
Abbreviations	ix
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Ovarian Cancer Epidemiology	1
1.2 Epithelial Ovarian Cancer Clinical Presentation	2
1.3 Current Treatment Strategies	2
1.4 Ascites	4
1.5 Heterogeneity of ovarian cancer	8
1.6 DCs are vulnerable to the ovarian TME	9
1.7 Types of DCs in the Ovarian TME	11
1.7.1 cDC1s	11
1.7.2 cDC2s	12
1.7.3 pDCs	14
1.7.4 MoDCs	14
1.8 The role of T cells in Ovarian cancer	17
1.9 The status of checkpoint therapy as an Ovarian Cancer Treatment	18
1.10 The Influence of Antibiotics on Ovarian Cancer	19
1.11 The Influence of Bacteria on Checkpoint Blockade	21
1.12 Toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5) Background	22
1.13 TLR5 agonism and antagonism	23
1.14 Toll-like Receptors and Ovarian Cancer	24
1.15 TLR5 and DCs	26
1.16 Conclusions and Thesis Rationale	26
Chapter 2: TLR5 signaling causes dendritic cell dysfunction and orchestrates of immune checkpoint therapy against ovarian cancer	; the failure 29
2.1 Forward	29
2.2 Abstract	30
2.3 Significance	30
2.4 Introduction	31

2.5 Results
2.6 Discussion
2.7 Author Contributions82
2.8 Acknowledgements
Chapter 3: Conclusions and Future Directions84
3.1 How these studies address outstanding questions in the field
3.2 Future Directions
3.2.1 Do bacteria drive an increase in TLR5+ myeloid cells in the ovarian TME?88
3.2.2 Does TLR5 signaling interfere with cDC1 recruitment to the ovarian TME?90
3.2.3 Does TLR5 signaling interfere with cDC1 development?
3.2.4 Does TLR5 signaling convert cDC1s to becoming cDC2s or another phenotype in the ovarian TME?
3.2.5 Can FLT3L and anti-PD-L1 be successful clinically?
3.2.6 Strategies to overcome the failure of immunotherapy against ovarian cancer
3.3 Concluding Remarks117
Chapter 4: Materials and Methods119
References

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1.1. Overview of Dendritic cell functional response to cancer
Figure 1.2. Characterization of Ovarian Cancer DCs16
Figure 2.1. TLR5 signaling impairs efficacy of PD-L1 blockade for ovarian cancer35
Figure 2.2. TLR5 expression on myeloid and dendritic cells, but not T cells, corresponds with tumor-associated cellular changes within the ovarian tumor microenvironment40
Figure 2.3. Hierarchical gating of TLR5-expressing cells in the ovarian Tumor Microenvironment
Figure 2.4. Temporal analysis of TLR5 expression in myeloid and dendritic cell populations within tumor-draining lymph nodes, systemically within the spleen, and within the tumor microenvironment of TLR5 reporter mice
Figure 2.5. TLR5 signaling reduces the frequency and functionality of cDC1s in the ovarian tumor microenvironment
Figure 2.6. Dendritic cell subsets examined within the tumor microenvironment and tumor- draining lymph nodes in tumor-bearing wild type and TLR5 KO mice
Figure 2.7. TLR5 signaling <i>in vivo</i> attenuates the accumulation and functionality of tumor- associated DC subsets
Figure 2.8. Comparative analysis of WT and TLR5 KO DC subsets within the same ovarian tumor microenvironment
Figure 2.9. Chronic TLR5 signaling by flagellin promotes differentiation and expansion of PD-L1 myeloid subsets, leading to impaired CD8 T cell activation
Figure 2.10. Phenotypic assessment of FLT3L cultured bone marrow-derived dendritic cells with acute or chronic exposure to bacterial flagellin
Figure 2.11. CD8 T cells are necessary for survival of TLR5 KO ovarian tumor-bearing mice treated with anti-PD-L1
Figure 2.12. Assessment of temporal changes in CD4 and CD8 T cells from the ovarian tumor microenvironment and tumor-draining lymph node in wild type and TLR5 KO ovarian tumor-bearing mice
Figure 2.13. Dendritic cell-specific deletion of TLR5 results in significantly increased survival during anti-PD-L1 therapy, corresponding with enhanced cDC1 frequencies and increased CD8 T cell function
Figure 2.14. Immune phenotyping of TLR5fl/fl x CD11c Cre mice bearing ovarian tumors77
Figure 3.1. Proposed figure for why anti-PD-L1 is effective against ovarian cancer in TLR5 KO mice
Figure 3.2. Chronic TLR5 signaling by flagellin downregulates expression of genes critical for dendritic cell function and differentiation
Figure 3.3. <i>TLR5</i> ^{R392X} ovarian cancer patients survive significantly longer than patients expressing other TLR5 alleles

Figure 3.4. <i>TLR5</i> ^{R392X} genotyping and phenotyping by ELISA	105
Figure 3.5. TLR5 signaling impairs efficacy of CTLA-4 blockade; TLR4 signaling do efficacy of anti-PD-L1 therapy; and anti-PD-L1 and FLT3L drive a synergistic survive to ovarian cancer.	es not impair ⁄al response 107
Table 3.1. Current clinical trials investigating TLR5 agonism or antagonism in any c	ontext114
Figure 3.6. Extrinsic blockade of TLR5 is unable to improve survival of WT mice in with anti-PD-L1.	combination 115

List of abbreviations:

- 2F8 Ovarian cancer cell line
- Abx Antibiotics
- Anti-4-1BB Tumor necrosis factor ligand superfamily member 9
- APCs Antigen-presenting cells
- BATF3 Basic leucine zipper ATF-like transcription factor 3
- CCL C-C motif chemokine ligand
- CCR C-C motif chemokine receptor
- CD Cluster of differentiation
- cDCs Conventional dendritic cells
- CDP common DC progenitors
- CFSE Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (fluorescent cell staining dye)
- CITE-seq cellular indexing of transcriptomes and epitopes by sequencing
- CLEC9a C-type lectin domain family 9 member A
- CT Computed tomography
- CTLA-4 Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein 4
- CXCL Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand
- DAMPs Damage-associated molecular patterns
- DCs Dendritic cells
- EGF Epidermal growth factor
- ELISA Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- EMT Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
- EOC Epithelial ovarian cancer
- ER Endoplasmic reticulum
- ETV6 ETS variant transcription factor 6
- FDA Food and Drug Administration
- FLT3L Fms-related tyrosine kinase 3 ligand
- FMT Fecal microbial transplant
- FRET Fluorescence resonance energy transfer
- GI Gastrointestinal

- GM-CSF Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
- HMGB1 High mobility group box 1
- HRD Homologous recombination deficiency
- ICB Immune checkpoint blockade
- ICIs Immune checkpoint inhibitors
- ID2 Inhibitor of DNA binding 2
- IDO Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase
- IFN Interferon
- IKK Inhibitor of nuclear factor-κB (IκB) kinase
- IL Interleukin
- IP Intraperitoneal
- IRF Interferon regulatory factor
- IV Intravenous
- LPS Lipopolysaccharide
- M1 Classically activated macrophage
- M2 Alternatively activated macrophage
- MAPK Mitogen-activated protein kinases
- MBC Mixed bone marrow chimera
- MC38 Murine colon adenocarcinoma cell line
- MDP monocyte/dendritic progenitor
- MDSCs Myeloid-derived suppressor cells
- MHC Major histocompatibility complex
- moDCs Monocyte-derived dendritic cells
- MRI Magnetic resonance imaging
- MyD88 Myeloid differentiation primary response protein 88
- NFIL3 Nuclear Factor, Interleukin 3 Regulated
- NF-κB Nuclear factor-kappa B
- NK cells Natural killer cells
- NOS Nitric oxide synthase
- OS Overall survival

- OVA Ovalbumin
- OvCa Ovarian Cancer
- PAMPs Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
- PAP Prostate acid phosphatase
- PARP Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors
- PBMCs Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
- PD-1 Programmed cell death protein 1
- pDCs Plasmacytoid dendritic cells
- PD-L1 Programmed death-ligand 1
- PFS Progression-free survival
- PGE2 Prostaglandin E2
- Poly IC Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
- PRR Pattern recognition receptor
- ROS Reactive oxygen species
- ScRNA-seq Single-cell RNA sequencing
- SEER Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program
- SNP Single nucleotide polymorphism
- STAT Signal transducer and activator of transcription
- TAMs Tumor-associated macrophages
- tdLN Tumor-draining lymph nodes
- TGF-β1 Transforming growth factor Beta 1
- Th1 T helper 1 cell
- TILs Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes
- TLR Toll-like receptor
- TME Tumor microenvironment
- TNF-α Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
- Treg Regulatory T cells
- VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor
- XBP1 X-box binding protein 1
- XCR1 X-C motif chemokine receptor 1

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Ovarian Cancer Epidemiology

Ovarian cancer (OvCa) is the deadliest gynecologic malignancy in the United States, with an estimated 19,880 new cases diagnosed and 12,810 deaths in 2022¹. Ovarian Cancer is classified into different subtypes, with epithelial cancer accounting for the majority (90%) of cases while the remaining (10%) consist of sex-cord stromal or germ cell tumors^{2,3}. Non-epithelial ovarian cancers are typically symptomatic and are found in young women at early stages. Consequently, these cancers have cure rates of 85% to 90% when treated with chemotherapy, usually at stage IA^{4,5}. In contrast, roughly 70% of women with epithelial ovarian cancer are diagnosed in advanced stages as there is no successful screening program for early discovery, and symptoms are difficult to detect⁶. Epithelial cancer survival rates are SEER stage-dependent with localized, regional, and distant stage cancer having a 93%, 75%, and 31% 5-year relative survival rate, respectively¹. Independent of stage, epithelial ovarian cancer has a survival rate of 49% and is the leading cause of death from gynecologic cancer in the United States⁷. Epithelial ovarian cancer has two major subtypes: non-mucinous (97%) and mucinous (3%). Mucinous tumors can be further divided by histology: serous (70%), endometroid (10%), clear cell (10%), and unspecified (5%)³.

There is no clear cause for ovarian cancer. However, there are several risk factors associated with the disease. The most prominent association is age, with the median age of diagnosis being 63, as a longer history of ovulatory cycles and cellular divisions creates a greater opportunity for malignant neoplasms. Supporting this notion, the use of oral contraceptives that inhibit ovulation is associated with less risk for ovarian cancer¹⁰. Regarding genetic risk, germline mutations in BCRA1 and BRCA2, which are involved in the repair of double-strand DNA breaks, have a lifetime risk of 35–60% and 12–25%, respectively⁸. Mutations in RAD51C, RAD51D, and PALB2, which are involved in DNA repair pathways, are implicated but have weaker correlations with disease⁸.

Additional risk factors for ovarian cancer include a history of endometriosis, obesity, and hormone replacement therapy⁹. Considering epithelial ovarian cancer is the most prevalent and has the worst outcomes, my dissertation is focused primarily on understanding and improving survival for this form of ovarian cancer.

1.2 Epithelial Ovarian Cancer Clinical Presentation

A significant contributing factor to ovarian cancer being diagnosed at advanced stages is a lack of apparent alarm symptoms¹¹. Epithelial ovarian cancer presents with vague and nonspecific gastrointestinal, urologic, or nonacute abdominal/pelvic symptoms such as bloating, early satiety, or discomfort¹². Because these symptoms either go unrecognized or do not manifest until advanced stages when outcomes are poor, ovarian cancer is referred to as the "silent killer¹³." Identification of an adnexal mass by pelvic examination or imaging is required for diagnosis. Further examination by computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis is needed to identify the full extent of peritoneal dissemination¹². Ultimately, there is a need to improve current diagnostic strategies to detect ovarian cancer. Due to the late detection of ovarian cancer in clinics because of subtle symptoms easily confused with other conditions, our mouse models are designed to replicate late-stage disease.

1.3 Current Treatment Strategies

The current standard for ovarian cancer disease management (stage II-IV) is cytoreduction, followed by chemotherapy with carboplatin-paclitaxel¹⁴. Carboplatin is a second-generation platinum agent that exerts cytotoxicity by induction of carboplatin-DNA cross-linkages, leading to DNA destruction during replication. Paclitaxel prevents mitosis by inhibiting depolymerization of microtubules by binding to the β -tubulin subunits. It has been proposed that therapeutic synergy is achieved when paclitaxel, which hinders the repair of DNA, enables the build-up of carboplatin-DNA linkages and contributes to the death of quickly dividing cancer cells¹⁵.

The dosage of carboplatin and paclitaxel is dependent on stage, with a typical treatment schedule of IV administration every three weeks for carboplatin and paclitaxel weekly in a dose-dense manner¹⁶. Paclitaxel is usually dosed at 175 mg/m² IV over 3 hours, while carboplatin is dosed at an area under the time vs. concentration curve (AUC) of 5-6 IV over 1 hour¹⁶. The combination of platinum-based therapy with paclitaxel was first established in 1993 and dramatically improved outcomes. Since then, this strategy has been refined over the years with incremental improvement. More recently, there have been developments in treatment strategies that incorporate intraperitoneal (IP) delivery over intravenous (IV). It has become established that IP chemotherapy is associated with significantly improved overall survival of 81% v 71% (3-year overall survival of Stage III cytoreduced patients), compared with IV chemotherapy¹⁷.

Despite optimization of chemotherapy dosage and treatment strategies, epithelial ovarian cancers 5-year survival rate has remained around 49% for decades¹⁸. This is partly due to chemotherapeutic strategies failing to manage late-stage disease. Recently, poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors have been included in the treatment plans for certain patients either concurrently or as maintenance therapy with chemo. This approach takes advantage of cancer cell dependency on PARP for DNA repair. Supporting this idea, PARP inhibitors show particular benefit in patients with BRCA mutations and homologous recombination deficiency (HRD)^{19, 20}. Three PARP inhibitors olaparib, niraparib, and rucaparib have received regulatory approval for ovarian cancer treatment as maintenance therapy. These inhibitors significantly improve PFS; however, their impact on overall survival remains unclear²¹. Ongoing research focuses on identifying optimal patient selection criteria, overcoming resistance mechanisms, and exploring combination therapies to enhance efficacy.

Overall, current treatment approaches for ovarian carcinoma have become increasingly complex, aiming to account for the spatial and temporal heterogeneity of the disease, which consists of multiple subtypes. The molecular diversity within these subtypes leads to varying resistance levels to standard platinum-based chemotherapy. Adding to the complexity, spatial heterogeneity within a single patient can drive progressive evolutionary divergence, accompanied by changes in clonal evolution, the tumor microenvironment (TME), immune tolerance, resistance mechanisms, and therapeutic sensitivity. Ongoing trials shown in Table 1 explore new combination strategies, such as PARP inhibitors with immune checkpoint inhibitors, with great anticipation. However, the optimal sequencing of novel therapies in ovarian cancer is yet to be determined.

1.4 Ascites

The hallmark of ovarian cancer biology is the accumulation of fluid and cells in the abdomen, known as ascites, which is comprised of tumor cells, blood cells, lymphocytes, mesothelial, fibroblasts, endothelial cells²². Ascites also includes acellular factors such as cytokines, metabolites, and growth factors. These cellular and acellular factors facilitate tumor cell expansion and immune evasion, enabling phenotypic changes to the ovarian TME that drive poor survival outcomes.

Ascites volume has been found to correspond with patient outcome as median survival of patients with <1800 mL ascites is 58 months while patients with >1800 mL of ascites is 28.6 months²³. Fluid volume also correlates with the number of metastatic sites. Specifically, it has been observed that an average ascetic fluid volume of 3800ml corresponds with more than three metastatic sites²³. Interestingly, currents of ascitic fluid can carry tumor cells through the peritoneum to distal sites and promote cell-cell adhesion via mechanical pressure²⁴. In addition to the physical forces ascites exerts on the TME, cytokines and growth factors influence outcomes. Pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 are the two most abundant cytokines in ascitic fluid and are associated with worse outcomes and poor prognostic factors^{22, 25}. These cytokines play a prominent role in driving a transition from acute to chronic inflammation by acting on innate and adaptive immunity. IL-6 in an acute setting promotes CD8 T cell trafficking; however, when chronically released, IL-6 interferes with the maturation of DCs necessary for

priming CD8 T cells, thus promoting immune suppression²⁶⁻²⁸. Furthermore, tumor-derived IL-8 promotes trafficking of neutrophils and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), which dampen anti-tumor responses²⁹. Specifically, these MDSCs are found to secrete IL-10, which is associated with shorter progression-free survival in ovarian cancer patients³⁰. Additionally, regulatory B cells that produce IL-10 and are induced by IL-6 are enriched in ovarian cancer ascites and suppress CD8+ T cell responses³¹. IL-10 inhibits T cell proliferation, hinders dendritic cell maturation, and co-stimulatory molecule expression in the TME. Together with cytokines, growth factors VEGF and EGF are present in ascites and promote angiogenesis, leading to tumor growth and metastasis^{32, 33}. Specifically, VEGF levels correlate with ascites development, volume of ascites, and poor survival rates³⁴⁻³⁶.

Ultimately, ascites plays a unique role in the ovarian TME, driving poor survival outcomes and an immunosuppressive environment. Therefore, ascites is a hurdle to developing successful therapies against ovarian cancer. Our epithelial ovarian cancer cell lines specifically drive ascites accumulation through overexpression of VEGF, which allows us to study the ovarian TME more accurately while considering the impact of ascites.



Figure 1.1. Overview of Dendritic cell functional response to cancer

Dendritic cells (DCs) are specialized myeloid-derived cells that capture endogenous or exogenous antigens, process them, and present them to T lymphocytes. A simplified overview of how dendritic cells are understood to respond to cancer is as follows: (1) DCs are recruited to the TME via local production of chemokines (CCL4, CCL5, CCL20), or resident DCs are expanded via growth factors (FLT3L and GMCSF). (2) DCs proceed to capture exogenous cancer antigen from dead or dying cancer cells in the TME (3) Cytokines, DAMPs, and PAMPs from local immune cells, cancer cells, and bacteria promote the maturation of DCs to express the chemokine (CCR7) and co-stimulatory receptors (CD80, CD86, CD40) for T cell interaction. (4) Now matured, DCs follow a chemokine gradient (CCL19 and CCL21) to the tumor-draining lymph node. (5) DCs are further recruited to T-cell-rich zones within the lymph node where antigen-presentation via MHCI or MHCII and co-stimulation with naïve CD4 or CD8 T cells occurs. (6) These now antigen-experienced effector T cells are recruited to the TME via chemotactic gradients (CXCL9, CXCL10) produced from tumor-infiltrating DCs. (7) Finally, DCs sustain intratumoral T-effector response by local re-priming. Overall, DCs orchestrate T cell response to tumors by bringing them antigen, recruiting them to the TME, and sustaining them while they are there.

1.5 Heterogeneity and immune landscape of ovarian cancer

The immune cell composition within the ovarian TME includes innate immune cells such as dendritic cells, neutrophils, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, natural killer cells, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), and adaptive immune cells like B and T cells. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in ovarian carcinomas serve as an independent prognostic factor, with TILpositive tumors showing significantly better progression-free survival and overall survival compared to TIL-negative ones³⁷. In OvCa, the TME impairs DC function, weakening T cellmediated antitumor immunity^{38, 39}. TAMs exhibit immunomodulatory behavior influenced by signals from the microenvironment. Interferon-y (IFNy) promotes an M1 phenotype with tumorkilling properties, while IL-13 and IL-4 drive an M2 phenotype that secretes immunosuppressive cytokines⁴⁰. M2 TAMs increase with disease progression and correlate with worse OvCa prognosis⁴¹. Recent studies have leveraged single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) and bulk RNA-seg to identify gene signatures predictive of ovarian cancer outcomes and treatment responses. One study identified four ovarian cancer genes (SLAMF7, GNAS, TBX2-AS1, LYPD6) associated with M2 tumor-associated macrophages that predict patient prognosis⁴². Several papers reported prognostic signatures derived from tumor cells and the tumor microenvironment, including a set of EMT-associated genes (NOTCH1, SNAI2, TGFBR1, and WNT11) that can be used to predict poor outcomes in OvCa⁴³. Another study identified five signature genes (IGFBP7, JCHAIN, CCDC80, VSIG4, and MS4A1) that showed enrichment in cellular immunity and immune cell interaction pathways and had elevated expression of immune checkpoint molecules, suggesting they may benefit more from immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy⁴⁴. The development of predictive gene signatures for ovarian cancer is promising; however, different studies often find unique predictive signatures, speaking to the extent of tumor heterogeneity.

The progression of ovarian carcinomas is linked to both temporal and spatial heterogeneity in the TME. In early-stage OvCa, the microenvironment tends to be immunologically cold, with fewer

CD8+, CD4+, Tregs, and plasma cells in the epithelial compartment compared to advanced stages^{45, 46}. Immune cell infiltration changes over time across different disease stages and varies spatially between distinct lesions and within tumors. These immune infiltrates may impose selective pressure over time, shaping the patterns of malignant spread and clonal diversity in OvCa⁴⁷. One contributing factor is the peritoneal cavity, lacking physical barriers, which allows for the early spread of ovarian cancer to distant sites. Consequently, cancer and immune cells interact across different microenvironments, with disease spread in remote peritoneal locations⁴⁷. Immune responses align with disease locations and mutations, influencing immune recognition and evasion. For instance, primary tumors tend to have a more dysfunctional T-cell response relative to metastatic tumors⁴⁸.

1.6 DCs are vulnerable to the ovarian TME

Dendritic cells are crucial in regulating immune responses against cancer. They are uniquely positioned in the tumor microenvironment to control host immunity. However, ovarian cancer can manipulate DCs to become immunosuppressive, hindering anti-tumor responses. For instance, depletion of CD11c+ DCs early in mice accelerates ovarian tumor expansion, but DC depletion at advanced stages significantly delays aggressive malignant progression³⁹. Notably, the authors found tumor cell-derived PGE2 and TGF-β1 promoted DC immunosuppressive function and elevated PD-L1 expression that could be reduced with neutralizing anti-PGE2 or anti–TGF-β1³⁹. Similarly, it has been observed that tumor-infiltrated DCs gradually adopt an immunosuppressive phenotype as the tumor progresses over time, represented by increased PD-1 expression⁴⁹. These studies suggest that DCs transition from being anti- to pro-tumorigenic throughout ovarian cancer progression. It has been observed that factors such as ER stress on DCs contribute to their immunosuppressive behavior and dysfunction. One prime example of this is deleting or silencing an ER stress sensor XBP1 in tumor-associated dendritic cells, which restores their immunostimulatory capacity and extends survival⁵⁰. These suppressed DCs contribute to tumor

immune evasion through reduced cytokine production and induction of regulatory T cells through IL-10 secretion⁵¹.

This suppressive phenotype can be attributed to impairment of DC maturation, leading to the build-up of immature DCs in ovarian cancer patients. Factors interrupting DC maturation include immune-modulating molecules in the TME like IL-6, IL-10, and VEGF, tumor-derived soluble mediators and exosomes, activation of the oncogene STAT3 in DCs, ER stress response, and abnormal intracellular lipid accumulation^{50, 52}. These factors reduce the expression of co-stimulatory molecules, secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, DC lymph node chemotaxis, DC differentiation, and lifespan while inducing tolerogenic phenotypes in DCs. Immature tolerogenic DCs suppress anti-tumor immunity by producing fewer pro-inflammatory cytokines and inducing immune suppressive cytokines such as IL-10. They also express enzymes like nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase (IDO) that negatively regulate T cell functions, suppress tumor-infiltrated lymphocyte proliferation, promote Treg differentiation, induce T cell anergy, and support tumor angiogenesis and metastasis. Increased frequencies of IDO+ DCs in tumor-draining lymph nodes have been observed in epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) patients⁵³.

Despite these challenges, DC-based vaccines were tested as a potential therapeutic approach for ovarian cancer, with ongoing research focusing on optimizing their efficacy. In clinical trials, the response rates to DC vaccination in OvCa are poor, with an average response rate of only 10-15%⁵⁴. Most clinical trials have utilized monocyte-derived DCs (moDCs) as a vaccination agent due to their superior ability to uptake antigen relative to cDCs, however this may not be the optimal approach, as moDCs have high plasticity and are vulnerable to becoming immunosuppressive within the tumor microenvironment. Several factors derived from tumors and immune cells, such as prostaglandin E2, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and IL-6, can impair the development, survival, and function of moDCs, often resulting in moDCs expressing PD-L1 and reduced co-stimulatory markers. Understanding how to shield DCs from becoming

immunosuppressive in the OvCa tumor microenvironment is crucial for maintaining anti-tumor responses and developing effective immunotherapies. Additionally, establishing what types of DCs are ideal for OvCa cancer therapy remains an ongoing question.

In conclusion, immunosuppressive signals in the ovarian cancer microenvironment cause DCs to become dysfunctional. Infusing functional DCs into the body could bypass the tumor microenvironment and directly interact with T cells in the lymph nodes, thereby compensating for the dysfunctional state of endogenous DCs. This approach forms the basis for using DC vaccines to restore the ability to present tumor antigens and elicit anti-tumor responses. However, without understanding or preventing the causes of DC dysfunction, transferred DCs are likely to adopt the suppressive behavior of endogenous DCs, highlighting a significant gap in current knowledge.

1.7 Types of DCs in the ovarian TME

cDC1s

Conventional type 1 dendritic cells (cDC1s) are a specialized subset of dendritic cells characterized by surface markers CD8a, CD103, XCR1, and CLEC9a in addition to high expression of transcription factors IRF8 and BATF3 in mice. cDC1s play a crucial role in cancer immunity by efficiently cross-presenting tumor antigens via MHC-I to CD8+ T cells, initiating potent cytotoxic T cell responses. The rejection of certain tumors, such as B16-OVA melanoma and fibrosarcoma, is lost without MHC-I expression on cDC1s⁵⁵. Responses to immune checkpoint blockades (ICB) including anti-4-1BB (CD137), anti-PD-1, and anti-CTLA4, depend on cDC1s^{56, 57}. Additionally, depletion of cDC1s prior to ICB treatment abolishes anti-tumor efficacy, while depletion after treatment onset has a moderate effect in several tumor models⁵⁸. As a subset of DCs, cDC1s in the ovarian TME are vulnerable to becoming immunosuppressive. Consequently, cDC1s are often reduced in frequency and function in OvCa patients, especially after chemotherapy^{38, 59}. The presence of cDC1s in tumors is associated with better patient survival and response to immunotherapy⁶⁰. However, there are currently no clinical trials using

cDC1s as a vaccine against ovarian cancer, despite evidence that cDC1 vaccination strategies have shown efficacy in several mouse models of melanoma^{61, 62}. This is because manufacturing high numbers of cDC1s is complex, and optimization is needed to produce high numbers of cDC1s from patient samples. Alternatively, FLT3L, a growth factor essential for cDC1 development, has demonstrated safety and dose-dependent expansion of cDCs in patients⁶³. Furthermore, the administration of Flt3L in cancer patients leads to significant increases in circulating DCs and may enhance DC tumor infiltration^{64, 65}. Thus, it serves as a potential avenue for expanding cDC1s *in vivo*. It is currently unclear if FLT3L will yield therapeutic efficacy against ovarian cancer. There is only one ovarian cancer trial (Phase I) examining the safety of FLT3L in combination with a CD40 antibody, pembrolizumab, or chemotherapy (KEYNOTE-A23). Strategies to boost cDC1 numbers appear limited. However new findings that NK cells recruit cDC1s to tumors via release of chemoattractant CCL5 and XCL1 introduce new therapeutic apportunities⁶⁶. Overall, attraction and preservation of cDC1s in the TME is a viable therapeutic target that needs further investigation in ovarian cancer.

cDC2s

Conventional dendritic cells type 2 (cDC2s) play a developing role in orchestrating immune responses, particularly in tumor immunity. cDC2s are characterized by high IRF4 expression and require additional transcription factors such as RELB, ZEB2, KLF4, and NOTCH2⁶⁷. The subset's transcriptional programs are context-dependent and heterogeneous, making defining a uniform panel of markers challenging. For example, respiratory viruses can induce the emergence of 'inflammatory cDC2s', which express the Fc receptor CD64, shared with monocyte-derived cells, and IRF8, expressed by cDC1s⁶⁸. For the most part, cDC2s can be identified by surface markers like BDCA-1 (CD1c), SIRPα (CD172a), CLEC10A (CD301b or MGL), CD11b, CD11c, CD5, and MHC-II with some tissue type variability⁶⁹. Although these markers are considered cDC2-specific,

they often overlap with other myeloid cells, making it difficult to attribute specific functions to cDC2s.

In cancer, the role of cDC2s is less clear due to their heterogeneity and functional diversity. However, they are largely understood to drive CD4 T cell responses. Tumor-infiltrating cDC2s drive CD4 T cell responses by capturing antigens and migrating to tumor-draining lymph nodes (tdLN) to prime naïve CD4+ T-cells⁷⁰. Studies have shown that a higher cDC2:Treg ratio is predictive of CD4+ T-cell infiltration in the tumor microenvironment (TME), with higher ratios associated with robust CD4+ T-cell infiltration⁷⁰. Recent findings suggest that cDC1s are also involved in early CD4+ T-cell priming, challenging the conventional understanding of their exclusive role in CD8+ T-cell activation⁵⁵. Future research should focus on the interplay between cDC1 and cDC2 subsets and their regulation of T-cell infiltration and treatment response in cancer.

Experimental mouse models have shown that cDC2s can be pro-tumorigenic. CD11b+ dendritic cells (DCs) infiltrating B16 melanoma exhibited reduced capacities for antigen uptake, presentation, and migration to tumor-draining lymph nodes compared to normal skin DCs⁷¹. Additionally, cDC2s promoted the growth of MC38 tumor cells and inhibited Th1 and TNF- α – producing cell infiltration into the tumor, suggesting that cDC2s can attenuate antitumor immunity by limiting antitumor CD4+ effector T cell responses⁷². In humans, cDC2s co-expressing CD1c and CD14 are enriched in individuals with advanced cancer⁶⁹. cDC2s, along with Tregs and exhausted T cells, were found in higher numbers in lung cancer tissue compared to normal lung tissue, implying that human cDC2s may induce immunosuppression and correlate with poor prognosis⁶⁹.

Ultimately, cDC2s can alter the tumor immune landscape through T cells to be tumor-protective or tumor-repressive. However, it is unclear what dictates this response across various cancers.

The answer to this question lies in understanding cDC2 heterogeneity. The cDC2 compartment needs to be deconvoluted to organize multiple sub-populations and discern different potential functionalities in different cancer contexts.

pDCs

Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) are specialized immune cells that play a crucial role in antiviral immunity through their rapid and massive production of type I interferons (IFNs) in response to viral nucleic acids. pDCs detect pathogens primarily through Toll-like receptors 7 and 9, initiating innate immune responses and linking them to adaptive immunity⁷³. In mice, plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) express a distinct combination of markers, including SIGLEC-H, PDCA1, CD11c, B220, and Ly6C/G^{74, 75}. They also express Ly49Q in the bone marrow, which helps define their developmental stages and precursor subsets⁷⁴.

While pDCs can potentially activate anti-tumor responses through type I interferon production, tumor-associated pDCs often exhibit immunosuppressive functions^{51, 76}. pDCs infiltrating ovarian tumors are associated with poor prognosis and early relapse⁵¹. Furthermore, it is observed they contribute to immune tolerance by inducing regulatory T cells, particularly ICOS+ Foxp3+ Tregs, which suppress effector T cell functions⁷⁷. Tumor-associated pDCs show reduced responsiveness to TLR stimulation and decreased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, less IFN- α , TNF- α , IL-6, macrophage inflammatory protein-1 β , and RANTES^{51, 76}. Additionally, pDCs induce immunosuppressive CD8+ regulatory T cells and promote angiogenesis through TNF- α and IL-8 production⁷⁸. Overall, pDCs tend to be pro-tumorigenic in the ovarian TME, and are a potential target for therapeutic inhibition.

moDCs

Monocyte-derived dendritic cells (MoDCs) originate from monocytes in peripheral blood. MoDCs are commonly induced by GM-CSF and IL-4, in *in vitro* bone marrow cultures. They are

distinguished from other cell types by CD11c, CD1a, CD14, CD83, CD80, CD86, and CD40, like conventional DCs⁷⁹. Consequently, there is difficulty distinguishing them from cDC2s by surface markers alone. Single-cell RNA sequencing has revealed heterogeneity within MoDCs, identifying subtypes resembling cDC2s but with distinct transcriptional features⁸⁰. Unlike cDCs, MoDCs require IRF4 but not BATF3 for differentiation and cross-priming capacity⁸¹.

In the context of cancer, MoDCs can present antigens and activate CD8+ T cells, potentially enhancing anti-tumor responses in the short-term⁸². However, MoDCs from late-stage cancer patients often exhibit dysfunctional phenotypes and present less antigen⁸³. For example, these cells are found to preferentially induce regulatory T cells in breast cancer patients, contributing to immune evasion⁸⁴. Like other DC subsets, the tumor microenvironment can polarize MoDCs into an immunosuppressive state where they express less costimulatory molecules, reduced antigen presentation, and abnormal motility^{85, 86}. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells from ovarian cancer patients have a lower capacity to stimulate lymphocyte proliferation compared to healthy controls as measured by allogeneic mixed leukocyte reaction⁸⁷. Additionally, exposing Mo-DCs to peritoneal fluid from ovarian cancer patients can promote Treg differentiation from naive CD4+ lymphocytes⁸⁸, suggesting the ovarian TME contributes to the polarization of MoDCs to become immunosuppressive.

The plasticity of MoDCs suggests potential for therapeutic manipulation. Studies have demonstrated that MoDCs can also be activated through Toll-like receptors to produce proinflammatory cytokines and stimulate T-cell responses⁸⁹. Potentially serving as a strategy to reverse polarization in the TME. MoDCs remain a crucial target for cancer immunotherapy strategies, with ongoing research exploring ways to enhance their immunostimulatory functions and overcome tumor-induced suppression.

pDC IFNα, IFNβ	Surface Markers CD11c, MHC-II, Siglec-H, B220, CD172a, CXCR3, CCR2, CCR9	Transcription factors E2-2, IRF8, RUNX2, SPIB, IKAROS, MTG16	Roles in Ovarian Cancer Induce Regulatory T cell responses, release Type I interferons
CDC1 CD8	Surface Markers CD11c, MHC-II, XCR1, CD24, CD103, CLEC9A, FLT3, CD8a, TLR3	Transcription factors IRF8, ID2, BATF3, PU.1, NFIL3, BCL6	Roles in Ovarian Cancer Cross-presentation, support CD8 T cell responses
cDC2 CD4	CD11c, MHC-II, CD11b, CD172a, FLT3	Transcription factors IRF4, KLF4, ZEB2, NOTCH2, RBPJ, Tbet, RORyt	Roles in Ovarian Cancer Control CD4 T cell responses
cDC2 CD4	Surface Markers CD11c, MHC-II, CD11b, CD172a, FLT3 Surface Markers CD11c, MHC-II, CD11b, Ly6C, CD64, CD206, CD14, CCR2	Transcription factors IRF4, KLF4, ZEB2, NOTCH2, RBPJ, Tbet, RORγt Transcription factors KLF4, ETV3, ETV6, RUNX-CBFβ	Roles in Ovarian Cancer Control CD4 T cell responses Roles in Ovarian Cancer Activate T cells but are often dysfunctional

Figure 1.2. Characterization of Ovarian Cancer DCs

Commonly expressed surface markers and transcription factors used to identify subsets of dendritic cells that are present in the ovarian tumor microenvironment. General roles of these populations are also described as the field currently understands them.

1.8 The role of T cells in Ovarian cancer

T lymphocytes are essential for immune surveillance and adaptive immunity, efficiently patrolling the body to detect and respond to infections and cancer. The presence of CD8 T cells across ovarian cancer tissues predicts ovarian cancer survival outcomes. Intratumoral CD3+ and CD8+ T cells correlate with better progression-free and overall survival rates in advanced epithelial ovarian carcinoma³⁷. Additionally, intraepithelial CD8+ T cells are an independent prognostic factor, particularly in serous ovarian cancer, and are associated with BRCA1 loss⁹⁰. This correlation is not limited to solid tumors. High densities of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ effector memory T cells in ascites are associated with improved overall survival in OvCa patients⁹¹. Mechanistically, evidence suggests that CD8 T cells can induce complete regression of advanced ovarian cancers through an IL-2/IL-15-dependent mechanism⁹², albeit in the context of an OT-1 model. Additionally, engineered CD8+ T cells targeting tumor antigens like mesothelin can effectively kill ovarian cancer cells and prolong survival in preclinical models⁹³. Like DCs, the tumor microenvironment can impair CD8+ T cell function and induce regulatory CD8+ T cells, potentially limiting antitumor immunity⁹⁴.

Regarding CD4 T cells, some studies suggest they can enhance anti-tumor responses by recruiting and activating dendritic cells that prime CD8+ T cells⁹⁵, specifically by secreting high levels of CCL5 to recruit DCs and licensing them via CD40. Others indicate that specific CD4+ subsets, particularly CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ Tregs, which correlate with poor outcomes, may suppress anti-tumor immune responses⁹⁶. The ratio of CD8+ to CD4+ T cells, rather than absolute numbers, appears to better predict patient survival than CD8 numbers alone⁹⁶. On the other hand, adoptive transfer of tumor-reactive CD4+ T cells has shown promise in a pilot study of four patients, potentially by modulating endogenous cytokine levels and CD8+ T cell populations⁹⁷. Overall, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes' composition and functional properties, including various T cell subsets, significantly impact ovarian cancer outcomes^{98, 99}. Consequentially, a significant

effort has been made to boost their presence and function in the TME, which will be covered in the next section.

1.9 The status of checkpoint therapy as an Ovarian cancer treatment

Immune checkpoints are surface receptors on immune cells that control the activation or suppression of the immune response. Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) are usually antibodies or small molecule inhibitors that enhance antitumor immunity by blocking the cell surface receptors of T lymphocytes, which play a vital role in the treatment of various cancers. Several immune checkpoints are expressed on OvCa infiltrating T cells, including PD-1, CTLA-4, TIM-3, LAG-3, and other co-inhibitory receptors. However, only checkpoint blockade therapies targeting PD-1/PD-L1 and CTLA-4 have been investigated for treating ovarian cancer in clinical trials^{100,} ¹⁰¹. There is abundant data to suggest that targeting PD-L1 should be an effective therapeutic strategy. For example, OvCa patients with high PD-L1 expression have significantly lower 5-year survival rates and are more likely to have ascites compared to those with low PD-L1 expression¹⁰². There is also an inverse correlation between the number of intra-tumoral CD8+ T cells and PD-L1 expression¹⁰³. Furthermore, preclinical studies demonstrated increased survival and T-cell infiltration in ovarian cancer mouse models treated with anti-PD-L1 antibodies. A study by Mony et al. showed that anti-PD-L1 treatment increased T cell infiltration and survival in MUC1 humanized mice bearing 2F8 ovarian tumors¹⁰⁴. Additionally, Grabosch et al. found that cisplatin treatment enhanced tumor immunogenicity and T-cell responses when combined with anti-PD-L1 therapy¹⁰⁵. These findings suggest that anti-PD-L1 therapies could restore the anti-tumoral function of T cells in OvCa. However, A meta-analysis reported a 9% overall response rate for single PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors, only increasing to 36% when combined with chemotherapy in OvCa patients¹⁰⁶. Even in the KEYNOTE-028 trial, pembrolizumab demonstrated an objective response rate of only 11.5% in PD-L1-positive advanced ovarian cancer patients¹⁰⁷. The clinical efficacy of anti-PD-L1 in ovarian cancer has been modest compared to other malignancies. Melanoma is a

prime example, where the response rate ranges from 40-60%¹⁰⁸. Ovarian cancer remains one of the few cancers in which no FDA-approved immune therapies exist to improve the standard of care. The resistance mechanisms to these therapies are not fully understood but may be due to a complex immunosuppressive environment in OvCa garnered by ascites and proximity to the gut. Ongoing research focuses on refining biomarkers and developing combination strategies to enhance the efficacy of PD-1/PD-L1 blockade in ovarian cancer.

1.10 The Influence of Antibiotics on Ovarian Cancer

The microbiome is recognized as a significant factor in determining OvCa outcomes. Specific bacterial signatures have been identified in ovarian cancers, suggesting a unique oncobiome relative to healthy tissues¹⁰⁹. These studies imply that targeting the microbiome with antibiotics may have therapeutic impact. Retrospective clinical analysis of patients with ovarian cancer indicates antibiotic use during chemotherapy is associated with poor overall survival¹¹⁰. Supporting this observation, treatment of ovarian cancer models with a broad-spectrum antibiotic cocktail (vancomycin, neomycin sulfate, metronidazole, ampicillin) changed the gut microbiome and increased tumor growth and development of cisplatin resistance¹¹¹, supporting that a healthy microbial diversity is necessary for effective chemotherapy. Although few OvCa patients have been treated with checkpoint therapies, a retrospective cohort study of 101 women with recurrent gynecologic cancers (including 26 patients with OvCa) found antibiotic treatment prior to immunotherapy was associated with a significantly lower response rate, PFS, and OS¹¹². These studies indicate that changes to the microbiome via antibiotics may have influenced ovarian cancer immunotherapy clinical trial outcomes, potentially by shifting the microbiome diversity and, in turn, the baseline level of pattern recognition receptor (PRR) stimulus the microbiome provides to the immune system. In addition, FMT studies in mouse models of OvCa reveal that antibioticinduced disruption of the gut microbiome promotes tumor growth, enhances cisplatin resistance, and increases cancer stem cell populations¹¹¹. Overall, modulating the microbiome with antibiotics

in OvCa patients is detrimental to outcomes. Despite numerous studies pointing to a relationship between the microbiome and ovarian cancer, the mechanisms underlying this relationship have not yet been fully elucidated.

1.11 The influence of Microbiome on checkpoint therapy

Microbiota play a crucial role in programming immune responses from birth, fine-tuning the balance between inflammation, infection, and tolerance of antigens¹¹³. Recent studies have highlighted gut microbiota's significant influence on immunotherapy's efficacy in cancer treatment. One prime example is the negative association of antibiotics (within 30 days of ICIs) with clinical activity (progression-free and overall survival) of immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with advanced renal cell and non-small-cell lung cancer¹¹⁴. Moreover, higher gut microbiome diversity and abundance of specific bacteria, such as Akkermansia muciniphila and Bifidobacterium, in Melanoma patients are associated with more significant response to anti-PD-1 therapy¹¹⁵⁻¹¹⁷. Additionally, the efficacy of CTLA-4 blockade depends on the composition of the gut microbiota, specifically the presence of certain Bacteroides species such as B. fragilis and B. thetaiotaomicron, which promote anti-tumor immune responses against melanoma¹¹⁸. The gut microbiome's influence is often clearly presented in the results of fecal microbial transplant (FMT) experiments and clinical trials. Germ-free mice receiving FMT from PD-1 blockade-responsive patients restores anti-tumor immunity against melanoma models¹¹⁵. Conversely, germ-free mice treated by FMT from non-responsive patients reduce sensitivity to PD-1 blockade¹¹⁵. Clinically, a melanoma trial evaluating FMT and pembrolizumab in melanoma patients primarily resistant to PD-1 inhibitors showed clinical benefit in 6 of 15 patients¹¹⁹. Patients who responded to the combination therapy showed an increased abundance of microbes associated with response to anti-PD-1 therapy, increased activation of CD8+ T cells, and decreased frequency of myeloid cells expressing IL-8¹¹⁹. The increased responsiveness to checkpoint therapy post-FMT is thought to be due to the correction of dysbiosis, an imbalance in the gut microbiota.

Tuning of microbial populations may improve treatment efficacy. One strategy to restore balance is using pre or probiotics to support or add live micro-organisms to the body. A clear example of the potential of probiotics was recently demonstrated in this first prospective study, where live bacterial *C. butyricum* (CBM588) was combined with dual anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 therapy to treat advanced kidney cancer patients. The response rate and median progression-free survival improved among patients receiving dual checkpoint inhibition and probiotic vs. immunotherapy alone, revealing that probiotics can boost the efficacy of immunotherapy against cancer¹²⁰. Additionally, enriching beneficial bacteria with pre-biotics like inulin and mucin can improve antitumor immunity and tumor growth inhibition in mouse models of colon cancer and melanoma¹²¹. Although this finding was outside the context of checkpoint therapy, increases in tumor-infiltrating CD4 and CD8 T cells in the pre-biotic fed groups suggest immunotherapy should be examined in a future study. Additionally, gut microbiota composition is being explored as a biomarker for predicting immunotherapy response in various cancer types. Specifically, gut bacteria capable of short-chain fatty acid production, including *Eubacterium, Lactobacillus*, and *Streptococcus*, were positively associated with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 response across different GI cancer types¹²².

The immunological mechanisms by which gut microbiota influence cancer therapies are poorly understood. Some studies suggest a CD4+ T-cell-mediated mechanism, where *Akkermansia muciniphila* promotes IL-12 release increasing the recruitment of CCR9⁺CXCR3⁺CD4⁺ T lymphocytes into mouse tumors¹¹⁵. While other studies highlight a CD8+ T-cell-mediated mechanism, as certain gut microbes like *Bifidobacterium* may increase CD8+ T cells in tumors¹²³. Further studies suggest that cells upstream of T cells coordinate an immunological response. For example, feeding mice *Bifidobacterium* has been observed to restore defective processing and presentation of tumor antigens by DCs, re-establish infiltration of melanomas by T cells, and reduce malignant growth¹²³. It was speculated that *Bifidobacterium*-derived signals modulate the activation of DCs in steady state. However, it was unclear what components of the bacteria drove

these changes. The next section will discuss specific bacterial components, their analogous pattern recognition receptors, and their potential role in ovarian cancer.

1.12 Toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5) Background

The innate immune system defends against infections by recognizing microbial pathogens through PRRs, which detect pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Among these PRRs, Toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5) plays a key role by specifically recognizing flagellin, the structural protein of bacterial flagella, and triggering immune responses. Consequently, TLR5 is crucial in mediating interactions between the gut microbiome and host immune responses. Furthermore, TLR5 is constitutively expressed by immune cells, such as neutrophils, monocytes, and dendritic cells, as well as respiratory and intestinal epithelial cells¹²⁴. TLR5, for instance, detects the bacterium Legionella pneumophila in the airway epithelium, triggering IL-8 release to clear the pathogen¹²⁵. The effective clearance of *L. pneumophila* from the airways relies on Flagellin-TLR5-MyD88-dependent signaling in respiratory epithelial cells. In fact, a common stop codon polymorphism in the TLR5 gene (TLR5392STOP or R392X) is associated with increased susceptibility to Legionnaires' disease and is expressed in roughly 7% of the population^{125, 126}. The *TLR5*^{R392X} polymorphism has also been linked to susceptibility to bronchopulmonary dysplasia in preterm infants¹²⁷ and may protect against Crohn's disease in Jewish populations by reducing adaptive immune responses to flagellin¹²⁸. There are 12 additional known missense SNPs in the TLR5 gene. However, it is unknown if they have clinical relevance¹²⁹.

The TLR5 signaling pathway is activated when bacterial flagellin binds to the extracellular domain of TLR5, forming a 2:2 tail-to-tail signaling complex¹³⁰. This interaction involves a leucine-rich sequence in TLR5¹³¹ and recruitment of the adaptor protein MyD88 to form a complex with IRAK4¹³². This leads to activation of the MAPK pathway and IKK kinases which phosphorylates NF- κ B inhibitory protein I κ B α causing NF- κ B translocation into the nucleus to induce proinflammatory gene expression^{133, 134}. TLR5 signaling can lead to transcriptional activation of at least 500 genes¹³⁵ which are involved in various physiological processes, including intestinal epithelial cell responses to commensal bacteria¹³² and tumor growth modulation¹³⁶. Recently, the TLR5 pathway has emerged as a potential therapeutic target for various conditions, including cancer and autoimmune diseases¹³⁷. The impact of TLR5 activation and blockade will be explored in the next section.

1.13 TLR5 agonism and antagonism

The most thoroughly studied TLR5 agonist is entolimod (CBLB502), a recombinant flagellin derivative developed by Cleveland Biolabs designed as a specific agonist of TLR5. The most notable finding regarding entolimod is its ability to protect mice and rhesus monkeys from lethal total-body irradiation by reducing apoptosis in radiosensitive tissues¹³⁸. Additionally, in a murine model of acute ischemic renal failure, entolimod protected against renal dysfunction and inflammation, including decreased leukocyte infiltration, proinflammatory cytokine production, and tubular injury¹³⁹. Furthermore, it reduces the toxicity of chemotherapy drugs like 5-fluorouracil via IL-6 induction while maintaining their antitumor efficacy¹⁴⁰. Interestingly, on top of entolimod's immunoprotective and toxicity-negating properties, it has been shown to have anticancer effects, particularly in the context of liver cancers. In a preclinical study, entolimod was observed to activate NF-kB, AP-1, and STAT3 pathways in hepatocytes, triggering a cascade of immune responses involving NK cells, dendritic cells, and CD8+ T cells¹⁴¹. Clinically, a phase I trial demonstrated entolimod's safety in patients with advanced cancers at a dosage of 30 ug/day¹⁴². Although entolimod induced the secretion of IL-6, IL-8, and IL-10, no tumor responses were observed. A randomized phase 2 study (NCT02715882) involving entolimod in colorectal cancer patients began in Russia in 2016, but the trial's status is unclear¹⁴³. Currently, no active clinical studies are investigating entolimod as an anticancer agent. TLR5 agonism has seen the most promise as a vaccine adjuvant. VAX125, flagellin fused to an influenza HA1 antigen, was found to be safe and induced a greater than 10-fold increase in viral antibody levels and nearly complete

seroprotection in subjects over 65 years old¹⁴⁴. Additionally as a vaccine adjuvant, entolimod significantly increased antibody titers against diphtheria and tetanus compared to the tetanusdiphtheria vaccine alone¹⁴⁵. These findings suggest that TLR5 agonists are encouraging vaccine adjuvants warranting further investigation in various disease models.

Currently, no clinical trials investigate TLR5 antagonists, so most research is still focused on developing TLR5 inhibitors. Pyrimidine triazole thioether derivatives, such as TH1020, have shown potential as TLR5 antagonists by disrupting the TLR5-flagellin interaction¹⁴⁶. However, their bioavailability when administered *in vivo* remains unclear. Alternatively, the only other strategy to inhibit TLR5 signaling is by anti-TLR5 antibody blockade. Most findings related to TLR5 inhibition involve ablating TLR5 in genetic KO models or in the context of TLR5 polymorphisms that cause changes to the receptor structure, such as the *TLR5^{R392X}* SNP. The implication of these studies and their relationship to ovarian cancer will be covered in the next section.

1.14 Toll-like Receptors and Ovarian Cancer

Bacterial dissemination and translocation often occur in cancers within the peritoneal cavity due to chronic inflammation enabling a breakdown in gut barrier integrity, a process which is exacerbated by chemotherapy¹⁴⁷. Bacteria and their components are frequently acted upon locally by APCs or surrounding epithelial cells before entering the systemic circulation. These bacterial components can impact tumor progression by stimulating PRRs in ovarian tumor cells. It has been established that TLR2, TLR3, TLR4, and TLR5 are strongly expressed on the surface epithelium of normal human ovaries and human ovarian cancer cell lines¹⁴⁸. TLR4, a receptor for Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), an outer membrane component of gram-negative bacteria, and oxidized phospholipid, is the best-studied PRR in OvCa. LPS is found to increase tumor cell production of IL-6 and IL-12, inhibiting CD8 T cells thus facilitating immune evasion by cancer cells¹⁴⁹. These findings also translate to ovarian cancer as it has been reported by several labs that TLR4 is overexpressed in many ovarian epithelial tumors, and its high levels are associated

with enhanced tumor progression and a greater likelihood of developing resistance to Paclitaxel chemotherapy¹⁵⁰⁻¹⁵². Additionally, in OvCa patients with metastatic disease, elevated levels of hypo-methylated DNA, a TLR9 ligand, were observed, further highlighting the detrimental impact of TLR9 signaling¹⁵³. TLR9 signaling in ovarian and breast cancer cells has been linked to increased disease aggressiveness and poor clinical outcomes, with higher TLR9 expression correlating with more severe tumor grade, greater migratory capabilities, and poorer differentiation¹⁵³. It is hypothesized that NF-κB signaling is primarily responsible for the enhanced aggressiveness of OvCa as it is constitutively activated in numerous cancer types and downstream of TLR-ID8 signaling¹⁵⁴. The *TLR5*^{R392X} polymorphism, which reduces TLR5 signaling, is associated with decreased survival in luminal breast cancer but increased survival in ovarian cancer, highlighting the cancer-type-specific impact of TLR5 signaling¹⁵⁵. This difference is attributed to IL-6 responsiveness, where TLR5 inhibition improves survival in ovarian cancer by reducing IL-6-dependent recruitment of myeloid-derived suppressor cells, while in breast cancer, it worsens outcomes by increasing IL-17 production¹⁵⁵.

Despite the negative impact of TLR stimulation on OvCa outcomes, immune activation by TLRs has shown some therapeutic potential. TLR agonists, particularly those stimulating TLR3, have shown promise in enhancing immune responses against OvCa. In 2009, it was reported that TLR3 activation with poly-inosinic-cytidylic acid (poly I:C) on DCs enhanced antigen processing and presentation in combination with CD40 co-stimulation resulting in a boost in T cell antitumor activity and rejection of ovarian carcinomas in mice¹⁵⁶. Furthermore, the use of TLR3 agonist and poly IC derivative poly-ICLC demonstrated consistent, antigen-specific antibody, CD8 and CD4 T cell response with synthetic overlapping long peptides from a human tumor self-antigen in a phase I trial¹⁵⁷. Despite the immunological boost, using TLR agonists in OvCa treatment therapeutic applications remains murky. For instance, adding a TLR4 agonist to dendritic cell immunotherapy (DCs loaded with tumor lysate) did not improve survival in an ID8 orthotopic mouse model despite
an increase in NK cells and decrease in Tregs¹⁵⁸. Currently there are no FDA-approved therapies for OvCa targeting TLRs and seldom clinical trials.

Research on TLR activity in OvCa suggests that inhibiting certain TLRs in cancer cells or stimulating them in immune cells could offer therapeutic benefits. While TLR stimulation in immune cells can induce an anti-cancer effect, activation in tumor cells often leads to immunosuppression, promoting tumor growth and angiogenesis, making TLR targeting a complex and double-edged sword. Future strategies should focus on immune cell-specific targeting of TLR pathways, or novel drug delivery mechanisms for more precise therapeutic delivery.

1.15 TLR5 and DCs

TLR5 is highly expressed on mucosal DCs and CD11c+CD11b+ lamina propria DCs^{159, 160}. TLR5 expression corresponds to the cell's critical role in maintaining intestinal immune homeostasis and host defense against bacterial infection. Ligation of TLR5 by flagellin on lamina propria DCs induces downstream signaling via MyD88 and subsequent NFkB activation, leading to the induction of Th17 T cell responses to help control bacteria¹⁶¹. Consequently, TLR5 deficiency has been shown to induce spontaneous colitis in mice¹⁶² and change the intestinal microbiota composition¹⁶³. This study suggests that TLR5 DCs are important in maintaining the homeostasis of the microbiome. TLR5 signaling on human DCs (derived from PBMCs cultured with GM-CSF and IL-4) stimulated by flagellin for 24 hours induces maturation characterized by expression of CD83, CD86, MHC class II, and CCR7¹⁶⁴. Despite these studies, it is unclear how DC phenotype changes in response to chronic TLR5 signaling, and whether chronic exposure within the TME recapitulates a similar response to what occurs at the gut mucosa. However, there is a gap in this knowledge as few studies exist that have compared the differentiation and function TLR5+ compared to TLR5-deficient DCs in any tumor microenvironment, including colon cancer.

1.16 Conclusions and Thesis Rationale

Epithelial ovarian cancer is the most prevalent subtype and has the worst outcomes of any manifestation of OvCa. This can be primarily attributed to the late detection of ovarian cancer due to its insidious onset with hidden pathology. Until early detection strategies are discovered, therapies are needed that can treat advanced disease. The current standard for ovarian cancer disease management (stage II-IV) is cytoreduction, followed by chemotherapy with carboplatin-paclitaxel, which has changed little in the last 25 years¹⁴. Thus, there is an unmet need for new therapies to treat this cancer. Additionally, ovarian cancer is characterized by a high degree of inter and intratumor heterogeneity between and within patients, which poses therapeutic challenges because this disease cannot be considered as a single entity. Thus, a better understanding of the cause of tumor and patient divergence is needed.

One defining characteristic of advanced OvCa is ascites, which drives poor survival outcomes and an immunosuppressive environment²²⁻²⁵. This environment causes DCs to become dysfunctional initiating a cascade of poor anti-tumor responses conducted by T cells²⁶⁻²⁸, which may account for the clinical failure of checkpoint therapy against OvCa. However, it is unclear what causes DC dysfunction in the ovarian TME highlighting a significant gap in current knowledge. One potential source of DC dysfunction is bacteria. It has been demonstrated modulating the microbiome with antibiotics in OvCa patients is detrimental to OvCa outcomes¹¹⁰⁻ ¹¹². Furthermore, bacterial-derived components are present within the ovarian TME¹⁰⁹ and are known to be immunomodulatory through the TLR pathway¹⁴⁸. In particular, TLR5 signaling driven by flagellin, has been demonstrated to modulate DC function^{161, 164}. However, it is unknown how chronic stimulus with TLR5 signaling will impact DCs within a tumor microenvironment, assuming that gut leakage is a chronic feature of peritoneal cancers. Recently, the TLR5 pathway has emerged as a potential therapeutic target for various conditions, including cancer and autoimmune diseases¹³⁷. Studies of TLR5 agonists have shown they are immunoprotective in the context of radiation and acute ischemic renal failure but an excellent adjuvant regarding vaccines, highlighting the duality of TLR5 signaling^{138, 139, 144}. Few studies explore TLR5 inhibition, particularly in conditions where TLR5 signaling may overwhelm an immune response already engaging cancer cells.

Prior to this study, it was observed that both mice and humans that were less sensitive to TLR5 signaling (TLR5 KO and *TLR5*^{R392X} patients respectively) exhibited greater survival when bearing ovarian cancer¹⁵⁵. Additionally, it was found that ovarian cancer patients survived longer with more significant T cell infiltration³⁷. Taking advantage of these observations, we find treating TLR5 KO ovarian tumor-bearing mice with checkpoint inhibitors, which relinquish T cells from inhibition, increases mouse survival robustly and, in some cases, indefinitely. These results were surprising as checkpoint inhibition is historically not efficacious clinically or in mouse models of ovarian cancer. This dissertation addresses two unanswered questions in the field: (1) What cell types in the ovarian tumor microenvironment express TLR5? TLR5 expression has only been rigorously assessed in proximity to the gut and never in the cancer setting. (2) What TLR5-expressing cell type is most responsible for preventing the efficacy of checkpoint therapy against ovarian cancer? The cause of checkpoint therapy failure is unknown for ovarian cancer.

Chapter 2: TLR5 signaling causes dendritic cell dysfunction and orchestrates the failure of immune checkpoint therapy against ovarian cancer

2.1 Forward

This work is in press at *Cancer Immunology Research*, accepted ______, with me as first author. The text and figures were adapted from the publication for Chapter 2.

Below is the full citation.

Mitchell T. McGinty¹, Sree H. Kolli¹, Audrey M. Putelo¹, Tzu-Yu Feng¹, Madison R. Dietl¹, Cara N. Hatzinger¹, Simona Bajgai¹, Mika K. Poblete¹, Francesca N. Azar¹, Melanie R. Rutkowski^{1*}

1 Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Cancer Biology, University of Virginia, VA, USA

* Corresponding Author

2.2 ABSTRACT

Ovarian cancer accounts for more deaths than any other cancer of the female reproductive system. Patients bearing ovarian tumors infiltrated with high frequencies of T cells associate with a greater survival probability. However, therapies to revitalize tumor-associated T cells, such as PD-L1/PD-1 blockade, are ineffective for the treatment of ovarian cancer. We demonstrate that in models of late-stage murine ovarian cancer that Toll-Like Receptor 5 (TLR5) signaling, the only known ligand for which is bacterial flagellin, leads to failure of immune therapy. Mechanistically, we demonstrate both in vivo and in vitro that chronic TLR5 signaling on CD11c+ cells impairs the differentiation of functional IL-12-producing XCR1+ CD103+ cDC1 subsets within the tumor microenvironment (TME). Instead, chronic TLR5 signaling biases precursor cells towards myeloid-associated subsets expressing high levels of PD-L1. This culminates in impaired activation of CD8 T cells, reducing CD8 T cell function and persistence within the ovarian tumor microenvironment. Expansion of cDC1s in situ using FMS-related Tyrosine Kinase 3 ligand (FLT3L) in combination with PD-L1 blockade achieved significant survival benefit, but only in TLR5 KO mice, whereas no benefit was observed in the presence of TLR5 signaling. Thus, we identify a host-intrinsic mechanism leading to failure of immune therapy for ovarian cancer, demonstrating that chronic TLR5 signaling on DCs is a barrier limiting the efficacy of immune therapy.

2.3 SIGNIFICANCE

This study uncovers that chronic TLR5 signaling enhances the accumulation of suppressive PD-L1 expressing myeloid cells in the tumor environment at the expense of functionally mature conventional type I dendritic cells (cDC1). TLR5 signaling disrupts a critical DC-CD8 T cell axis, culminating in failure of PD-L1 blockade or *in vivo* agonism of FLT3 to expand cDC1. Blocking TLR5 signaling in combination with anti-PD-L1 and FLT3L presents a novel therapeutic strategy against ovarian cancer.

2.4 INTRODUCTION

Ovarian cancer is the deadliest gynecologic malignancy in the United States, with an estimated 19,880 new cases diagnosed and 12,810 deaths in 2022¹. The current standard for disease management is intensive surgical staging and cytoreduction, followed by chemotherapy with carboplatin–paclitaxel¹⁶⁵. Patients often respond initially to therapy; however, roughly 85% exhibit recurrence¹⁶⁶. Thus, there is an urgent need for therapies that actively adapt to combat recurrence. The presence of tumor-infiltrating T cells correlates with increased survival and delayed recurrence in advanced ovarian cancer patients³⁷. Despite this, strategies such as blockade of T cell inhibitory receptors to harness/reinvigorate T cell activity against ovarian tumors are largely ineffective. These shortcomings emphasize the need for complementary therapies that overcome resistance to checkpoint therapy, enhance anti-tumor T-cell responses, and improve patient outcomes.

Dendritic cells (DCs) are potent antigen-presenting immune cells that orchestrate robust and durable anti-tumor T cell responses in multiple cancer types. For ovarian cancer, DCs have a fundamental role in dictating patient outcomes^{167, 168}. However, within the ovarian tumor microenvironment, DCs phenotypically diverge from promoting immunosurveillance during early stages of tumor growth to inhibiting T-cell function during advanced disease^{39, 169, 170}. Reversing the suppressive function of tumor-associated DCs through blockade of inhibitory receptors¹⁷⁰⁻¹⁷² or utilizing DC-based vaccines¹⁷³⁻¹⁷⁵ have recently been demonstrated to improve progression-free survival, supporting the critical importance of DCs for improving survival in patients with ovarian cancer. Despite these advances, DCs are unable to sustain anti-tumor T cell function for ovarian cancer. Defining the host-intrinsic and tumor-associated factors that modulate the phenotype and function of DCs in ovarian cancer patients is therefore crucial for the development of effective immunotherapeutic strategies.

Although much is known about how tumor cells hijack myeloid cells to potentiate tumor growth and/or metastasis, little is known as to how chronic exposure to the microbiome influences the phenotype of myeloid cells or the cellular makeup of the ovarian tumor microenvironment (TME). We demonstrated that TLR5 recognition of flagellated host commensal bacteria enhances the growth of ovarian tumors by enabling the accumulation of suppressive myeloid cells in the ovarian TME, culminating in sustained T cell dysfunction¹²⁶. The only known ligand for TLR5 is flagellin, the structural element of bacterial flagella. In homeostatic conditions, acute engagement of TLR5 in dendritic cells leads to secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-6 and IL-1β¹⁷⁶, which aid the induction of adaptive immunity. On the other hand, there is a growing body of evidence that chronic TLR engagement can tip the balance towards a TME that favors tumor progression due to excessive inflammation^{177, 178}. Flagellated bacteria are found within TME of patients with ovarian cancer due to breakdown of gut integrity facilitated by tumor-promoting inflammation and chemotherapy^{109, 179}. Therefore, it is possible that chronic TLR5 signaling and inflammatory cytokines in the ovarian TME impair DC function, facilitating tumor growth.

This study investigated the effects of TLR5 signaling on dendritic cell function and anti-tumor immunity, and the consequence of this signaling pathway on efficacy of immune therapy. We demonstrate that TLR5 signaling impairs the accumulation of cross-presenting XCR1+ CD103+ conventional type 1 dendritic cells (cDC1s) into the TME. cDC1s are central for activation and/or priming of tumor-reactive CD8 T cells¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸⁴ and control of tumor growth^{183, 185, 186}. In the absence of TLR5 signaling, durable and long-term survival of mice bearing aggressive ovarian tumors is achieved using PD-L1 blockade (anti-PD-L1). In addition, we show potential for DCs, expanded in situ, as a therapy for ovarian cancer in combination with anti-PD-L1 in the absence of TLR5 signaling.

2.5 RESULTS

In the absence of TLR5 signaling, PD-L1 blockade achieves a significant survival benefit for ovarian cancer.

Blockade of tumor- or myeloid-associated PD-L1 from interacting with the T cell inhibitory receptor PD-1 has shown promise in ovarian cancer patients as a single therapy¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁸⁹ and combined with other therapies¹⁹⁰. Unfortunately, few patients respond, and of those that do, many ultimately experience recurrent disease. Because TLR5 signaling in ovarian cancer reduces anti-tumor T cell function¹²⁶, we examined the efficacy of checkpoint therapy in the absence of TLR5 signaling. TLR5 KO or wild-type mice were injected orthotopically with the ovarian epithelial cell line ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A^{191, 192}. ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A is an aggressive ovarian tumor cell line derived from the parental ID8 tumor model¹⁹³ that recapitulates stage III/IV ovarian cancer. Mice were treated as depicted in Figure 2.1A. Untreated TLR5 KO mice had a slight, although significant, survival benefit compared to wild-type mice (Figure 2.1B, red dotted versus block dotted line), confirming our previous findings using the less aggressive parental ID8 cell line¹²⁶. Although PD-L1 blockade modestly enhanced survival in wild-type mice (solid black line), 56% (51 total) of TLR5 KO mice given PD-L1 blockade did not display any evidence of disease, resulting in long-term survival greater than 100 days (Figure 2.1B, solid red line). We next examined the durability of protection in surviving TLR5 KO mice. Twenty-seven of the TLR5 KO mice surviving greater than 100 days were re-injected with ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A tumors. Compared to naïve TLR5 KO tumor-bearing mice, a majority of surviving TLR5 KO mice from Figure 2.1B continued to survive after reinjection of the ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A cell line, despite not receiving additional anti-PD-L1 therapy (Figure 2.1C). Of the 27 rechallenged mice, 21 mice survived without evidence of tumor outgrowth, while many of the mice that did eventually succumb survived greater than 100 days before developing evidence of disease. These findings were recapitulated using another ovarian tumor cell line. PD-L1 blockade promoted significant survival and protection during initial tumor rechallenge in TLR5 KO mice bearing the UPK10 ovarian epithelial cancer cell line (**Figure 2.1D and E**). Taken together, these results indicate that in the absence of TLR5 signaling, anti-PD-L1 therapy achieves a robust and durable response for ovarian cancer.



Figure 2.1. TLR5 signaling impairs efficacy of PD-L1 blockade for ovarian cancer.

(A) Treatment schema. On day 0, tumors were initiated in wild-type (WT) or TLR5 KO mice. Anti-PD-L1 was initiated on day 10 for a total of 4 injections. After 100 days, surviving or naïve TLR5 KO mice were injected with the same ovarian tumor cell line as established in surviving mice on day 0. (B) Survival of mice bearing ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* ovarian tumors after treatment with anti-PD-L1. (C) Survival of surviving TLR5 KO mice from B re-injected after 100 days or naïve TLR5 KO mice bearing ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* tumors. (D) Survival of mice bearing UPK10 ovarian tumors after treatment with anti-PD-L1. (E) Survival of surviving TLR5 KO mice from D, re-injected after 100 days or naïve TLR5 KO mice treatment with anti-PD-L1. (E) Survival of surviving TLR5 KO mice from D, re-injected after 100 days or naïve TLR5 KO mice bearing UPK10 tumors. Log-rank test was used to compare survival proportions. Numbers in parentheses indicate numbers of mice within each group. (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001, **** p < .0001).

During tumor outgrowth, TLR5+ dendritic and myeloid cells expressing PD-L1 accumulate within the ovarian tumor microenvironment.

To define the immunological basis of extended survival in TLR5 KO mice after treatment with PD-L1 blockade, we first sought to understand the connection between TLR5 signaling and the cellular evolution of the ovarian TME. We used TLR5 reporter mice to comprehensively define the phenotypic and functional attributes of TLR5-expressing immune subsets within the ovarian TME, tumor-draining lymph nodes, and spleen.

TLR5 reporter mice have a knock-in *IRES-tdTomato* sequence placed at the 3' end of the *Tlr5* gene¹⁹⁴, enabling flow cytometric analysis of TLR5-expressing cells. In mice with advanced tumor burden (day 25), assessment of TLR5-expressing immune populations within the ovarian TME revealed negligible expression of TLR5 on tumor-associated T cells (**Figure 2.2A**). On the other hand, most tumor-infiltrating cells co-expressing CD11c+ and MHCII+, putative dendritic cells, in addition to a large proportion of CD11b+ myeloid cells, were found to express TLR5 at this advanced temporal point (**Figure 2.2A**). Given that the TLR5-expressing cell subsets were either myeloid-derived or putative dendritic cells, and that TLR5 signaling associates with the accumulation and/or polarization of myeloid subsets^{126, 195}, we next interrogated the association between TLR5 expression, accumulation, and functional modulation of myeloid cells within the ovarian TME and in response to degree of tumor burden.

TLR5-expressing and non-expressing cell subsets were analyzed from tumor nodules, tumordraining lymph nodes, and spleens of TLR5 reporter mice with low (day 10) to progressively increased tumor burden (days 20 and 30). Changes in immune composition were compared to peritoneal wash exudates, mediastinal lymph nodes, and spleens of non-tumor-bearing tdTomato mice. The goal was to define how the frequency, phenotype, and function of TLR5-expressing or TLR5-negative cell subsets change throughout the course of ovarian tumor progression. Using the gating strategy outlined in **Figure 2.3**, we observed expansion in the frequencies of TLR5negative cells within the combined B/T cell gate 10 days post-tumor initiation, followed by an expansion in the frequencies of TLR5-negative cells during advanced stages of disease (**Figure 2.2B and C**). Many of the TLR5-negative cells were presumed to be tumor cells, which do not express the TLR5 reporter or additional fluorescent reporters. All other TLR5-negative populations did not exhibit substantial or dynamic changes throughout tumor progression. On the other hand, within the TLR5-expressing population, there was a gradual and significant increase in the frequencies of both myeloid and DC subsets in response to advancing disease burden (**Figure 2.2B and C**). Within the spleen, there was an expansion of undefined TLR5-expressing leukocytes in addition to a significant decrease in B and T cells, whereas frequencies of TLR5-expressing myeloid and DCs remained stable throughout tumor progression (**Figure 2.4A**). Very few cell types, other than cells within the combined B/T cell gate, expressed TLR5 within the tumor-draining mediastinal lymph node (**Figure 2.4B**). Together, these data indicate that TLR5-expressing myeloid and DC populations exhibit significant and dynamic expansion in response to ovarian tumors which are localized predominantly within the ovarian TME.

Myeloid cells are exquisitely responsive to the multitude of inflammatory signals within the ovarian TME¹⁹⁶⁻¹⁹⁸, and as tumors progress, both lineage-committed^{181, 199} and immature myeloid precursors^{200, 201} are polarized to become pro-tumorigenic and suppressive. We sought to understand how TLR5 expression associated with phenotypic changes in both myeloid and DC populations, focusing on cytokine and cell surface molecules involved in myeloid and DC activation and/or inhibition of anti-tumor T cell function. As tumors progressed, frequencies of TLR5-expressing DCs producing IL-10 and expressing PD-L1 significantly increased (**Figure 2.2D**). Conversely, the frequencies of TLR5-negative DC populations expressing IL-10 or PD-L1 were low and remained unchanged throughout tumor progression (**Figure 2.2E**). Not only were there more TLR5-expressing PD-L1+ DCs within the TME, the amount of surface PD-L1 on these cells increased significantly as ovarian tumors progressed (**Figure 2.2F**). No differences in the

levels of PD-L1 on TLR5-negative DC populations were observed (**Figure 2.2G**). Although there was a significant increase in the frequencies of TLR5-expressing PD-L1+ myeloid cells during advanced ovarian tumor progression (**Figures 2.4C and 2.4D**), similar PD-L1 levels were detected in TLR5-negative myeloid populations (**Figures 2.4E and 2.4F**). Although TLR5-expressing myeloid cells are expanding within the ovarian TME, phenotypically we did not identify how these populations differed from TLR5-negative myeloid cells. On the other hand, tumor-associated DCs express TLR5 and exhibit a corresponding phenotypic shift in response to tumor progression, predominantly through the expression of PD-L1.



Figure 2.2. TLR5 expression on myeloid and dendritic cells, but not T cells, corresponds with tumor-associated cellular changes within the ovarian tumor microenvironment.

(A) Peritoneal wash exudates from tdTomato TLR5 reporter mice bearing ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A ovarian tumors were analyzed by flow at day 25 for TLR5-expressing (tomato+) cells in the TME. Percentages based upon frequency of tdTomato+ or tdTomato- cells out of total leukocytes (CD45+), N=14 total. (B-C) Analysis of TLR5 expressing cell subsets in the peritoneal microenvironment of naïve mice (no tumor) and in the tumor microenvironment (TME) of mice with progressively increasing tumor burden. Peritoneal wash exudates and tumor nodules of Td-Tomato TLR5 reporter mice bearing ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A tumors were examined by flow cytometry at 10-, 20-, and 30-days post-tumor implantation, and compared to peritoneal wash fluid from naïve animals. N=5 per group. Percentages are calculated based upon total TLR5+ and - cell proportions and depicted as stacked bar graphs (B) or pie graphs (C). Phenotypic analysis of TLR5+ (D and F) or TLR5- (E and G) MHCII hi and CD11c+ DC cell subsets within the peritoneal environment was performed in Td-Tomato TLR5 reporter mice administered brefeldin A 6 hours prior to analysis for cytokine analysis. (**D and E**) proportions of each phenotypic DC subset from TLR5+ or TLR5- cell subsets. (F and G) mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) of each marker from cells in **D** and **E**. N=5 per group. Mann-Whitney unpaired t-test (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001, **** p < .0001) was used to calculate significance. Error bars represent mean \pm SEM. Plots are representative of at least 2 repeats.



Figure 2.3. Hierarchical gating of TLR5-expressing cells in the ovarian Tumor Microenvironment.

Cells were harvested from the peritoneal cavities of Td-Tomato TLR5 reporter mice 30 days-post establishing ovarian tumors with ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* cancer cells. Gating was performed in FlowJo post antibody staining and analysis on a Cytek Auroura. Hierarchical gating was used (shown by the arrows) starting with singlets, followed by live cells, then TLR5+ or TLR5-, as indicated by Td-Tomato positive and negative, respectively. TLR5 positivity was defined using a fluorescence minus one (FMO) control of peritoneal wash/tumor nodules. TLR5+/- populations were gated separately for CD45 then a combined B/T cell gate, based upon CD3/CD19 staining. CD3-CD19- populations were further selected for expression of CD11b, CD11c, MHCII, XCR1, and CD103. Allowing for the characterization of CD11b- DCs, XCR1+CD103+ DCs, XCR1- DCs, CD11b+ DCs, other leukocytes, and other myeloid cells.



Figure 2.4. Temporal analysis of TLR5 expression in myeloid and dendritic cell populations within tumor-draining lymph nodes, systemically within the spleen, and within the tumor microenvironment of TLR5 reporter mice.

Analysis of TLR5 expressing cell subsets from the indicated tissues of naïve Td-Tomato TLR5 reporter mice (no tumor) from mice during early (day 10) and progressively advanced stages of ovarian tumor progression (days 20 and 30). Tissues from TLR5 reporter mice bearing ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* tumors were examined by flow cytometry at the indicated times post tumor implantation and compared to tissues from naïve animals. (A) Numbers of immune cell populations in the spleen; or (B) tumor-draining mediastinal lymph node. Percentages are calculated based upon total TLR5+ and – cell proportions and depicted as stacked bar graphs. (C-D) Analysis of CD11b+ CD11c- myeloid cells from peritoneal wash and tumor nodules of Td-Tomato TLR5 reporter mice administered brefeldin A 6 hours prior to analysis for cytokines. Values indicate proportions of each functional subset indicated in the legend from either TLR5+ (C) or TLR5- (D) myeloid populations. (E-F) MFI of PD-L1 expression on TLR5- (E) or TLR5+ (F) CD11b+ CD11c- myeloid cells. n=5 per group. Significance was calculated using an unpaired non-parametric t-test with Mann Whitney correction (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001, **** p < .001). Error bars represent mean ± SEM

TLR5 signaling is associated with reduced accumulation of cDC1s in the ovarian tumor microenvironment.

We observed that TLR5-expressing DCs expressing high levels of PD-L1 on their surface accumulate within the ovarian TME as tumor burden increases. Given that DCs are known to orchestrate anti-tumor immunity and response to PD-L1 blockade, we hypothesized that TLR5 signaling may be detrimental to the therapeutic efficacy of anti-PD-L1 through modulation of DCs. To better understand how DC phenotype and function was affected in the absence of TLR5 signaling, we compared DC subsets between wild-type and TLR5 KO mice bearing ID8-Defb29/Veqf-A tumors. DCs within the TME were assessed prior to (day 7) and during (day 15) administration of anti-PD-L1. cDC1s express chemokine receptors XCR1²⁰² and CD103²⁰³ and are critical for the activation of anti-tumor CD8 T cells, associating with greater survival outcomes during checkpoint therapy^{37, 204}. Very few cDC1s were observed within the peritoneal cavity of either strain of mice without tumors (Figure 2.5A), suggesting that cDC1s are either actively recruited to or expanded in the ovarian TME. At day 7, there was a slight, but significant, increase in total and IL-12-producing cDC1s for both wild-type and TLR5 KO mice when compared to nontumor-bearing animals (Figure 2.5A and 2.5B). By day 15, cDC1 numbers in TLR5 KO mice were significantly greater than wild-type mice at the same temporal point, with the total number of IL-12 producing cDC1s within the TLR5 KO ovarian TME correspondingly increased (Figure 2.5A and B). In addition to the increased quantity of cDC1s in the TLR5 KO mice on day 15, we also observed greater expression of functional indicators IL-12 and CD80, measured by mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) (Figure 2.5C and 2.5D). The cytokine IL-12 is normally produced in response to T cell-DC interactions and is critical for growth and function of T cells^{205, 206}. Additionally, the ligand CD80 is a co-stimulatory factor indicative of DC maturation^{207, 208}. These data suggest that TLR5 KO cDC1s are more functional and mature than wild-type cDC1s during the period in which anti-PD-L1 is administered. Although there was a significant expansion in XCR1/CD103 double negative DC subsets in the TME of TLR5 KO mice on day 15, there were

no discernible differences in maturation or function, when compared to wild-type DCs with similar phenotypic attributes (**Figure 2.6A-C**). We also observed a significant reduction in CD11b+ DCs and an increase in mucosal and migratory DCs in the TME of TLR5 KO mice on day 15 (**Figure 2.6D-F**). Therefore, at the time when PD-L1 blockade is administered, TLR5 KO mice have significantly increased numbers of functional/mature cDC1s, corresponding to an environment that is better poised to expand T cells in response to PD-L1 blockade. On the other hand, mice with intact TLR5 signaling experience reduced differentiation and/or maturation of CD103+ DCs during PD-L1 blockade. We did not observe numeric or phenotypic differences in any DC subset within the tumor-draining mediastinal lymph node (TDLN) (**Figure 2.6G-L**), suggesting that at these temporal points, the effects of TLR5 signaling on DC phenotype and function occur predominantly within the ovarian TME.

We next blocked TLR5 signaling using a neutralizing antibody against mouse TLR5 (αTLR5)²⁰⁹ to define how transient blockade of TLR5 signaling impacted DC phenotype and function during advanced ovarian cancer (**Figure 2.5E**). Using t-SNE (t-distributed Stochastic Neighbor Embedding) on CD11c+ MHCII+ pre-gated cells within the TME, we observed an increased frequency of CD103+ and XCR1+ DCs after acute TLR5 blockade when compared to the IgG2a isotype, as depicted by the magenta population highlighted by the red circle and red arrows (**Figure 2.5F-H**). These data indicate that acute TLR5 inhibition is sufficient to enhance the accumulation and/or differentiation of cDC1s within the ovarian TME of wild-type mice. Validating the t-SNE results using hierarchical gating, we confirmed a significant increase in total cDC1s in response to TLR5 inhibition (**Figure 2.5I**). No significant changes to XCR1 and CD103 negative, migratory, and mucosal DCs were observed after acute TLR5 inhibition (**Figure 2.6J-L**), suggesting that differentiation of cDC1s, or a precursor population, are negatively affected by TLR5 signaling. At this advanced temporal point, we also observed that TLR5 inhibition resulted in a significant reduction of PD-L1 expression on cDC1s, relative to PD-L1 expressed on cDC1s

within the TME of mice administered IgG2a isotype (**Figure 2.5J**). Collectively, these data suggest that TLR5 signaling culminates in the reduced maturation and/or functionality of cDC1s, further implicating TLR5 signaling and its effects on DCs in the failure of PD-L1 blockade.



Figure 2.5. TLR5 signaling reduces the frequency and functionality of cDC1s in the ovarian tumor microenvironment.

(A) Total cDC1 and (B) IL-12+ cDC1 numbers in the peritoneal cavity of non-tumor-bearing or within the ovarian tumor microenvironment 7- and 15-days post-initiation of ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A ovarian tumors. Cells were assessed by flow cytometry. (C) Mean fluorescent intensity (D) and representative histograms of intracellular IL-12 and surface CD80 levels in cDC1s from the ovarian tumor microenvironment 15 days post-initiation of ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A tumors. (E) Schematic depicting strategy to neutralize TLR5 signaling. A neutralizing murine anti-TLR5 or IgG2a isotype control was administered for 4 consecutive days at 50µg/daily starting 15 days post-tumor initiation. Peritoneal wash samples and tumor nodules were analyzed on day 30 posttumor initiation using spectral flow cytometry. (F) t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (t-SNE) map of pre-gated CD11c+ MHCII+ cells (putative DCs). The red circle depicts the populations highlighted by the arrow in G and H. (G) Population frequencies and (H) heat map of phenotypic marker expression by DCs from the clusters depicted in F. (I) Quantitation of cDC1 numbers and (J) MFI of PD-L1 levels with representative histograms after hierarchical gating analysis using FlowJo for samples from **E**. Unpaired non-parametric t-tests with Mann Whitney correction were used to calculate statistical significance (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001, **** p < .0001). Error bars represent mean ± SEM. Plots are representative of at least three repeats.



Figure 2.6. Dendritic cell subsets examined within the tumor microenvironment and tumordraining lymph nodes in tumor-bearing wild type and TLR5 KO mice.

(A) Total and (B) IL-12+ CD103- XCR1- DCs in the ovarian TME 7- and 15 days-post administration of ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* tumors after assessing by flow cytometry. (C) MFI of IL-12 and CD80 XCR1- and CD103- DC 15-days post ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* tumors. (D) Total myeloid, (E) mucosal, and (F) migratory DC numbers overtime. (G) Numbers of XCR1+ CD103+ cDC1s and (H) XCR1- CD103- DCs in the tumor-draining mediastinal lymph node. (I) MFI of CD80 in CD11c+ MHCII+ DCs in the mediastinal lymph node at D15. (J-L) Analysis of dendritic cell subsets within the ovarian tumor microenvironment of mice bearing ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* tumors. At day 15, mice were treated daily with either 50µg of a neutralizing antibody for TLR5 (α TLR5) or an IgG2a isotype control for 4 consecutive days, followed by analysis at day 30. Graphs depict numbers of each DC subset from peritoneal wash and tumor nodules. (J) XCR1- CD103- DC. (K) Migratory DCs. (L) Mucosal DCs. Significance was calculated using an unpaired non-parametric t-test with Mann Whitney correction (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001, **** p < .0001). Error bars represent mean ± SEM.

When in the same ovarian tumor microenvironment as wild-type DCs, TLR5 KO DCs retain the ability to differentiate and mature into cDC1s.

The possibility remains that differences in immune cell phenotype and response to PD-L1 blockade are mediated by indirect effects of TLR5 signaling and/or non-immune cell populations arising due to broad differences within each individual TME. To address this, we established a mixed bone marrow chimera to determine whether differences in DC phenotype are retained for TLR5 KO cells within the same ovarian tumor environment as wild-type immune cells. Lethally irradiated wild-type congenic (CD45.1) mice were reconstituted with a 1:1 mix of TLR5 KO (CD45.2) and wild-type (CD45.1) bone marrow (Figure 2.7A). After a 10-week rest period, ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A tumors were established, followed by the initiation of anti-PD-L1 or the vehicle IgG2b isotype control beginning on day 5 (Figure 2.7A). Anti-PD-L1 therapy was initiated early (day 5) to account for enhanced aggressiveness of tumor kinetics, which is exacerbated by irradiation. Peritoneal wash exudates/tumor nodules were harvested and assessed by flow cytometry 15 days post-tumor initiation. We observed greater frequencies of XCR1+, CD103+ TLR5 KO (CD45.2) cDC1s relative to wild-type (CD45.1) cDC1s within the same TME (Figure **2.7B**). Differences in frequencies were accompanied by trending increases in absolute numbers of TLR5 KO versus wild-type cDC1s (Figure 2.8A). These data indicate that within the same TME, TLR5-deficient DCs are better able to differentiate into cDC1s relative to wild-type DCs. This is consistent with earlier observations that TLR5 deficiency or TLR5 blockade achieves a significant increase in the numbers of cDC1s within the ovarian TME (Figure 2.5). Additionally, these differences only manifested in ovarian tumor-bearing animals, further indicating that differences in cDC1 accumulation between wild-type and TLR5 KO cells is dependent on tumor growth (Figure 2.7B). Tumor-associated CD103+ DCs are found to retain T cell stimulatory capacity in advanced ovarian cancer, while CD11b-expressing DCs associate with immune suppression and poor cancer outcomes^{49, 210, 211}. Proportions and total numbers of wild-type CD11b-expressing CD103+ and CD103- DCs were increased relative to TLR5 KO DCs (Figures **2.7C-D** and Figures 2.8B-C), suggesting that TLR5 signaling has a direct impact on the differentiation and/or recruitment of cDC1s into the ovarian tumor microenvironment. Further supporting that TLR5 signaling impairs the ability of DCs to initiate and support anti-tumor T cell responses, there were significantly reduced frequencies and numbers of TLR5 KO cDC1s expressing PD-L1 compared to wild-type cDC1s, whereas there were increased frequencies of IL-12-expressing TLR5 KO cDC1s (Figures 2.7E-F and Figures 2.8D-E). Overall, TLR5-deficient DCs maintain a cDC1 phenotype, with low expression of PD-L1, despite being within the same TME as wild-type DCs. These phenotypic changes occurring on wild-type but not TLR5 KO cells are observed in a mixed bone marrow chimera setting, suggesting that shifts in DC phenotype or differentiation are occurring due to the direct effects of TLR5 signaling, independent of microenvironmental differences within the TME.



Figure 2.7. TLR5 signaling *in vivo* attenuates the accumulation and functionality of tumorassociated DC subsets.

(A) Schema for mixed bone marrow chimera and treatment regimen. Recipient wild-type (CD45.1) mice were irradiated (2 consecutive days x 600 rads/day) and reconstituted with an equal mix of donor bone marrow cells (TLR5 KO:Wild-type). ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* cells tumors were initiated 10-weeks post-reconstitution followed by treatment with anti-PD-L1 five days post-tumor initiation. Peritoneal wash exudates and tumor nodules were collected 15 days after tumor initiation and analyzed by flow cytometry. (B) Frequency of XCR1+CD103+ (cDC1), (C) CD11b+CD103+ (mucosal DC), (D) CD11b+CD103- (myeloid DC), (E) PD-L1hi wild-type (CD45.1) or TLR5 KO (CD45.2) cDC1 (XCR1+CD103+) with or without anti-PD-L1 therapy. (F) Frequency of wild-type (CD45.1) or TLR5 KO (CD45.2) IL-12+ cDC1s. Unpaired with Mann Whitney (between mice) or paired t-tests (within mice) were used to calculate significance (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001, **** p < .001). Plots are representative of three experiments.



Figure 2.8. Comparative analysis of WT and TLR5 KO DC subsets within the same ovarian tumor microenvironment.

Briefly, congenic CD45.1 wild type or TLR5 KO CD45.2 bone marrow was mixed 50:50 and engrafted into a lethally irradiated wild type congenic CD45.1 recipients. After allowing cells to engraft over a period of 10 weeks, ovarian tumors were initiated, and peritoneal wash exudates/tumor nodules were analyzed 15 days post-tumor initiation. (A-C) Absolute numbers of XCR1+CD103+ (A), CD11b+CD103+ (B), and CD11b+CD103- (C) DC subsets. (D-E) Phenotypic analysis of cDC1 subsets, depicting absolute numbers of PD-L1hi (D) or IL-12-producing (E) cDC1s. All samples were assessed by flow cytometry. Absolute numbers were calculated using counting beads. Significance was calculated using unpaired (between mice) or paired t-tests (within mice) (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001). Error bars represent mean \pm SEM.

Chronic exposure of FLT3L-cultured BMDCs to bacterial flagellin results in preferential expansion of PD-L1-expressing myeloid cells.

Our data thus far indicate that TLR5 signaling mediates phenotypic changes in dendritic cells within the ovarian TME. To define the direct effects of TLR5 signaling on DC differentiation and function independently of tumor growth, we established in vitro cultures using bone marrow cells expanded with FLT3L, an in vitro method utilized to enrich bone marrow-derived DC cultures for cross-presenting cDC1s from bone marrow progenitors^{212, 213}. Using the gating scheme outlined in **Figure 2.10**, we found that for both TLR5 KO and wild-type bone marrow, there was a similar expansion of both cDC1s and cDC2s when cultured in FLT3L alone, while frequencies of cDC1s were reduced only in wild-type mice after chronic exposure to flagellin (Figure 2.9A and 2.10C-D). The reduction in cDC1 frequencies for wild-type cultures was not due to increased cell death after chronic exposure to flagellin (Figure 2.10B) and was recapitulated regardless of the bacterial source of flagellin (Figure 2.10C). This resulted in a significant decline in proportions of cDC1s as the days of exposure to flagellin were increased (Figure 2.10E). Although frequencies of cDC1s were reduced in wild-type cultures after chronic exposure to flagellin, we did not observe significant differences in the total number of cDC1s within any culture conditions (Figure 2.9B), likely due to the expansion of other myeloid subsets within wild-type cultures. Wild-type cultures with chronic exposure to flagellin had significant increases in the numbers of monocytes and other undefined myeloid cells, whereas TLR5 KO cultures did not exhibit any changes over time in response to chronic or acute exposure to flagellin (Figure 2.9B). Although we did not assess the suppressive potential of Ly6C+ monocytes, cells expressing similar phenotypic markers within the ovarian TME are known to be poor prognostic indicators^{214, 215}. Functionally, there was a significant expansion of PD-L1-expressing myeloid subsets after chronic exposure to flagellin and FLT3L (Figure 2.9C). The role of tumors in the expansion and induction of PD-L1 on tumorassociated myeloid cells is well-defined^{216, 217}. Our data indicate that in the absence of a tumor, chronic exposure to bacterial flagellin in the presence of FLT3L is sufficient to promote

differentiation of cDCs away from a phenotype that is well-equipped to activate CD8 T cells towards a myeloid phenotype that is less capable of stimulating CD8 T cells. Interferon regulatory factor-8 (IRF8) is a terminal selector for the cDC1 lineage and maintains cDC1 identity by preventing cDC1 conversion into cDC2s²¹⁸⁻²²⁰. We found that both acute and chronic TLR5 signaling resulted in a significant reduction of IRF8 for wild-type DCs, whereas TLR5 KO DCs maintained similar levels of IRF8 across all conditions (**Figure 2.9D**). Therefore, it is plausible that the observed decrease in IRF8 resulted in subsequent increase in cDC2s, monocytes and other myeloid cells after chronic exposure to flagellin.

Next, we tested the ability of each mixed culture condition to activate antigen-specific CD8 T cells. To examine cross-presentation, SIINFEKL peptide was added on day 7 to the same culture system, followed by cell trace labeled OT-1 transgenic CD8 T cells on day 8. After three days of expansion, we observed that OT-1 T cells cultured with wild-type BMDC cultures exposed to chronic flagellin and FLT3L proliferated significantly less than those incubated with TLR5 KO cultures, as measured by dilution of cell trace violet (**Figure 2.9E-F**). Altogether, these data indicate that TLR5 signaling promotes expansion of PD-L1-expressing myeloid subsets over cross-presenting cDC1 populations. The mechanism by which this occurs is unclear, however, it is plausible that flagellin binds to TLR5 and the corresponding signaling cascade induces expression of genes that promote myeloid development. TLR5 signaling associates with increased IL-6 expression¹²⁶, which we find is increased in FLT3 cultures upon exposure to flagellin (**Figure 2.10F**). Chronic IL-6 signaling can induce myeloid differentiation favoring MDSCs²²¹. Further studies are needed to distinguish whether TLR5 alone, or synergism between TLR5 and IL-6, are reducing the accumulation of cDC1s to favor expansion of other tumor-supporting myeloid subsets.


Figure 2.9. Chronic TLR5 signaling by flagellin promotes differentiation and expansion of PD-L1 myeloid subsets, leading to impaired CD8 T cell activation.

Briefly, bone marrow cells from wild-type or TLR5 KO mice were cultured for 8 days with FLT3L and purified flagellin (Salmonella typhimurium) in an acute setting, for 2 days (2D) of culture; or a chronic setting, for 8 days (8D) of culture. (A) Representative dot plots of wild-type or TLR5 KO conventional dendritic cells cDC1 (XCR1+) or cDC2 (SIRP α +). Plots represent cell populations after the 8-day culture period followed by flow cytometry analysis. (B) Total numbers of differentiated myeloid and dendritic cell subsets in cultures of wild-type or TLR5 KO bone marrow with FLT3L +/- flagellin: cDC1s (CD11c+, MHCIIhi, XCR1+SIRPα-), cDC2s (CD11c+, MHCIIhi, XCR1-SIRPα+), Ly6C (CD11c-, CD11b+Ly6C+, Ly6G-), Ly6G (CD11c-, CD11b+, Ly6Clow, Ly6G+), and other undefined myeloid cells (CD11c-, CD11b+, Ly6C-, Ly6G-). (C) Total numbers of PD-L1 high expressing subsets from B. (D) Intracellular levels of IRF8 (MFI) from cultures in B. (E-F) To assess the ability of bone marrow cells cultured in FLT3L +/- flagellin to present antigen and activate CD8 T cells, bulk DC/myeloid cultures were pulsed with SIINFEKL peptide followed by incubation with cell trace violet labeled OT-1 transgenic T cells, followed by analysis of T cell proliferation on a flow cytometer. (E) Proliferation index and (F) representative histograms of OT-1 CD8 T cells co-cultured with SIINFEKL peptide pulsed bone marrow FLT3L cultures. Unpaired t-test with Mann Whitney correction was used to calculate significance. (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001, **** p < .0001). Plots represent all data points combined from two experiments.



Figure 2.10. Phenotypic assessment of FLT3L cultured bone marrow-derived dendritic cells with acute or chronic exposure to bacterial flagellin.

Bone marrow from wild type or TLR5 KO mice were cultured in media containing FLT3L, to establish DC cultures with an enrichment of cDC1s. Flagellin was added to cultures for 2 (acute) or 8 days (chronic), after which cells were stained and analyzed using a flow cytometer. (A) Gating hierarchy of cells collected after expansion of bone marrow cells in FLT3L. (B) Percentage of viable cells, out of total cells in the culture, as assessed by frequency of Zombie Aqua negative cells. (C) Representative gates of WT or TLR5 KO CD11c+MHCII+ cDC1 (XCR1+) or cDC2 (SIRP α) after 8 days of expansion with FLT3L and purified flagellin (*Bacillus subtilis*). (D) Frequency of cDC1s gated based on either XCR1+ SIRP α or XCR1+ CD103+ after exposure to flagellin in culture for the indicated number of days in the X axis. Flagellin was either derived from *Salmonella typhimurium* (ST) or *Bacillus subtilis* (BS). (F) Levels of IL-6 from FLT3L culture supernatants taken from the culture in **E**. Significance was calculated using an unpaired non-parametric t-test with Mann Whitney correction (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001, **** p < .0001). Error bars represent mean ± SEM.

CD8 T cells are critical for mediating survival in ovarian tumor-bearing TLR5 KO mice treated with PD-L1 blockade.

We have demonstrated that TLR5 signaling impacts the phenotype of cDC1s, a likely liaison between anti-tumor T cells and control of tumor growth in TLR5 KO mice. cDC1s are central for activating and/or priming of tumor-reactive CD8 T cells¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸⁴ and enhancing CD8 T cell activation and function²²², in addition to response during checkpoint blockade²²³. Considering that tumorinfiltrating CD8 and CD4 effector cells correspond with increased overall and long-term survival in ovarian cancer²²⁴⁻²²⁶, and given the association between cDC1s and CD8 T cell activation, we sought to examine the role of CD8 T cells during enhanced survival in TLR5 KO ovarian tumorbearing mice. CD8 T cells were depleted prior to tumor initiation and in combination with anti-PD-L1 therapy (Figure 2.11A and 2.12A). Depletion of CD8 T cells with anti-CD8a prior to and during anti-PD-L1 therapy eliminated the survival benefit observed in TLR5 KO mice, indicating that CD8 T cells are critical effectors for driving survival during PD-L1 blockade (Figure 2.11B). To examine how these changes in T cell phenotype correspond to the previously noted differences in DC phenotype and function, we assessed the T cell compartment within TDLN, the spleen, and the TME by flow cytometry 15 and 30 days post-ovarian tumor initiation, using the gating strategy depicted in Figure 2.12B. In the absence of PD-L1 therapy, TLR5 KO mice had significantly greater numbers of both total CD8 and CD4 subsets in addition to greater numbers of central memory (CD62L^{hi} and CD44^{hi}) and effector (CD62L^{low} and CD44^{hi}) T cells in the TME by 15 days post-tumor initiation (Figure 2.11C and Figure 2.12C). During advanced tumor progression (day 30), effector CD8 T cells remained significantly elevated within the TME regardless of anti-PD-L1 therapy, while the accumulation of both effector and central memory CD8 and CD4 subsets was increased in response to anti-PD-L1 therapy (Figure 2.11C and Figure 2.12C). Corresponding with increased numbers of functional T cells, numbers of IFNy-producing CD8 T cells were significantly elevated in TLR5 KO mice relative to wild-type mice during both early and advanced tumor progression (Figure 2.11D). IFNγ-producing CD4 T cells were also detected at significantly

greater numbers in the TME of TLR5 KO mice at day 15 post-tumor and day 30 after treatment with PD-L1 blockade (**Figure 2.12D**). Phenotypic and functional differences in T cells were only observed in the TME, and not in the tumor-draining mediastinal lymph nodes (**Figure 2.12E-H**), paralleling differences observed when evaluating tumor-associated DC infiltrates in the TME of TLR5 KO mice. Together, these data indicate that in the absence of TLR5 signaling, T cells are better able to accumulate and function within the ovarian TME. Furthermore, these data suggest that the negative impact of TLR5 signaling on T cells is predominantly occurring within the ovarian TME, as opposed to tumor-draining lymph nodes.

To define how PD-L1 blockade in the absence of TLR5 signaling affects CD8 T cell function during the initiation of early effector responses and following recall against the same tumor antigens, CD8 T cells were analyzed from peritoneal wash exudates and tumor nodules 7 days postinjection of ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A tumors into the groups depicted in Figure 2.11E. Early CD8 T cell effector responses were evaluated 7 days after naïve mice were given ovarian tumors. CD8 T cell function during tumor rechallenge was evaluated 7 days post-tumor rechallenge of TLR5 KO mice that survived initial challenge with ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A tumors and anti-PD-L1 therapy. Compared to non-tumor-bearing TLR5 KO mice, after 7 days of tumor there was a significant expansion of IFN_y-producing and CD107a-positive CD8 T cells, markers associated with activation, degranulation, and function within the ovarian TME (Figure 2.11F-G). Although wild-type animals exhibited a slight increase in the accumulation of functional CD8 T cells after 7 days of tumor, numbers of activated T cells within the tumor microenvironment did not reach significance relative to that observed in non-tumor-bearing controls. TLR5 KO mice surviving a secondary challenge to ovarian tumors maintained significant numbers of CD127+ KLRG1- CD8, but not CD4, T cells within the peritoneal cavity prior to tumor rechallenge (Figure 2.12I-J). CD127+ and KLRG1- T cells are considered precursor cells to long-lived memory subsets, capable of rapidly expanding and responding against antigen rechallenge^{227, 228}. In line with this observation, TLR5 KO mice

receiving a tumor rechallenge exhibited a robust and significant expansion of functional CD8 T cells, a response that increased in magnitude after each successive exposure to tumor antigen (**Figure 2.11F-G**). These data, in addition to the survival data depicted in **Figure 2.1**, indicate that in the absence of TLR5 signaling, PD-L1 blockade enables the acquisition of a functionally robust and durable CD8 T cell response against ovarian cancer.



Figure 2.11. CD8 T cells are necessary for survival of TLR5 KO ovarian tumor-bearing mice treated with anti-PD-L1.

(A) Treatment schema with IP administration of anti-CD8a (α CD8a) and anti-PD-L1. (B) Survival proportions of TLR5 KO and wild-type mice bearing ID8-*Defb29*/Vegf-A tumors. Log-rank test for survival compared to wild-type (** p < .01) N=5 per group. (C) CD8 T cell memory subsets and (D) IFN γ + CD8 T cells from the ovarian TME were quantified after flow cytometry analysis at 15or 30-days post-tumor initiation. Unpaired t-test with Mann Whitney correction (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001). N=5 per group. (E) Treatment schema to investigate T cell function during acute (7 days post-tumor, +7D) or during tumor rechallenge of TLR5 KO mice surviving after ID8-*Defb29*/Vegf-A tumors and anti-PD-L1 therapy. Secondary challenge indicates surviving TLR5 KO mice that received a re-injection of ID8-*Defb29*/Vegf-A tumors 100 days after primary tumor challenge and PD-L1 blockade. All groups of mice as indicated were assessed 7 days following ID8-*Defb29*/Vegf-A tumor administration. (F) Representative gating of CD8 T cells expressing CD107a and IFN γ . (G) Quantification of T cells within the ovarian TME 7 days post-tumor challenge. Unpaired t-test with Mann Whitney Correction (* p < .05, ** p < .01). Error bars represent mean ± SEM. Plots are a representative of two experiments.



Figure 2.12. Assessment of temporal changes in CD4 and CD8 T cells from the ovarian tumor microenvironment and tumor-draining lymph node in wild type and TLR5 KO ovarian tumor bearing mice.

(A) Validation of CD8 depletion strategy using anti-CD8a antibody. After 4 days of CD8 T cell depletion, blood was collected from treated mice and both CD4 and CD8 T cells were analyzed. (B) Gating hierarchy of T cells. (C) CD4 T cell naïve and memory subsets and (D) IFN γ + CD4 T cells within the ovarian tumor microenvironment (peritoneal wash and tumor nodules). (E) Numbers of CD8 and (F) CD4 naïve and memory subsets in the tumor-draining mediastinal LNs. (G) Total CD8 and (H) CD4 IFN γ + T cells in the mediastinal LN. All samples were quantified using counting beads and flow cytometry analysis on days 15 or 30-post ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A*. Anti-PD-L1 injections were initiated beginning Day 10, repeated every 3-4 days, for a total of 4 injections. (I-J) Numbers of KLRG1- CD127+ stem-like memory CD8 (I) and CD4 (J) T cells following the treatment schema depicted in Figure 6E. All groups of mice as indicated were assessed 7 days following ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* tumor administration. Significance was calculated a nonparametric unpaired t-test with Mann Whitney correction (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001). n=5 per group.

TLR5-expressing CD11c+ dendritic cells are responsible for reducing survival during PD-L1 blockade for ovarian cancer.

Overall, the necessity of CD8 T cells for mediating survival in our model and the parallel kinetics of cDC1 and CD8 T cell function suggests the existence of a DC-T cells axis that contributes to increased survival during PD-L1 blockade, and is impaired by TLR5 signaling. To test the hypothesis that TLR5 signaling on DCs prevents efficacy of PD-L1 blockade against ovarian cancer, we established a mouse model in which DCs lack TLR5 expression. To genetically target a TLR5 deficiency to dendritic cells, floxed-TLR5 mice²²⁹ (TLR5 fl/fl) were crossed with *Itgax-cre* (CD11c Cre^{pos}) mice, establishing CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice. Validating the phenotype of TLR5-deleted DCs, CD11c+ cells purified from the spleens of CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice and co-cultured with flagellin did not enhance IL-6 production (Figure 2.14A-B). This was a similar response as observed after CD11c+ cells isolated from TLR5 KO mice were exposed to flagellin, indicating that CD11c+ cells from CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice lack the ability to signal through TLR5 in response to flagellin. Ovarian tumors were initiated (ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A) in TLR5fl/fl x CD11c creneg, CD11c Crepos, and TLR5fl/fl x CD11c Cre^{pos} mice, followed by treatment with anti-PD-L1 therapy. In the absence of TLR5 signaling on DCs, TLR5 fl/fl x CD11c Crepos mice exhibited a significant survival benefit in response to anti-PD-L1 therapy compared to controls with intact TLR5 signaling on DCs (Figure 2.13A).

Next, we assessed the immune landscape of the ovarian TME in TLR5 fl/fl x CD11c Cre^{pos} mice with the goal of determining how the ovarian TME evolves in the absence of TLR5 signaling on CD11c+ cells. Mice bearing ovarian tumors for 25 days, in the absence of PD-L1 blockade, were assessed. Compared to CD11c.TLR5^{wt} animals, CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice had significantly greater numbers of cDC1s within the ovarian TME (**Figure 2.13B**). We observed a significant increase in the accumulation of mucosal DCs into the TME of CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice, but observed few differences in other DC subsets (**Figure 2.14C-F**). Comparison of PD-L1 expression revealed no

difference in the numbers of cDC1s expressing PD-L1 within the TME, although CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice had significantly lower levels of PD-L1 expressed on the cell surface (**Figure 2.13C-E**). Congruent with increased tumor-associated cDC1 numbers, there was a corresponding increase in functional CD8 T cells within the TME. Specifically, CD11c.TLR5^{wt} mice with intact TLR5 signaling on CD11c cells had significantly greater numbers of CD8, but not CD4, T cells expressing both PD-1 and Lag3, markers associated with reduced T cell function and anti-tumor responses^{230, 231} (**Figure 2.13F-H**). Numbers of CD8 T cell effector and memory populations were unchanged, whereas CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice exhibited a significant increase in effector CD4 T cells and total CD4 T cells within the TME (**Figure 2.14G-H**). CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice also had significantly increased numbers of functional CD8 T cells exhibiting increased degranulation (CD107a+) and IFNγ production in the ovarian TME (**Figure 2.13I-K**). Together, these results demonstrate the negative impact of TLR5 signaling on DCs within the TME, and that this signaling axis is detrimental to anti-tumor T cell function and response to PD-L1 blockade.

Overall, deletion of TLR5 signaling on CD11c+ cells is sufficient to achieve a significant survival increase when ovarian tumor-bearing mice are treated with PD-L1 blockade. This response corresponds with enhanced accumulation of cDC1s and similarly enhanced T cell function. We next tested whether expansion of cDC1s by *in vivo* administration of FLT3L and concurrent blockade of PD-L1 was able to achieve a significant survival benefit in the presence or absence of TLR5 signaling. Blockade of PD-L1 in combination with FLT3L benefited TLR5 KO mice, resulting in 100% of animals exhibiting no evidence of disease (**Figure 2.13L**). TLR5 KO mice treated with FLT3L alone exhibited a survival response that was comparable to anti-PD-L1 alone (**Figure 2.13L**). On the other hand, wild-type mice exhibited no benefit from the single treatments or combination therapy (**Figure 2.13L**), demonstrating that expanding cDC1s during PD-L1 blockade is a potent and effective immunotherapy against ovarian cancer in the absence of TLR5 signaling. Altogether, these results demonstrate that TLR5 signaling on DCs impairs the efficacy

of PD-L1 blockade, due to the expansion of myeloid-associated cell populations poorly equipped to activate CD8 T cells. These results support the premise that inhibition of TLR5 signaling during in situ expansion of cDC1s within the ovarian TME during anti-PD-L1 therapy has the potential to overcome this barrier, a strategy likely to elicit robust CD8 T cell immunity within the ovarian TME enabling extended survival during this devastating disease.



Figure 2.13. Dendritic cell-specific deletion of TLR5 results in significantly increased survival during anti-PD-L1 therapy, corresponding with enhanced cDC1 frequencies and increased CD8 T cell function.

(A) Survival proportions of TLR5fl/fl x CD11c cre negative (CD11c.TLR5^{wt}.cre^{neg}), CD11c Cre positive (CD11c.TLR5^{wt}.cre), and TLR5fl/fl x CD11c Cre positive (CD11c.TLR5^{ko}.cre) mice bearing ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A ovarian tumors and treated with anti-PD-L1 beginning 10 days posttumor initiation. Log-rank test for survival compared to wild type (** p < .01). (**B-J**) 25 days after initiating ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A tumors in CD11c.TLR5^{wt} (cre negative) and CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice (cre positive), in the absence of anti-PD-L1, peritoneal wash exudates and tumor nodules were evaluated for the immune subsets indicated. (B) Total numbers of cDC1s, (C) PD-L1hi cDC1s, (D) cDC MFI of PD-L1 and (E) representative histograms of PD-L1 expression on CD11c+ MHCII subsets. (F) Total numbers of PD-1+ Lag3+ CD8 T cells, (G) and CD4 T cells. (H) Representative gating of PD-1 high CD8 T cells co-expressing Lag3. Percentages represent population of PD-1 expressing. (I) Total CD3+CD107a+ and (J) CD3+IFNγ+, (K) with corresponding representative gating of CD3+ T cells. Unpaired t-test with Mann Whitney correction was used to calculate significance (* p < .05). Error bars represent mean ± SEM. (L) Survival proportions of TLR5 KO and wild-type mice bearing ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A tumors and treated with FLT3L (10µg) for 6 injections starting at day 5 post-initiation and/or anti-PD-L1 which was initiated on day 10 for a total of 4 injections. Log-rank test for survival compared to wild type (** p < .01) N=5 per group. Plots are representative of at least three experiments.



Figure 2.14. Immune phenotyping of TLR5fl/fl x CD11c Cre mice bearing ovarian tumors.

(A) Strategy to validate loss of TLR5 on CD11c+ cells. Briefly, CD11c+ cells were isolated from the spleens of the indicated strains and cultured with or without 10ng/ml of ultra-purified Flagellin for 24 hours. Following stimulation, supernatant from the cultures was collected and used to measure IL-6 levels using an ELISA. (B) IL-6 levels of CD11c+ cells after stimulation with flagellin for 24H. (C-H) 25 days after initiating ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* tumors in CD11c.TLR5^{wt} (cre negative) and CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice (cre positive), in the absence of anti-PD-L1, peritoneal wash exudates and tumor nodules were evaluated for the immune subsets indicated. (C) Total XCR1-CD103-, (D) migratory, (E) mucosal and (F) myeloid DCs 25 days post initiation of ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* ovarian tumors in CD11c.TLR5^{wt} and CD11c.TLR5^{ko}. (G) Total CD8 and (H) CD4 T cell memory subsets. All samples were measured from the ovarian tumor microenvironment, from peritoneal wash and tumor nodules. Significance was calculated as a nonparametric unpaired t-test with Mann Whitney correction (* p < .05). Error bars represent mean ± SEM.</p>

2.6 DISCUSSION

Using both in vivo and in vitro systems, we demonstrate that chronic TLR5 signaling induces the expansion of PD-L1-expressing myeloid cells at the expense of mature cross-presenting cDC1s. limiting activation of CD8 T cells in the ovarian TME. This signaling pathway culminates in failure of PD-L1 blockade, presumably due to the expansion of tolorogenic and suppressive myeloid populations within the TME²³². In the absence of TLR5 signaling, the ovarian TME is infiltrated with mature cDC1s and functional CD8 T cells capable of eliciting tumor control. cDC1s are the most well-equipped cell type to cross-present antigens to CD8 T cells²¹⁰ and are vital for the regulation of response to immune checkpoint blockade, particularly anti-PD-L1/anti-PD-1^{233, 234}. For TLR5 KO mice, PD-L1 blockade achieves significant and durable survival in ovarian tumorbearing mice. Blockade of tumor- or myeloid-associated PD-L1 from interacting with the T cell inhibitory receptor PD-1 has shown promise in ovarian cancer patients as a single therapy¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁸⁹ and in combination with other therapies¹⁹⁰. Unfortunately, few patients respond, and of those that do, many develop recurrent disease. Mechanisms leading to impaired response to PD-L1 blockade include a lack of tumor antigenicity in addition to mechanisms involving tumor- and immune-mediated suppression of T cells. Our study unveils a host-intrinsic mechanism governing failure of PD-L1 blockade, in which ovarian tumors enhance bioavailability of commensal bacteria, as has been reported in other extraintestinal tumor models²³⁵, enabling chronic TLR5 signaling and impaired accumulation of cDC1 into the ovarian TME.

These findings have clinical significance, as approximately 7-8% of the general population harbor a single nucleotide polymorphism (1174 C>T amino acid substitution) encoding a transcriptional termination site in place of arginine at codon 392 (referred to as $TLR5^{R392X}$) within the flagellin binding domain of TLR5. This polymorphism acts in a dominant-negative fashion, reducing TLR5 signaling by 50-80%^{126,125}. For patients with ovarian cancer, heterozygous and homozygous carriers experience increased long-term survival¹²⁶. Our data indicate that $TLR5^{R392X}$ patients may immediately benefit from immune checkpoint therapy targeting the immune suppressive PD-L1 pathway in combination with therapies that drive accumulation of cDC1s into the TME. Conversely, in patients homozygous for the ancestral allele, TLR5 antagonism has the potential to increase anti-tumor T cell function and survival. Paradoxically, TLR5 signaling is associated with enhanced survival outcomes in breast and liver cancers^{126, 141}. Possibilities for these differences include tumor microenvironmental mechanisms, differences in the availability of flagellated bacteria within the TME, or the composition of TLR5-expressing tumor- and tissue-associated myeloid and DC subsets. Future studies will aim to assess tumor microenvironmental differences and outcomes in *TLR5*^{R392X} carriers relative to individuals who are homozygous for the ancestral allele across individual cancers. The goal will be to define the broad clinical applicability of our findings for ovarian cancer in addition to other cancer types.

Using TLR5 tdTomato reporter mice, we found that the majority of TLR5-expressing immune subsets were of myeloid origin. Importantly, as ovarian tumors progressed, TLR5-expressing DCs exhibited a phenotypic shift towards suppressive and tolerogenic states, as indicated by increased IL-10 and PD-L1 expression. These data are in line with previously published findings for ovarian cancer, demonstrating that over time, ovarian tumor-associated DCs become more suppressive due to tumor-mediated immune³⁹ and metabolic^{170, 236} constraints within the TME. Our data suggest that chronic TLR5 signaling is not only contributes to alterations in DC function, but culminates in the conversion of precursors towards monocytes and macrophages. *In vitro* cultures of bone marrow cells with FLT3L and chronic exposure to bacterial flagellin support the premise that TLR5 signaling skews myeloid progenitors away from functional cDC1s and instead promotes myeloid subsets that are associated with immune suppression and failure of PD-L1 blockade. Given that PD-L1 blockade in combination with FLT3L-mediated expansion of cDCs in situ resulted in 100% survival of ovarian tumor-bearing TLR5 KO mice, we speculate that regardless of tumor microenvironmental differences, enhancing cDC1 accumulation into the TME would

enhance the efficacy of PD-L1 blockade in the absence of TLR5 signaling. On the other hand, *in vivo* FLT3L administration is likely to expand other myeloid subsets at the expense of cDC1s in the presence of TLR5 signaling. However, this scenario is likely to be dependent upon the unique attributes of the TME and the response of TLR5-expressing cell subsets to chronic TLR5 signaling. Although clinical studies utilizing *in vivo* administration of FLT3L have shown that most patients tolerate the therapy with minimal toxicity, studies demonstrating clinical benefit are still lacking²³⁷. Our work provides an additional context in which expansion of cDC1s in situ, coupled with PD-L1 blockade and in the absence of TLR5 signaling, has the potential to achieve significant benefit for the treatment of ovarian cancer.

The cellular pathways governing TLR5-mediated changes in myeloid and dendritic cell fates are unknown and form the basis of future investigation. Given that acute TLR signaling is typically associated with activation of cDCs and induction of adaptive immunity, our results suggest that at the molecular level, chronic TLR5 signaling impairs the differentiation of DCs through signaling in DC precursor populations and/or downmodulation of IRF8. When bone marrow cells were cultured with FLT3L and exposed to bacterial flagellin, we observed a significant and sustained downmodulation of IRF8, even during acute exposure to bacterial flagellin. These data suggest that TLR5 signaling, and possibly other TLR pathways, impairs the ability of cDCs to differentiate and prime CD8 T cell responses. Mechanistically, one possibility is that cytosolic sensing of flagellin through NLRC4 and activation of the inflammasome pathway leads to downmodulation of IRF8 and subsequent impairment of T cell priming. McDaniel et al. previously demonstrated that inflammasome activation in DC and myeloid cells reduced IRF8 and IRF4 expression, increasing DC sensitivity to the inflammasome sensing machinery, and ultimately reducing the ability of DCs to effectively prime T cells²³⁸. However, we did not observe changes in IRF4 expression or cell death, suggesting the cellular mechanism may be unique. Another possible mechanism could involve the effects of PD-L1 expression on TLR5-modulated DC subsets, given recent evidence that PD-L1 signaling not only acts to reduce T cell activation, but instead acts in a cell-autonomous mechanism to sequester co-stimulatory ligand CD80²³⁴. To further contextualize these findings, it will be important to interrogate how the chronicity of TLR5 signaling and stimulation via additional TLR agonists affect cDC differentiation in the context of FLT3L cultures, IRF8, PD-L1 and CD80 expression.

Overall, we find that removing or suppressing TLR5 signaling using an inhibitory antibody for TLR5 enhances accumulation of more functional cDC1 in the TME of wild-type mice. These findings suggest that antagonism of TLR5 signaling has the potential to benefit ovarian cancer patients. Congruent with the increase in cDC1 numbers, we observed there are more functional tumor-associated CD8 T cells in TLR5 deficient mice. Given that CD8 T cells are necessary for survival of TLR5 KO mice given anti-PD-L1, there is an implication that TLR5 signaling disrupts a critical DC-T cell axis during ovarian cancer. This is further validated by a similar survival increase in mice with TLR5 deleted only on CD11c+ cells during treatment with anti-PD-L1 therapy. Importantly, we observe corresponding improvements in cDC1 numbers and T cell function within the TME of mice lacking TLR5 only on CD11c cells. These data suggest that TLR5 signaling limits DC-T cell interactions and disables efficacy of anti-PD-L1 therapy. Ultimately, our study implicates that blocking TLR5 signaling specifically on DCs, or systemically, in combination with anti-PD-L1 may serve as a promising strategy to overcome failure of immunotherapy against ovarian cancer.

2.7 AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

M. McGinty: Conceptualization, formal analysis, validation, investigation, visualization, methodology, writing-original draft.
S.H. Kolli: Investigation.
A.M. Putelo: Investigation and editing.
T.Y. Feng: Investigation and editing.
M.R. Dietl: Investigation and editing.
C. N. Hatzinger: Investigation and editing.
S. Bajgai: Investigation and editing.
M.K. Poblete: Investigation and editing.
F.N. Azar: Investigation.
M.R. Rutkowski: Conceptualization, M.R. Rutkowski: Conceptualization, M.R. Rutkowski:

resources, analysis, visualization, supervision, funding acquisition, writing-original draft, writingreview and editing.

2.8 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by 1R01CA253285 from the NCI, with personnel support from 5R01CA262634 from the NCI aid from Grant #IRG 81-001-26 from the American Cancer Society. MTM, TZF, and SB were supported by trainee fellowships from the University of Virginia Comprehensive Cancer Center, AMP was supported by T32AI007496-21, MTM was supported by T32CA009109-46. The authors are grateful for the extraordinary support from the University of Virginia Comprehensive Cancer Center, the Center for Research Histology, Biorepository and Tissue Research Facility, Flow Cytometry Core Facility, Center for Comparative Medicine, Trans University Microbiome Initiative, and the Carter Immunology Center. Additionally, we would like to thank Dr. Hervé Agaisse for critical reading of the manuscript.

Chapter 3: Discussion



Figure 3.1. Proposed model for efficacy of anti-PD-L1 against ovarian cancer with TLR5 deficiency

- 1. DCs express TLR5 (figure 2.2) which binds to flagellated bacteria or free flagellum in the ovarian TME. Flagellin is present within the ovarian TME as observed via a TLR5 reporter cell line on tumor extracts (unpublished).
- 2. IRF8 protein and RNA are reduced in FLT3L-BMDC cultures with flagellin (Figure 2.9 and 3.2).
- IRF8 is the master regulator of cDC1 differentiation, function, and maintenance. Thus, TLR5-induced IRF8 reduction may lead to less XCR1 and CD103 expression (cDC1 markers). TLR5 knock out or TLR5 signaling neutralization results in more cDC1s in the ovarian TME (Figure 2.5).
- 4. Reduced XCR1 and CD103 chemokine and migratory receptor expression results in less DCs interacting with T cells.
- 5. Less IFNγ+ and CD107a+ T cells were observed when CD11c+ cells can recognize flagellin in the ovarian TME (Figure 2.13). Indicative of a reduced anti-tumor response.
- 6. TLR5 KO DCs do not express the TLR5 receptor, therefore IRF8 expression remains constant, and XCR1 and CD103 expression is maintained.
- 7. More DCs engage and stimulate T cells, allowing for a greater opportunity for blockade of PD-L1 to prevent inhibitory receptor engagement.
- 8. FLT3L, which expands cDC1 *in vivo*, boosts TLR5 KO mice survival when combined with anti-PD-L1 (Figure 2.13).
- 9. More activated CD8 T cells (CD44+CD107a+) in TLR5 KO mice are observed when treated with anti-PD-L1 (Figure 2.11).
- 10. Activated CD8 T cell effectors kill tumor cells, leading to a survival improvement in our TLR5 KO mice treated anti-PD-L1 bearing ovarian tumors. Verified as critical for survival by CD8 T cell depletion (Figure 2.11).

3.1 How these studies address outstanding questions in the field.

Here, we demonstrated that treating ovarian tumor-bearing mice with checkpoint inhibitors significantly increased survival in the absence of TLR5 signaling. To establish an immunological mechanism to explain this observation, we first sought to define the cell types in the ovarian tumor microenvironment that express TLR5. Previous studies have assessed TLR5 expression in the intestines using reporter mice; however, this has not been done in a cancer setting. TLR5 tdTomato reporter mice were utilized to comprehensively define the phenotypic and functional attributes of TLR5-expressing immune subsets within the ovarian TME. We found that within the ovarian TME, most TLR5-expressing immune subsets were of myeloid origin. Interestingly, there was a significant increase in the frequencies of both TLR5-expressing myeloid and DC subsets in response to advancing disease burden. These results implicated myeloid cells as the driving force in diminishing response to immune therapy in mice capable of signaling through TLR5. This idea was further supported by increased frequencies of TLR5-expressing DCs producing IL-10 and expressing high levels of PD-L1 within the TME of wild-type mice.

We next wanted to address how TLR5 signaling on myeloid cells was leading to reduced efficacy of checkpoint therapy. This is an outstanding question in the field as the cause of checkpoint therapy failure is unknown for ovarian cancer. We found that in wild-type mice, many of the tumor-associated DCs expressed TLR5 and exhibited a corresponding phenotypic shift in response to tumor progression through the expression of PD-L1, resulting in reduced survival benefit during immune therapy. Conversely, we observed TLR5 KO mice had significantly greater numbers of cDC1s within their tumor microenvironment, which corresponded with significant survival benefits during immune therapy; it supported our hypothesis that TLR5 signaling likely attenuated the accumulation of cDC1 into the ovarian TME. There is literature supporting the idea that cDC1s are critical for orchestrating anti-tumor immunity in the context of melanoma and essential for the efficacy of checkpoint therapy^{67, 239, 240}. Therefore, we hypothesized that TLR5 signaling is

detrimental to the therapeutic efficacy of anti-PD-L1 through modulation of DCs. To understand how TLR5 signaling was affecting DC phenotype and function, we established a WT:TLR5 KO 50:50 mixed bone marrow chimera to determine whether direct TLR5 signaling or TLR5-mediated changes in the tumor environment were affecting DC phenotype and function. We observed a greater frequency of TLR5 KO cDC1s in this setting relative to congenic wild-type cDC1s in the same tumor-bearing host. Together, this indicates that TLR5 signaling is detrimental to either cDC1 expansion, differentiation, or recruitment into the ovarian TME. These findings further underscore that DCs are vulnerable to TLR5 signaling and that this pathway impairs the efficacy of checkpoint therapy for ovarian cancer. To more directly test the hypothesis that direct TLR5 signaling on DCs prevents the efficacy of PD-L1 blockade against ovarian cancer, we established a mouse model in which CD11c+ cells, a marker expressed by DCs, lack TLR5 expression. In the absence of TLR5 signaling on DCs, TLR5 fl/fl x CD11c Cre^{pos} mice exhibited a significant survival benefit in response to anti-PD-L1 therapy compared to controls with intact TLR5 signaling on DCs. Using this model, we found that mice exhibited a significant survival benefit in response to anti-PD-L1 therapy compared to controls with intact TLR5 signaling on DCs. Furthermore, boosting cDC1 expansion using FLT3L in combination with anti-PD-L1 significantly increased survival of TLR5 KO mice, resulting in 100% of animals exhibiting no evidence of disease. On the other hand, wild-type animals received zero benefit from this therapeutic combination. Addressing the question of what cell type was the orchestrator of checkpoint failure and outlining a TLR5 signaling DC-based mechanism for checkpoint failure in OvCa.

3.2 Future Directions

The work presented thus far expands our understanding of the role of TLR5 signaling on dendritic cells in the ovarian TME. However, significant work remains to understand the relationship between flagellated bacteria, dendritic cells, the ovarian TME, and TLR5 expression. In addition, new therapeutic strategies are needed for ovarian cancer where the standard of care is still limited

to cytoreduction followed by carboplatin and paclitaxel. From what we have learned from our studies, new therapeutic avenues are now possible. These will be explored in this section.

3.2.1 Do bacteria drive an increase in TLR5+ myeloid cells in the ovarian TME?

Our findings demonstrate an increase and phenotypic shift in TLR5+ cells in the ovarian TME that corresponds with tumor outgrowth. However, it remains unclear what changes in the microbiome would promote an increase in immune cells that recognize flagellin in the TME. Using a TLR5 reporter cell line (HEK-Blue™ mTLR5 cells) to quantify bacterial flagellin, we have measured increased levels of flagellin within the peritoneal tumor microenvironment that progressively increases with disease burden. This may indicate that more flagellated bacteria or free bacterial flagellin are present within the ovarian TME during tumor progression. This is consistent with findings that the tumorigenic process induces gut leakage or is more specifically associated with ileal mucosa atrophy, constriction of the microvascular villous circulation, and drop in parasympathetic signaling in the mucosa²⁴¹. Based on these findings, it may be plausible that bacteria accumulation in the ovarian TME drives an increase in immune cells that express TLR5. Considering that we observed TLR5 signaling is detrimental to the efficacy of checkpoint therapy, it is essential to understand if gut-leakage-mediated accumulation of flagellin modulates TLR5 expression on myeloid cells within the ovarian TME. To address this experimentally, TLR5 reporter mice will be given ovarian tumors similar to that depicted in Figure 2.1, followed by treatment by oral gavage with antibiotics to determine the impact of bacteria on the presence of TLR5-expressing myeloid cells. An antibiotic cocktail will be administered by oral gavage or IV for 25 days beginning on the same day as tumors are initiated to reduce intratumoral bacterial load. Day 25 post-tumor initiation will be chosen as we have already extensively assessed the phenotypic and functional attributes of TLR5-expressing immune subsets within the ovarian TME at this time point (Figure 2.2). Antibiotics will be implemented via oral gavage or intravenously to help differentiate between targeting bacteria specifically in the gut versus systemically.

Specifically, rifaximin will be administered by oral gavage, which is a non-absorbable antibiotic that does not break down in the GI tract, thus only reducing the bacterial load within the gut. Rifaximin has a broad spectrum of activity against gram-negative and gram-positive anaerobic and aerobic bacteria²⁴². To match this broad-spectrum activity systemically, rifampin will be administered IV, which belongs to the same class of rifamycin antibiotics as rifaximin. Germ-free TLR5-tdTomato may be considered as an alternative to systemic depletion of bacteria by IV antibiotics. However, the absence of bacteria during development may affect the education of myeloid cells, leading to an entirely different response to ovarian cancer. Furthermore, additional groups of mice treated by IV or oral gavage of antibiotics will be treated with dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) to induce gut leakage and ensure bacterial dissemination with or without tumor burden.

To assess TLR5+ immune composition, tumors, bone marrow, mediastinal LNs, and spleens will be collected on Days 10, 20, and 30 and evaluated by flow cytometry to measure the quantity and frequency of TLR5+ myeloid cells. Additionally, the composition of bacteria will be calculated on the same samples using metagenomic sequencing and quantity of flagellin by co-culturing tissue samples with HEK-Blue[™] mTLR5 cells. Specifically, metagenomic sequencing will be performed on tumors and spleens to assess how antibiotics impact bacterial populations intratumorally and systemically, respectively. This will also be informative when paired with flagellin quantification to see if there are differences between shed flagella and whole microorganisms. Previous studies have identified unique bacterial profiles in OvCa tissues, including an increased abundance of Acinetobacter²⁴³ and altered Proteobacteria/Firmicutes ratios²⁴⁴. These microbial changes may influence tumor development by modulating the local immune environment. Assessment of commensal microorganisms within the ovarian TME over time will enable us to determine whether distinct commensals are associated with the accumulation and/or polarization of TLR5-expressing immune populations into the TME. Regarding immune composition, differences in numbers of

TLR5-expressing myeloid cells will be compared between IV, oral gavaged, or non-treated and their corresponding DSS-treated controls to determine if bacteria drive the accumulation of TLR5expressing myeloid cells within the TME. It is anticipated that non-treated tumors from TLR5tdTomato mice will contain increasing amounts of TLR5+ myeloid cells corresponding with tumor burden. That may reach levels similar to mice treated with DSS without antibiotics if gut leakage is comparable. Oral-gavaged mouse tumors are also expected to express fewer TLR5+ myeloid cells than non-treated mice if intratumoral flagellated bacteria are primarily derived from the gut. Additionally, IV antibiotic-treated mouse tumors will have the lowest bacterial burden overall, assuming antibiotics reach the tumors, and are expected to have the lowest number of myeloid populations that recognize TLR5. If there are no differences in TLR5+ myeloid cells, there could be phenotypic and functional changes between immune populations. For example, increasing cDC1/MDSC ratios with oral gavage relative to non-treated mice may indicate that gut leakage promotes a more antitumorigenic immune landscape. Overall, the presence of TLR5-expressing immune populations is detrimental to the efficacy of checkpoint therapy against ovarian cancer; thus, establishing a potential cause of their accumulation in the ovarian TME may open new therapeutic avenues to treat this cancer.

3.2.2 Does TLR5 signaling interfere with cDC1 recruitment to the ovarian TME?

We observed that TLR5 signaling reduces the frequency of cDC1s in the ovarian tumor microenvironment. However, it remains unclear how this change in cDC1 numbers is manifesting. One possible explanation for the low number of cDC1s in the TME is that TLR5 signaling interferes with recruitment. Specifically, chronic TLR5 signaling may hinder the expression of chemokine receptors necessary for cDC1s to find the ovarian TME or the physical processes required for cellular movement. We have preliminary evidence to support reduced migration in response to XCL1 as we have observed reductions in XCR1 expression with chronic TLR5 signaling on DCs in culture by both flow and scRNAseq (**Figures 2.9 and 3.2**). Furthermore, most of the differences

in cDC1 numbers we observed were found in the ovarian TME but not systemically in spleens or draining lymph nodes. It has been observed that DCs temporarily reduce their migratory capacity after LPS or pathogen challenge²⁴⁵. Furthermore, TLR signals and other activators of DC maturation, such as PGE2, trigger the disassembly of actin-rich podosomes, which promote cell migration²⁴⁶. These papers suggest that maturation and migration may be mutually exclusive processes. It has been observed that PGE2 produced by tumor cells acts on cDC1s to suppress responsiveness to the chemokines⁶⁶. Therefore, it is plausible that chronic TLR5 signaling may also work in a similar fashion in the ovarian TME by reducing cDC1 sensitivity to chemoattractants and the ability to migrate.

This can be examined experimentally by in vitro migration assays. Bone marrow cells from wildtype or TLR5 KO mice will be cultured for 8 days with FLT3L and purified flagellin (Salmonella typhimurium) in an acute setting, for 2 days (2D) of culture; or a chronic setting, for 8 days (8D) of culture or without flagellin. cDC1s will be sorted from these cultures and loaded in RPMI in the upper chamber of a transwell apparatus (5-µm pore size), while RPMI with or without chemokines (CCL4, CCL5, CCL19, CCL20, CCL21, XCL1; 200 ng/ml) will be added in the lower chamber. After 1.5 h at 37°C, migrated cells will be harvested from the lower chamber and counted by flow cytometry, using absolute counting beads and stained for the corresponding chemokine receptors²⁴⁷. In vitro migration analysis will indicate what chemokines cDC1s lose responsiveness to after chronic TLR5 stimulus as measured by reduced numbers in the lower chamber of the transwell apparatus relative to the non-TLR5 stimulated controls. This may suggest that TLR5 signaling interferes with recruitment into the TME, which may manifest experimentally with less sensitivity to CCL4, CCL5, and CCL20 (form gradient to TME) relative to CCL19 and CCL21 (gradient to LNs) by chronically stimulated WT cDC1s. It also anticipated that less sensitivity to a chemokine will also manifest with the downregulation of its corresponding receptor when measured by flow cytometry. Additionally, to define if downregulation of chemokine receptors is occurring *in vivo* in response to TLR5 signaling, a mixed bone marrow (MBC) approach could also be taken, similar to Figure 2.7. Multiplex ELISAs can measure chemokines, and receptors can be measured by flow cytometry from the TME and bone marrow of 50:50 WT: TLR5 KO MBC mice, with the expectation that WT (CD45.1+) cDC1s will express less chemokine receptors relative to TLR5 KO (CD45.2+) cDC1s within the same TME as measured by mean fluorescent intensity. Future studies could explore whether TLR5 signaling may impact the differentiation of cDC1s. This could be addressed by adoptively transferring WT, or TLR5 KO CFSE labeled cDC1s into WT tumor-bearing mice and measuring CFSE dilution as a metric of proliferation. Overall, these experiments proposed will bring us closer to understanding if TLR5 signaling interferes with cDC1 recruitment to the ovarian TME.



Figure 3.2. Chronic TLR5 signaling by flagellin downregulates expression of genes critical for dendritic cell function and differentiation

(A) Experiment Schematic. Bone marrow cells were collected from femurs and tibias of a wildtype mouse and cultured with 400ng/ml of FLT3L in RPMIc on day one 10ng/ml of ultra-purified Flagellin derived from *S. typhimurium* and incubated. Additional RPMIc + FLT3L with or without flagellin was added on day four. Samples were collected and stained with TotalSeq[™]-B Mouse Myeloid Cocktail. (B) Top categories of DC function from a gene ontology (GO) analysis using GSEA database comparing total sample with or without TLR5 signaling. (C) Volcano plot of differential gene expression of DC genes from FLT3L expanded BM with or without TLR5 signaling. (D) T-sne dot plot of IRF8 expression, comparing samples expanded with or without flagellin. Sequencing and Analysis was performed in collaboration with UVA genomics and bioinformatics core.

3.2.3 Does TLR5 signaling interfere with cDC1 development?

It is plausible that the low abundance of cDC1 in ovarian tumors may be due to impaired cDC1 development, potentially caused by systemic suppression of dendritic cell production in the bone marrow or in the TME. Dendritic cells originate from hematopoietic precursors in the bone marrow, with the monocyte/dendritic progenitor (MDP) being the earliest precursor²⁴⁸. Next, MDPs develop into common DC progenitors (CDP), which can give rise to pre-cDC1s and pre-cDC2s²⁴⁸. Several transcription factors including IRF8, BATF3, NFIL3, and ID2 play a role in regulating cDC1 development^{219, 249-251}. However, only IRF8 is necessary for cDC1 development as cDC1s can still be generated when knocking out BATF3, NFIL3, and ID2^{219, 249-251}. Removal of IRF8 leads to a defect in both pre-cDC1 and cDC1 development that cannot be rescued by upregulation of other transcription factors²¹⁸, suggesting IRF8 is the most critical transcription factor in determining cDC1 fate. It has been demonstrated that breast and pancreatic cancers can cause systemic decreases in cDC1 cells and their progenitors by downregulating IRF8, leading to impaired antitumor CD8+ T-cell responses²⁵². In our bone marrow FLT3L culture system, we have observed that purified flagellin reduces IRF8 protein levels using flow cytometry and at the transcript level using scRNAseg (Figures 2.9 and 3.2). Given our preliminary observations and the control IRF8 exerts over cDC1 development, we will test the hypothesis that TLR5 signaling impairs cDC1 development by downregulating IRF8 and other cDC1 regulators in DC progenitor cells.

This hypothesis can be examined by verifying changes in cDC1 regulators in DC progenitor cells in the BM and TME and assessing what molecules downstream of TLR5 signaling can directly or indirectly impact their transcription or translation. Considering there are many DC genes and progenitor subsets to investigate simultaneously, one strategy would be to utilize CITE-seq, which combines flow cytometry with single-cell sequencing, allowing for the simultaneous measure of protein and RNA expression. WT and TLR5 KO mice will be injected with the OvCa cell line ID8-VEGF-DEFB IP, and then tumors and bone marrow will be harvested on D0, D7, and D15. Samples will be stained using TotalSeq[™]-B Mouse Myeloid Cocktail (contains 84 surface antigens including lineage antigens barcoded and compatible with 10X chromium X and Illumina) to distinguish cDC1s, DCs, CDPs, and MDPs by surface expression and single-cell sequencing. These cell subsets can be gated and compared to genes associated with DC development, such as IRF8, BATF3, NFIL3, and ID2, and compared between WT and TLRKO mice bone marrows and TMEs. With the expectation that DC progenitors within TLR5 KO mice will exhibit more significant expression of DC developmental genes relative to WT DC progenitors. A gap in DC development gene expression is expected to grow between WT and TLR5 KO progenitors that will correspond with tumor development. These results will support the hypothesis that chronic TLR5 signaling reduces the expression of genes associated with cDC1 development, such as IRF8. Additionally, transcription of downstream components of TLR5 signaling, such as MyD88, can be measured to clarify the relationship between TLR5 and DC developmental genes and ovarian tumor burden.

Almost all TLRs transmit signals through MyD88, except for TLR3. Upon recognizing PAMPs, TLRs recruit MyD88 to initiate signal transduction, leading to the activation of NF-kB. The relationship between TLR signaling and IRF8 has only been explored in the context of Teleost fish (Miiuy croakers). The authors found that IRF8 negatively regulated the MyD88-mediated NF-kB signaling pathway through ubiquitin-proteasome degradation of MyD88²⁵³. Thus, one possible explanation for our observation of reduced IRF8 with TLR5 signaling is that IRF8 is sequestered or degraded after mediating chronic MyD88 signaling. Future studies could explore if there is direct binding between IRF8 and MyD88 by co-immunoprecipitation or more rigorously by Fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET). If IRF8 binds to or inhibits MyD88 or vice versa, this would reveal TLRs as playing a new role in directing the development of cDC1s.

3.2.4 Does TLR5 signaling convert cDC1s to becoming cDC2s or another phenotype in the ovarian TME?

We observed that chronic exposure to bacterial flagellin in the presence of FLT3L is sufficient to promote the expansion of other myeloid subsets instead of cDC1s from bone marrow (**Figure 2.9B**). IRF8 is a terminal selector for the cDC1 lineage and maintains cDC1 identity by preventing cDC1 conversion into cDC2s²¹⁸⁻²²⁰. We found that both acute and chronic TLR5 signaling significantly reduced IRF8 for wild-type DCs, whereas TLR5 KO DCs maintained similar levels of IRF8 across all conditions (**Figure 2.9D**). Therefore, it is plausible that the observed decrease in cDC1s is due to conversion to another myeloid lineage after chronic exposure to flagellin.

One hypothesis is that TLR5 signaling interferes with cDC1s ability to maintain their identity by reducing the stability of IRF8 expression. This idea can be tested using cDC1 fate mapping mice. Similar to the *Foxp3^{tm9(EGFP)/cre/ERT2)Ayr/J* 'fate mapping mice' developed by Alexander Rudensky and available at Jackson labs to study lineage stability and genetic mapping of regulatory T cells, *IRF8^{tm9(EGFP)/cre/ERT2)Ayr/J* mice could be developed to explore similar questions in cDC1s. In these mice, IRF8+ cells will constitutively express GFP, and tamoxifen treatment will induce the expression of tdTomato under the IRF8 promoter. This dual reporter system would enable the identification of cells that no longer express IRF8 but have at one point in time. For example, tdTomato expression without IRF8 expression would manifest as GFP⁻tdTomato⁺, thereby identifying cells that were previously IRF8⁺ but have lost IRF8 expression (ex-cDC1s). These mice could be crossed to a TLR5 KO background to examine the impact of TLR5 signaling on IRF8 stability in the ovarian TME. In lieu of breeding to a TLR5 KO background, anti-TLR5 antibody could also be injected into tumor-bearing IRF8 fate mapping mice to see if TLR5 blockade can preserve IRF8 expression by DCs.}}

To examine this experimentally, ovarian tumors will be initiated in both WT and TLR5 KO cDC1 fate mapping mice and treated with tamoxifen at Day 0 for six days to induce tdTomato
expression. This may require optimization to determine how long to treat with tamoxifen to induce tdTomato expression in as many cDC1s in the TME as possible. On day 15, ovarian tumors will be collected and examined by flow cytometry comparing WT and TLR5 KO TMEs for ratios of excDC1s (GFP-tdTomato+) to current cDC1s (GFP+tdTomato+). Additional cDC1 markers, such as XCR1 and CD103, will be included in the flow panel to help distinguish cDC1s from other IRF8-expressing populations. WT cDC1 fate-mapping mice are anticipated to have greater ratios of excDC1s to active cDC1s relative to TLR5 KO cDC1 fate-mapping mice. Indicating TLR5 signaling in the ovarian TME contributes to reduced IRF8 stability in cDC1s. Suppose there is no difference in IRF8 downregulation between WT and TLR5 KO ovarian tumors. In that case, it may suggest that another cDC1 transcription factor plays a more prominent role in maintaining cDC1 phenotype or an alternative mechanism is dominating, such as recruitment or development of cDC1s. Based on preliminary CITE-seq results, ETV6 could be an interesting candidate (**Figure 3.2**). Evidence suggests that ETV6 regulates the functional differentiation of cDC1s, optimizing their ability to cross-prime CD8+ T cells and generate tumor-specific responses²⁵⁴.

It is unknown whether cDC1 fate is fixed or plastic. Studies have demonstrated that DCs, in general, become tolerogenic over time in the TME, and mechanisms have been proposed involving PGE2 as a cause for systemic cDC1 reduction^{66, 255}. However, there is much to be understood regarding whether cDC1s can maintain function and phenotype within a tumor microenvironment. It has been demonstrated that deletion of IRF8 in committed cDC1 leads to an IRF4-independent functional and transcriptional reprogramming of cDC1 into cDC2-like cells²²⁰. Thus, given our observations that TLR5 signaling reduces IRF8 RNA and protein levels, it is plausible that there may be phenotypic conversion at play in cDC1s. If we observe that TLR5 signaling drives a conversion of cDC1s to become ex-cDC1s, more experiments will be required to assess the function of ex-cDC1s. Future studies may involve sorting the GFP-tdTomato+ DCs from tumors and evaluating their ability to present antigen in either an *in vitro* pulse-present setting

with OT-1 CD8 T cells or with an in OVA expressing ovarian cancer cell line such as ID8-Ova. Additional studies may also be necessary to understand the transcriptional nature of ex-cDC1s in the ovarian TME via single-cell RNA seq, comparing cDC1s in the absence of TLR5 signaling. Furthermore, it would also be interesting to explore how changes to the microbiome via antibiotics or seeding specific bacterial populations may impact cDC1 conversion in the ovarian TME.

3.2.5 Can FLT3L and anti-PD-L1 be successful clinically for ovarian cancer?

Roughly 7-8% of the general population harbor an SNP encoding a transcriptional termination site in place of arginine at codon 392 (referred to as TLR5^{R392X}). This dominant-negative polymorphism reduces TLR5 signaling by 50-80%^{126,125}. We have observed that patients with ovarian cancer who are heterozygous or homozygous carriers for this polymorphism experience increased long-term survival relative to other TLR5 polymorphisms¹²⁶ (Figure 3.3). Specifically, we observed ovarian cancer patients that express TLR5^{K841K} and TLR5^{V61V} did not have significantly greater survival than patients expressing the ancestral allele. Interestingly, TLR5^{K841K} expressing patients are close to achieving statistical significance. This could be due to TLR5^{K841K} being a non-silent synonymous SNP where one base in a gene's exon is substituted with another, but the amino acid sequence of the resulting protein is not changed. Synonymous SNPs can affect messenger RNA splicing, stability, and structure, as well as protein folding²⁵⁶. Therefore, *TLR5*^{K841K} which is located in the cytoplasmic tail domain, could impact TLR5 signal transduction; however, this remains to be verified¹²⁵. In comparison, the *TLR5*^{R392X} SNP prematurely truncates TLR5 in the extracellular domain, causing the loss of the transmembrane domain and the entire signaling cytoplasmic tail¹²⁵. Consequently, this truncation reduces TLR5 signaling, which appears to be beneficial for the survival of ovarian cancer patients but not melanoma, breast, or colorectal cancer patients (Figure 3.3).

Our data using two orthotopic models of ovarian cancer indicate that *TLR5*^{R392X} patients may immediately benefit from immune checkpoint therapy targeting the immune suppressive PD-L1

pathway in combination with FLT3L. One goal will be to define the broad clinical applicability of our findings for ovarian cancer by assessing tumor microenvironmental differences, outcomes, and immunological read-outs in *TLR5*^{R392X} carriers relative to homozygous individuals for the ancestral allele. This analysis would then be extended to other solid tumors as well.

To achieve this goal, cohorts of ovarian cancer patients' peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), tumors, and ascites will be assessed for indicators of DC and T cell activity. The first step will be to establish the genotype of patients. Heterozygous, homozygous, and ancestral alleles for TLR5^{R392X} will be assessed by TaqMan sample to SNP genotyping kit, which enables genotyping of patient blood or tumor samples using a QuantStudio Real-Time PCR system. We have used this kit and performed functional assays to confirm a reduction of TLR5 signaling by collecting 25,000 PBMCs, resting them for 18 hours in RPMI media, and then culturing them for 18 hours with purified flagellin and measuring IL-6/IL-8 release by ELISA (Figure 3.4). We find heterozygous R392X patient PBMCs release less IL-6 and IL-8 when stimulated with flagellin. This observation is consistent with the study that first identified the $TLR5^{R392X}$ polymorphism¹²⁵. Once patients have been identified as heterozygous or homozygous for the TLR5^{R39X} or the ancestral allele, we will analyze ascites and tumors by spectral flow cytometry and bulk RNAseq by CIBERSORT. Considering we observed TLR5 KO mice expressed more cDC1s that exhibited a more functional phenotype in the ovarian TME, our initial hypothesis will be that patients bearing an TLR5^{R392X} allele will have more cDC1s expressing less inhibitory receptors and greater numbers of T cells in their ascites and tumors relative to patients expressing both ancestral alleles. It would be intriguing to assess samples expressing TLR5^{R392X} to determine if the cytokine response to flagellin aligns with the presence of cDC1 or DC activity in the tumor or ascites samples. It is worth noting that TLR5^{R392X} does not result in a complete loss of TLR5 signaling in heterozygous carriers. Our expectation is that a reduced flagellin-mediated cytokine response will correspond with a more pronounced cDC1 and T cell response and function.

To compare gene expression changes amongst the multiple immune cell subsets within the TME of patients with or without the *TLR5*^{R392X} polymorphism, we will use CIBERSORT²⁵⁷. CIBERSORT is a machine learning algorithm able to deconvolute individual immune cell signatures from bulk tissue sequences, with the capability of resolving individual immune cell populations in samples with low signal/noise ratios (e.g., poorly immune infiltrated tumors)²⁵⁷. We will identify the clinical features or immunological attributes from genomic data analyzed from ovarian cancer patients, followed by modeling and prediction to determine the effects of the TLR5 polymorphism on the immune composition and outcomes.

Human DC subsets are scarce within PBMCs, ranging from less than 0.2% of PBMCs for cDC2s and pDCs to less than 0.08% of PBMCs in the case of cDC1s²⁵⁸. DC subsets can be isolated with higher purity and yield than cell sorting or magnetic-microbead kits via a multistep depletion protocol using a MultiMACS Cell24 Separator Plus. The protocol consists of multiple steps including depletion of monocytes (CD14⁺), B cells (CD19⁺), T cells (CD3⁺), and NK cells (CD56⁺) from PBMCs, followed by DC isolation using magnetic microbeads specific for each DC subset: cDC2s (CD1c⁺), cDC1s (CD141⁺), and pDCs (CD304⁺)²⁵⁹.

DC subsets from patient PBMCs will be examined for function by a mixed lymphocyte reaction. This technique is used to evaluate the potential impact of a small therapeutic molecule or biologic on the immune system. In this case, it will be used to examine the immunomodulatory effect of anti-PD-L1 or FLT3L independently and in combination on *TLR5*^{R392X} DCs *in vitro*. With the goal of addressing if anti-PD-L1 and FLT3L would be a beneficial therapy for ovarian cancer patients that are *TLR5*^{R392X} carriers. To assess this isolated cDC1s, cDC2s, and pDCs will be independently cultured with CFSE-labeled allogeneic T cells from a healthy patient donor in with anti-PD-L1 and FLT3L individually and in combination. This experiment will be set up as follows: 50,000 isolated DCs (cDC1s, cDC2s, and pDCs) from ancestral and *TLR5*^{R392X} carriers will be co-cultured with 50,000 CFSE-labeled allogeneic CD3+ T cells for five days at three different DC: T

cell ratios 1:5, 1:2, and 1:1 with anti-PD-L1 and/or FLT3L. Furthermore, anti-CTLA4 must also be considered in combination with anti-PD-L1 and FLT3L due to our published findings that anti-CTLA4 drives survival in TLR5 KO ovarian tumor-bearing mice (Figure 3.5). Proliferation of T cells will be calculated by the reduction in fluorescence of CFSE as the fluorescence is halved with each division and measured by flow cytometry. Additionally, CD4 v CD8 expansion ratios will be examined to see if TLR5^{R392X} DCs skew differentiation toward specific T cell phenotypes. cDC1s derived from *TLR5*^{R392X} patients are hypothesized to drive more significant CD8 T cell proliferation relative to ancestral-derived cDC1s when co-cultured with anti-PD-L1 and FLT3L. Chronically stimulating DCs with flagellin before culturing with T cells may be considered in another experiment to simulate the presence of bacteria in the ovarian TME. Alternative strategies may include using cord blood to examine cDC1 development with chronic TLR5 signaling in an FLT3L culture, which would enable confirmation that TLR5R392X DCs recapitulate the behavior shown with mouse TLR5 KO DCs. Overall, these experiments will help bridge the clinical gap in our findings demonstrating that TLR5 signaling is detrimental to DC-mediated anti-tumor T cell responses. These studies would help to pave the way towards using anti-PD-L1/FLT3L in combination for *TLR5*^{R392X} carriers with ovarian cancer.



Figure 3.3. *TLR5*^{R392X} ovarian cancer patients survive significantly longer than patients expressing other TLR5 alleles

(A) Survival comparison of Ovarian cancer, (B) Breast cancer, (C) Melanoma, and (D) Colorectal cancer patients either homozygous or heterozygous for described allele. Log-rank Mantel-Cox test was used to compare survival proportions. Tables indicate number of patients or median survival within each group (* p < .05).



Figure 3.4. TLR5^{R392X} genotyping and phenotyping by ELISA

(A) Frozen PBMCs were thawed, and genomic DNA was extracted and purified. (B) TaqMan SNP Genotyping assay was performed on patient samples. (C) Allelic discrimination plots to distinguish between samples expressing $TLR5^{R392X}$ allele (light blue) v ancestral allele (navy blue). (D) For phenotypic validation, 25,000 PBMCs were counted and rested for 18 hours in RPMIc media, and then cultured for 18 hours with purified flagellin (1ug) or LPS (1ug) and (E) measured IL-6/IL-8 release by ELISA, red bars represent $TLR5^{R392X}$ samples and blue bars represent Ancestral.



Figure 3.5. TLR5 signaling impairs efficacy of CTLA-4 blockade; TLR4 signaling does not impair efficacy of anti-PD-L1 therapy; and anti-PD-L1 and FLT3L drive a synergistic survival response to ovarian cancer

(A) Survival of mice bearing ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* ovarian tumors treated with anti-CTLA-4. On day 0, tumors were initiated in wild-type (WT) or TLR5 KO mice. Anti-CTLA-4 was initiated on day 10 for a total of 4 injections. (B) Survival of mice bearing ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* ovarian tumors treated with anti-PD-L1. On day 0, tumors were initiated in wild-type (WT) or TLR4 KO mice. Anti-PD-L1 was initiated on day 10 for a total of 4 injections. (C) Survival proportions of TLR5 KO and wild-type mice bearing *PPNM* tumors and treated with FLT3L (10µg) for 6 injections starting at day 5 post-initiation and/or anti-PD-L1 which was initiated on day 10 for a total of 4 injections. Numbers in parentheses indicate numbers of mice within each group. Log-rank test for survival compared to wild type (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001).

The idea that TLR5 signaling triggers a loss in anti-tumor immune function is paradoxical, considering that TLR signaling in myeloid cells is canonically associated with the induction of adaptive immunity. This has resulted in significant efforts to define combinations of TLR agonists and other immune adjuvants for anti-cancer vaccines and therapies^{260, 261}. However, there is a growing body of evidence that suggests chronic TLR engagement can tip the balance toward an environment favoring tumor progression via excessive inflammation^{262, 263}. The ovarian TME is highly immune infiltrated where microbial and tumor cell-derived DAMPs and PAMPs accumulate, leading to suppressed DCs, ultimately culminating in T cell exhaustion. Thus, removing a signal can potentially be a promising strategy to tip the scales from tolerance/exhaustion toward an environment that enables immune-mediated tumor control/killing. Currently, there are no clinical trials utilizing TLR5 antagonism in any capacity, and the trials attempting to agonize TLR5 have had little success (**Table 3.1**). We find that reducing or eliminating chronic TLR5 signaling within the ovarian tumor microenvironment increases the accumulation and functional maturation of cross-presenting cDC1 dendritic cells. cDC1s are the most well-equipped cell type to crosspresent antigens to CD8 T cells and are vital for regulating immune checkpoint blockade therapeutic response, mainly when using anti-PD-L1/anti-PD-1. Blockade of tumor or myeloidassociated PD-L1 from interacting with the T cell inhibitory receptor PD-1 has shown promise in cancer patients as a single therapy and in combination with other treatments. Unfortunately, few ovarian cancer patients respond, and of those that do, many will go on to develop recurrent disease¹⁰⁶.

To develop therapeutic interventions that effectively and broadly overcome the limited efficacy of PD-L1/PD-1 blockade, it is critical to define the mechanisms underlying the failure of this therapy. We find that chronic TLR5 signaling impairs the efficacy of PD-1/PD-L1 blockade by disrupting the accumulation and maturation of cDC1 into the tumor microenvironment. Therefore, it is plausible that the efficacy of PD-L1 blockade could be enhanced by blocking TLR5 signaling. We

hypothesize that using a bispecific antibody in which an inhibitory anti-TLR5 antibody is fused via the FC domain to an inhibitory PD-L1 antibody will overcome the inhibitory effects of TLR5 signaling while enhancing the efficacy of PD-L1 blockade. We speculate that the bioavailability of an anti-PD-L1/anti-TLR5 bi-specific would be more limited to the TME, where we know that there are multiple TLR5-expressing myeloid cells that also highly express PD-L1 thus reducing offtarget effects. We could fuse the anti-murine TLR5 IgG (clone Q23D11) for pre-clinical validation in murine studies to anti-mouse PD-L1 IgG2b (clone 10F.9G2). For clinical use, we could fuse the anti-human TLR5 Ig2A (clone Q2G4) with anti-human PD-L1 IgG1 (clone Atezolizumab). The anti-TLR5 antibody has been documented to neutralize the biological activity of human or murine TLR5 in response to bacterial flagellin²⁶⁴. We have evidence that neutralization of TLR5 signaling within the ovarian tumor microenvironment reduces the number of PD-L1 expressing myeloid cells within the tumor microenvironment and instead favors the accumulation of cross-presenting cDC1s (Figure 2.5). Despite the positive effects of inhibition of TLR5 signaling on reducing numbers of PD-L1 expressing myeloid cells and increasing cDC1s within the tumor microenvironment, there was not a significant increase in survival (Figure 3.6). This may be due to the low dosage of four 20ug IP injections for the survival study compared to the four 50ug IP injections for the phenotypic study. On the other hand, in the absence of TLR5 signaling, PD-L1 blockade achieves a significant survival benefit in multiple models of ovarian cancer (ID8, UPK10, PPNM) (Figures 2.1 and 3.5). For a potential trial, at least four dosages at 250ug anti-PD-L1anti-TLR5 would be required for efficacy. This matches the 250ug anti-PD-L1 needed to achieve durable survival in TLR5 KO mice bearing ovarian tumors. Considering what we have learned regarding the relationship between TLR5 and DCs throughout our studies, it may be possible to increase the efficacy of anti-TLR5 treatment by binding it to anti-CD11c in a bispecific antibody combination, potentially decreasing the amount of anti-TLR5 needed to achieve therapeutic efficacy. This strategy could be further enhanced with FLT3L to increase DC numbers in the ovarian TME, thus allowing for more opportunities for anti-TLR5 to bind to DCs.

FLT3L is a potent dendritic cell growth factor and drives a signaling pathway researchers exploit to generate in vitro cultures that produce bona fide conventional dendritic cells^{212, 213}. Given the critical importance of cDC1s for anti-tumor immunity and response to immune checkpoint blockade, and because FLT3L can expand cDC1 in vitro, researchers began administering FLT3L in vivo in cancer-bearing hosts. Initial reports indicated that in vivo administration of FLT3L was relatively well-tolerated and enhanced systemic numbers of cDC1s in lymph nodes and the spleen²⁶⁵. However, few trials have demonstrated apparent clinical efficacy of using FLT3L as a new immune therapy approach²³⁷. We observed chronic exposure of *in vitro* FLT3L cultures to bacterial flagellin promoted the differentiation of cDC1s away from a phenotype that is wellequipped to activate CD8 T cells and instead expanded myeloid cells that are less capable of stimulating CD8 T cells due to high expression levels of PD-L1 (Figure 2.9 and 2.10). Furthermore, in vivo blockade of PD-L1 in combination with FLT3L boosted the survival of TLR5 KO mice, resulting in 100% of animals exhibiting no evidence of disease against ID8-VEGF-DEFB and 80% against PPNM (Figures 2.13 and 3.5). TLR5 KO mice treated with FLT3L or PD-L1 alone also showed a significant survival response. However, 40% of animals still succumbed to the disease. On the other hand, in the presence of TLR5 signaling, wild-type mice exhibited no benefit from the single treatments or combination therapy. These data demonstrate that in the absence of TLR5 signaling, expanding cDC1s using FLT3L during PD-L1 blockade has translational potential as an immunotherapy.

To circumvent the adverse effects of TLR5 signaling on *in vivo* expansion of cDC1s using FLT3L, we will generate a bi-specific antibody/protein fusion consisting of a neutralizing TLR5 antibody fused to the FC domain of the Ig-FLT3L fusion protein or an FLT3 agonist. The Ig-FLT3L fusion increases the pharmacokinetics of the FLT3L protein. We will leverage this design to fuse an anti-TLR5 antibody to the FC domain. To this end, we propose the construction of two constructs. We will fuse the anti-murine TLR5 IgG (clone Q23D11) to recombinant FLT3L-IgG1 for pre-clinical

validation in murine studies. For clinical use, we will fuse the anti-human TLR5 Ig2A (clone Q2G4) with the FLT3 agonist-Fc fusion GS-3583.

We have identified a new host-intrinsic mechanism governing the accumulation and functional maturation of cDC1 within the ovarian tumor microenvironment involving TLR5 signaling. By combining FLT3 agonism with blockade of TLR5, it is expected that expansion of cDC1s will occur despite chronic TLR5 signaling within the tumor environment. Of FLT3-expressing progenitor and mature cell types, TLR5 is expressed predominantly on myeloid progenitor populations, not lymphocyte progenitors²⁶⁶. Thus, targeting FLT3L to TLR5-expressing subsets is expected to enhance the specificity of this therapeutic approach, reducing the amount and duration of FLT3L exposure patients need to endure.

Dendritic cell-based cancer vaccines have shown promise in animal models but have largely failed to demonstrate significant clinical efficacy in human trials^{267, 268}. Currently, there is only one clinically approved DC vaccine for the treatment of cancer, Sipuleucel-T (PROVENGE; Dendreon), a DC vaccine that is formulated to stimulate an immune response by targeting prostate acid phosphatase (PAP), a tissue antigen expressed by prostate cancer cells²⁶⁹. Several factors contribute to the lack of successful DC therapies, including tumor-mediated immunosuppression, downregulation of MHC molecules, lack of costimulatory molecules, and secretion of immunoinhibitory cytokines^{267, 270}. To improve DC vaccine efficacy, progress is needed to optimize antigen loading techniques, enhance DC activation, preserve DC function, and find the right combination of checkpoint inhibitors^{271, 272}. Based on our findings, TLR5 KO DCs appear resistant to immunosuppression and favor a cross-presenting phenotype in the ovarian TME. One strategy to improve DC-based vaccines may be eliminating TLR5 expression in autologous DCs. Broadly, DC adoptive transfers involve isolating and expanding autologous DCs *in vitro*, loading them with antigens, and returning them to patients. Thus, during the expansion phase, TLR5 expression can be eliminated by CRISPR gene editing or blocked by pre-incubation

with anti-TLR5. This strategy can be supplemented with anti-PD-L1 and FLT3L to promote *in vivo* DC expansion and prevent T-cell inhibition. This approach could overcome the difficulties of systemically blocking TLR5 on endogenous DCs by an antibody blockade and mitigate off target effects.

Ligand	Phase	Application	Target	aborators	NCT number	Goal
Mobilan (M-VM3)	Phase 1 and 2	Prostate cancer	TLR5 agonist/ adjuvant	Panacela Labs LLC	NCT02844699	Induce infiltration of neutrophils and NK cells and induction of a CD8 T cell response against prostate cancer
VAX102 (flagellin.HuM2e)	Phase 1	Influenza	TLR5 agonist/ adjuvant	VaxInnate Corporation; Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation	NCT00603811	Elicit cross-protective immunity against most human influenza A virus strains
VAX125	Phase 2	Influenza	TLR5 agonist/ adjuvant	VaxInnate Corporation	NCT00966238	Overcome poor immune responses in the elderly against influenza
Entolimod (CBLB502)	Phase 1	Unspecified adult solid tumor	TLR5 agonist/ adjuvant	Roswell Park Cancer Institute, NCI, Cleveland BioLabs Inc	NCT01527136	Immune stimulation to stop tumor cell growth
Entolimod (CBLB502)	Phase 2	Colorectal Cance	TLR5 agonist/ adjuvant	BioLab 612 LLC (Russian Federation)	NCT02715882	Induce immune activity in patients with Colorectal Cancer (Neo-adjuvant Treatment)
Entolimod (radiation therapy)	Phase 1	Mucositis, various types of squamous cell carcinoma of various tissues	TLR5 agonist/ adjuvant	Roswell Park Cancer Institute, NCI, Cleveland BioLabs Inc	NCT01728480	Prevent side effects caused by chemotherapy with cisplatin and radiation therapy

 Table 3.1. Current clinical trials investigating TLR5 agonism or antagonism in any context

*ClinicalTrials.gov on 10/5/2024



Figure 3.6. Extrinsic blockade of TLR5 is unable to improve survival of WT mice in combination with anti-PD-L1

(A) Survival of mice bearing ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* ovarian tumors treated with anti-PD-L1 and TH1020 (small molecule inhibitor of TLR5). On day 0, tumors were initiated in wild-type (WT) or TLR5 KO mice. Anti-PD-L1 and TH1020 (50ug, 100ug, or 200ug) was initiated on day 10 for a total of 4 injections. (B) Survival of mice bearing ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* ovarian tumors treated with anti-PD-L1 and anti-TLR5. On day 0, tumors were initiated in wild-type (WT) or TLR5 KO mice. Anti-PD-L1 and anti-TLR5 (20ug) was initiated on day 10 for a total of 4 injections. Numbers in parentheses indicate numbers of mice within each group. Log-rank test for survival compared to wild type (* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001).

Concluding Remarks

Most studies investigating TLRs in the context of cancer focus on using them to stimulate or propagate an anti-cancer immune response. Stimulation of TLR on immune cells can have an anti-cancer effect by enhancing DC antigen processing and presentation¹⁷². However, activation in tumor cells can often lead to immunosuppression through IL-6 or promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through an NF-KB signaling cascade¹⁵⁴. This makes targeting TLRs a double-edged sword. The role of TLR5 in cancer research has been largely overlooked in favor of other TLRs, such as TLR4, potentially due to being perceived as a redundant anti-bacterial mechanism. One study by the Conejo-Garcia lab set the groundwork for understanding the relationship between TLR5 signaling in ovarian cancer. Discovering that TLR5 signaling, when abrogated by a hypomorphic polymorphism, differentially influences inflammation, anti-tumor immunity, and the clinical outcome of ovarian and breast cancer patients¹²⁶. This publication found significant differences in IL-6 transcript levels between TLR5-responsive and nonresponsive ovarian tumor specimens but not between TLR5-responsive and nonresponsive ER⁺ breast tumor specimens linking tumor-derived IL-6 to a potential source of survival disparity¹²⁶. It can be speculated that this difference in IL-6 levels between ovarian and breast cancer patients may be due to differences in the quantity or phenotypes of TLR5-expressing immune populations within their respective TMEs. Until this point, studies seldom examined TLR5 signaling in the context of cancer. On top of this, ovarian cancer remains one of the few cancers in which no FDA-approved immune therapies exist to improve the standard of care.

This study is the first to investigate TLR5 signaling in the context of immunotherapy. The findings presented in the thesis further our understanding of the role of TLR5 signaling on the efficacy of checkpoint therapy in the ovarian tumor microenvironment. Although the effect of TLR5 signaling on an anti-tumor immune response is multi-factorial, our data suggests bacterial flagellin leads to failure of immune therapy through modulation of dendritic cell differentiation or phenotype and

function. These studies establish an underappreciated link between the microbiome and cancer. Mechanistically, we demonstrate that chronic TLR5 signaling impairs the XCR1+ CD103+ cDC1 subsets within the TME and biases precursor cells towards myeloid-associated subsets expressing high levels of PD-L1. Introducing a new understanding of how flagellin can alter the course of an immune response. We discovered eliminating TLR5 signaling on DCs enhances the efficacy of anti-PD-L1 against ovarian cancer, which can be further improved by expanding cDC1s *in vivo* with FLT3L. Thus, introducing a promising new strategy to treat ovarian cancer. Overall, this work subverts the expectation that TLR signaling promotes an appropriate anti-cancer immune response. We observed that TLR4 signaling did not impact the efficacy of anti-PD-L1 therapy in TLR4 KO mice bearing ovarian cancer, unlike TLR5 (**Figure 3.5**). Demonstrating TLR5 signaling may be uniquely detrimental to the efficacy of checkpoint therapy. Future studies will need to address if other TLR signaling pathways impact immunotherapy for ovarian cancer. Ultimately our findings demonstrate that TLR5 antagonism needs to be seriously considered as a therapy for ovarian cancer.

Chapter 4: Materials and methods

Mice

TLR5 wild-type mice were generated using transgenic *Kras^{tm4Tyj}* and *Trp53^{tm1Bm}* mice^{273, 274} obtained from the National Cancer Institute (NCI) Mouse Models of Human Cancers Consortium and brought to a full C57BL/6 background³⁹. These mice were then bred to TLR5-deficient (TLR5 KO) mice (B6.129S1- *Tlr5^{tm1Flv}/J*), as previously described¹⁹¹, to generate TLR5 KO mice. TLR5fl/fl (B6(Cg)-*Tlr5^{tm1.1}*Gewr/J)²²⁹ mice were crossed with CD11cCre (B6.Cg-Tg^{(Itgax-cre)1-1}Reiz/J)²⁷⁵ mice, both of which were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory to delete TLR5 from CD11c cells, to generate CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice. Cre⁺ and Cre⁻ CD11c.TLR5^{WT} littermates were maintained as controls. TLR5 tdTomato reporter mice (TLR5KI-tdTom - B6(FVB)-*Tlr5^{tm1.1}*Gbrt/J)²⁷⁶ and TLR4KO mice (B6(Cg)-*Tlr4^{tm1.2Karp/J}J*) are also from The Jackson Laboratory. All strains were maintained in specific-pathogen-free barrier facilities at the University of Virginia. OT-1 mice (C57BL/6-Tg(*TcraTcrb*)¹¹⁰⁰Mjb/J)²⁷⁷ were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory, while CD45.1 mice (B6.SJL-*Ptprc^aPepc^b*/BoyCrI)²⁷⁸ were obtained from Charles River.

To validate CD11c Cre x TLR5fl/fl cross in CD11c.TLR5^{ko} DCs, CD11c+ cells were isolated from spleens of CD11c.TLR5^{wt}, total TLR5 KO, and CD11c.TLR5^{ko} mice using magnetic bead separation MojoSort[™] Mouse CD11c Cell Isolation Kit (cat# 480078). After bead isolation, 100,000 CD11c+ cells were cultured with or without 10ng/ml of ultra-purified Flagellin (InvivoGen, cat# tlrl-epstfla-5) in RPMIc media (described below) for 24 hours and an IL-6 ELISA (Biolegend, cat# 431316) was subsequently performed on supernatants from the cultured cells.

All experiments were conducted utilizing adult (~20-week-old) female mice. All experiments in this study were approved by the University of Virginia Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

Cell lines and implantation

ID8 cells were provided by K. Roby (Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology, University of Kansas) and retrovirally transduced to express *Defb29* and *Vegf-A*¹⁹². UPK10³⁹ was derived after 10 serial passages from solid tumors developed using a p53-deficient autochthonous tumor model. The PPNM ($p53^{-/-R172H}Pten^{-/-}Nf1^{-/-}Myc^{OE}$ genotype)³³ cell line was provided by the Weinberg group who developed them at the Whitehead Institute as described by lyer et al.

Cell lines were authenticated by monitoring of morphology and monthly testing for mycoplasma. To limit the opportunity for genetic drift, cells were maintained at less than five passage numbers and maintained as frozen stocks at -180°C and expanded only for inoculation into mice. Tumor cell lines were cultured in RPMI complete media (RPMIc): RPMI (11875093, Gibco), 10% FBS (Sigma), 2 mmol/L of I-glutamine (25030081, Gibco), 1 mmol/L of sodium pyruvate (11360070, Gibco). 50 umol/L of β -mercaptoethanol (M6250, Sigma), and 100 U/mL of Penicillin/Streptomycin (15140122, Gibco). ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A and UPK10 tumors were initiated by intraperitoneal injection (IP) of 2e6 cells in sterile PBS at 100µl total volume. PPNM tumors were expanded in Fallopian tube media (FT-media): DMEM supplemented with 1% insulintransferrin-selenium (Thermo Fisher Scientific; ITS-G, 41400045), EGF (2 ng/mL), 4% heatinactivated fetal bovine serum (Thermo Fisher Scientific; IFS, F4135), and 1% penicillin and streptomycin (5 ml) tumors were initiated IP at 3e6 cells mixed in a 1:1 ratio with Matrigel (Corning Matrigel matrix, 47743-710):FT-media (1:1).

In vivo TLR5 inhibition, CD8 Depletion, Flt3L-Ig (FLT3L), anti-CTLA-4, and anti-PD-L1 dosage

Mice were administered neutralizing PD-L1 via intraperitoneal (IP) injection of anti-PD-L1 (Clone 10F.9G2, BioXCell, cat# BE0361 (endotoxin-free, sterile, free of any known murine pathogens)) or anti-CTLA-4 (Clone 9H10, BioXCell, cat# BE0131) in PBS at a concentration of 250µg per injection at 100µl total volume using kinetics described within each figure. *In vivo* blockade of TLR5, 20 or 50µg/mouse of TLR5 neutralizing antibody, clone Q23D11²⁷⁹ or isotype rat IgG2a

was injected IP for four consecutive days starting 15 days post-tumor initiation. TH1020 was dissolved in Solutol (MilliporeSigma, cat# 70142-34-6) at 500µg/ml prior to IP injection at amounts and kinetics described in the figure. CD8 depletions were performed with anti-CD8 BioXcell Clone 2.43 cat# BE0061 or isotype rat IgG2b IP beginning 48 hours before tumor initiation at 400µg/mouse and then twice weekly at 200µg/mouse for three weeks. FLT3L (hum/hum) cat# BE0342 was injected IP at 10ug in 100ul of total volume with sterile PBS for six consecutive days starting at day five post-tumor initiation for a total of 6 injections.

Survival

Euthanasia was performed according to the guidelines set forth by the AVMA and UVA's IACUC. For the ovarian tumors, mice were euthanized when they exhibited moderate abdominal distension due to the accumulation of ascitic fluid, hypothermia, ruffled fur, difficulty breathing, anemia, dehydration, and lethargy. When these symptoms were observed, mice were euthanized with CO₂ followed by cervical dislocation. Mice showing hunched posture, severe infection, labored breathing, and failure to eat were euthanized without delay.

Flow Cytometry

Isolated tissues were placed on ice in a sterile 6-well plate with 3 mL of RMPI (11875093, Gibco) with 5% FBS (Sigma). Ascites was harvested via PBS wash of the peritoneal cavity by syringe aspiration followed by residual fluid collection by pipetting. To make single-cell suspensions before staining with antibodies, the digested tissues were passed through 70µm cell strainers (352350, Corning) using mechanical force with the rubber end of a 5mL syringe. For *in vitro* coculture experiments, all tissues were processed in sterile conditions.

For intracellular cytokine staining, disassociated tumor specimens were stained with the LIVE/DEAD fixable Aqua Dead Cell Stain Kit (Life Technologies). Cells were then fixed with 1% methanol formaldehyde solution (Thermo Scientific) followed by permeabilization in 0.5% Saponin solution (Sigma) and intracellular staining. Proliferation, surface, and intracellular

staining were analyzed using FlowJo software. SPHERO[™] AccuCount Particles (cat #ACFP-50-5) were utilized to enumerate cell counts. Flow cytometry experiments were performed on a Cytek Aurora Borealis (5 lasers) or Life Technologies Attune NxT.

To enable analysis of in situ cytokine production, mice were injected IP with 200ul of Brefeldin A (Sigma, cat# B7651-25MG) at 0.5 mg/mL in PBS 6 hours prior to harvesting tissues as described in a STAR protocol to evaluate intracellular cytokine production *ex vivo* using flow cytometry ²⁸⁰.

Flow Cytometry data was analyzed using FlowJo version 10.10.0. Principal component analysis was performed using FlowJo-integrated Tsne analysis software. FlowSOM version 3.0.18 was downloaded from FlowJo exchange (https://www.flowjo.com/exchange/#/) and utilized to visualize and cluster high-parameter flow cytometry data using FlowJo.

Marker	Fluorochrome	Clone	Reactivity	Catalogue #	Vendor
C/EBP alpha	Alexa Fluor 594	G-10	Mouse	sc-166258	Santa Cruz
C/EBP beta	PE	H-7	Mouse	sc-7962	Santa Cruz
CD103	BUV496	M290	Mouse	741083	BD Biosciences
CD103	BV605	2 E7	Mouse	121433	Biolegend
CD103	BUV661	M290	Mouse	741504	BD Biosciences
CD107a (LAMP-1)	BV711	1D4B	Mouse	121631	Biolegend
CD11b	BUV737	M1/70	Mouse	741722	BD Biosciences
CD11b	PE-Cy7	M1/70	Mouse, Human	101216	Biolegend
CD11b	FITC	M1/70	Mouse	101206	Biolegend
CD11b	BUV395	M1/70	Mouse	563553	BD Biosciences
CD11c	APC/Fire 750	N418	Mouse	117352	Biolegend
CD11c	BUV805	HL3	Mouse	749090	BD Biosciences
CD11c	PacBlu	N418	Mouse	117322	Biolegend
CD127	APC-Cy7	A7R34	Mouse	135040	Biolegend
CD135 (FLT3)	BV421	A2F10	Mouse	135315	Biolegend
CD152 (CTLA-4)	PE Dazzle	UC10-4B9	Mouse	106318	Biolegend
CD16/32	BV605	2.4G2	Mouse	563006	BD Biosciences
CD172a (SIRPa)	BUV805	P84	Mouse	741997	BD Biosciences
CD19	BV750	6D5	Mouse	115561	Biolegend
CD206 (MMR)	Alexa Fluor 700	C068C2	Mouse	141734	Biolegend
CD206 (MMR)	PE Dazzle	C068C2	Mouse	141731	Biolegend
CD206 (MMR)	PE-Cy7	C068C2	Mouse	141720	Biolegend
CD206 (MMR)	PerCP-Cy5.5	C068C2	Mouse	141716	Biolegend
CD27	BUV496	LG.3A10	Mouse	741094	BD Biosciences
CD27	PE-Cy7	LG.3A10	Mouse	124314	Biolegend
CD274 (B7-H1, PD-L1)	PE Dazzle	10F.9G2	Mouse	124323	Biolegend
CD274 (B7-H1, PD-L1)	PE-Cy7	10F.9G2	Mouse	124314	Biolegend
CD279 (PD-1)	APC	RMP1-30	Mouse	109112	Biolegend
CD3e	FITC	145-2C11	Mouse	100306	Biolegend

CD3	BV750	17A2	Mouse	100249	Biolegend
CD3	BV785	17A2	Mouse	100232	Biolegend
CD34	APC	HM34	Mouse	128612	Biolegend
CD366 (Tim-3)	APC Fire 750	PMT3-23	Mouse	110738	Biolegend
CD366 (Tim-3)	PerCP_Cv5.5	PMT3-23	Mouse	110718	Biolegend
CD300 (1111-3)	Alova Eluor 700	GK1 5	Mouse	100420	Biologond
		GK1.5	Mouse	741740	Diblegenu DD Dissoisness
CD40	BUV/3/	3.23	Mouse	741749	DD Diosciences
CD44	BUV563		Mouse	741471	BD Biosciences
CD44	BB515		Mouse	564587	BD Biosciences
CD45	Alexa Fluor 700	30-F11	Mouse	103128	Biolegend
CD45	BV605	30-F11	Mouse	103151	Biolegend
CD45	PE	30-F11	Mouse	103106	Biolegend
CD45	FIIC	30-F11	Mouse	103108	Biolegend
CD45	BV711	30-F11	Mouse	103147	Biolegend
CD45	BUV661	13/2.3	Mouse	752413	BD Biosciences
CD45	BB515	30-F11	Mouse	564590	BD Biosciences
CD45.1	BV750	A20	Mouse	747314	BD Biosciences
CD45.1	PE-Cy5	A20	Mouse	15-0453-82	Invitrogen
CD45.2	BV570	104	Mouse	109833	Biolegend
CD45.2	BV421	104	Mouse	109832	Biolegend
CD45R (B220)	Alexa Fluor 532	RA3-6B2	Mouse	58-0452-82	Invitrogen
CD45RA (B220)	BUV805	14.8	Mouse	741940	BD Biosciences
CD49b (pan NK cells)	FITC	DX5	Mouse	108905	Biolegend
CD62L	BUV395	MEL-14	Mouse	740218	BD Biosciences
CD64	Alexa Fluor 647	X54-5/7.1	Mouse	558532	BD Biosciences
CD69	BUV563	H1.2F3	Mouse	741234	BD Biosciences
CD70	BUV661	FR70	Mouse	741564	BD Biosciences
CD80	PE Dazzle	16-10A1	Mouse	104738	Biolegend
CD86	BV650	GL-1	Mouse	105036	Biolegend
CD86	BV711	GL1	Mouse	740688	BD Biosciences
CD8a	APC/Fire 750	53-6.7	Mouse	100766	Biolegend
CD8a	BUV563	53-6.7	Mouse	748535	BD Biosciences
CD8b	BV480	H35-17.2	Mouse	746835	BD Biosciences
CX3CR1	APC	SA011E11	Mouse	149008	Biolegend
DG-TCR	PE-CE594	GL3	Mouse	563532	BD Biosciences
F4/80	BUV737	T45-2342	Mouse	749283	BD Biosciences
F4/80	PE Dazzle	BM8	Mouse	123145	Biolegend
F4/80	PerCP-Cy5 5	BM8	Mouse	123128	Biolegend
FOXP3	PacBlu	ME-14	Mouse	126/10	Biolegend
Granzyme B	PacBlu	GB11	Mouse	515408	Biolegend
	RV650	VMG1.2	Mouse	505922	Biologond
IENIX	DE	XMG1.2	Mouse	554412	BD Bioscioncos
IF IN-y			Mouse	505020	BD Biosciences
IL-10	PULCE-Cy5.5	JESS-10ES	Mouse	505026	Diologond
IL-10		JESS-10E3	Mouse	505022	Diolegend
IL-10	PE-Cy/	JES5-16E3	Mouse	505026	Biolegend
IL-12 (p40/p70)	V450	015.6	Mouse	561456	BD Biosciences
IL-12/IL-23 P40	PE-Cy/	C15.6	Mouse	505209	Biolegend
IL-4	PE	11B11	Mouse	504104	Biolegend
IL-6	APC	MP5-20F3	Mouse	504508	Biolegend
	AF647	IRF4.3E4	Mouse, Human	646407	Biolegend
IKF8	eFluour 450	V3GYWCH	Mouse	48-9852-82	Invitrogen
KLRG1	BUV737	2F1	Mouse	741812	BD Biosciences
Ly-6A/E (Sca-1)	BUV563	D7	Mouse	741222	BD Biosciences

Ly-6C	PE	HK1.4	Mouse	128007	Biolegend
Ly-6C	APC/Fire 750	HK1.4	Mouse	128046	Biolegend
Ly-6G	APC	1A8	Mouse	127614	Biolegend
Ly-6G	FITC	1A8	Mouse	127606	Biolegend
Ly-6G	BUV661	1A8	Mouse	741587	BD Biosciences
Ly-6G/Ly-6C (Gr-1)	PerCP-Cy5.5	RB6-8C5	Mouse	108428	Biolegend
Ly6C	PerCP-Cy5.5	HK1.4	Mouse	128011	Biolegend
MERTK (Mer)	PE	2B10C42	Mouse	747898	BD Biosciences
MHC-II (I-A/I-E)	BV510	M5/114.15.2	Mouse	107636	Biolegend
MHCII (I-A/I-E)	Alexa Fluor 700	M5/114.15.2	Mouse	107622	Biolegend
MHCII (I-A/I-E)	BV605	M5/114.15.2	Mouse	107639	Biolegend
NK1.1	BV421	PK136	Mouse	108741	Biolegend
NKG2D	BV421	CX5	Mouse	562800	BD Biosciences
PU.1	Alexa Fluor 647	7C2C34	Mouse	681304	Biolegend
RORyt	PE	AFKJS-9	Mouse	12-6988-82	Invitrogen
Siglec-H	BV711	440c	Mouse	747671	BD Biosciences
STAT3	PE-Cy7	4G4B45	Mouse	678010	Biolegend
TGF-b1	PerCP-Cy5.5	TW7-16B4	Mouse	141410	Biolegend
T-bet	PE-Cy7	4B10	Mouse	25-5825-82	Invitrogen
TNF-a	PE	MP6-XT22	Mouse	506306	Biolegend
TNFa	BV605	MP6-XT22	Mouse	506329	Biolegend
XCR1	APC-Cy7	ZET	Mouse	148224	Biolegend
XCR1	BV785	ZET	Mouse, Rat	148225	Biolegend
FC Block (CD16/32)		93	Mouse	101302	Biolegend
CD326 (Ep-CAM)	PerCP-Cy5.5	G8.8	Mouse	118220	Biolegend
			Human, Mouse,		
TdTomato	CF568		Rat	20477	Biotium

Mixed Bone Marrow Chimera

Bone marrow cells were prepared from femurs and tibias of TLR5 KO (CD45.2) and wild-type (CD45.1) donor mice. Recipient wild-type (CD45.1) mice were irradiated (2 consecutive days x 600 rads/day) and retro-orbitally injected with an equal 1:1 mix of donor bone marrow cells (TLR5 KO:wild-type). Tumors were initiated 10-weeks post-bone marrow reconstitution via IP injection of 2e6 ID8-*Defb29/Vegf-A* cells and treated with anti-PD-L1 five days post-tumor initiation. Tissue samples were collected 15 days after tumor initiation and analyzed by flow cytometry.

Recombinant Culture of BMDCs in FLT3L

Bone marrow cells were collected from femurs and tibias of TLR5 KO and wild-type mice and cultured with 400ng/ml of FLT3L (BioXCell, cat# BE0342) in 1ml of RPMIc in a 24-well plate (Thermo Scientific[™] BioLite[™] Microwell Plates, cat #01-549-765) at 1e6 cells per well on day 1 (chronic) or day 7 (acute) 10ng/ml of ultra-purified Flagellin derived from *S. typhimurium* or *B*.

subtilis (InvivoGen, cat# tlrl-epstfla-5 or tlrl-pbsfla) and incubated at 37°C in a humidified incubator containing 5% CO₂. Additional RPMIc + FLT3L with or without flagellin was added at 1ml on day four. Cells were collected, stained, and analyzed by flow cytometry on day 8 of culture or by IL-6 ELISA (Biolegend, cat# 431316). To examine cross-presentation, SIINFEKL peptide (OVA 257-264, Invivogen, cat# vac-sin) was added on day 7 to cultures, followed by adding 50,000 CellTrace[™] Blue (ThermoFisher, cat# C34568) labeled OT-1 CD8 T cells on day 8. CD8 T cells were isolated by magnetic bead separation using MojoSort[™] Mouse CD8 T Cell Isolation Kit (cat# 480035) from spleen and lymph nodes of OT-1 mice. After three days of culture, proliferation index was measured by dilution of CellTrace[™] Blue in CD8 T cells by flow cytometry using FlowJo proliferation analysis tools.

CITE-seq

Bone marrow cells were collected from femurs and tibias a wild-type mouse and cultured with 400ng/ml of FLT3L (BioXCell, cat# BE0342) in 3ml of RPMIc in a 6-well plate (Thermo Scientific[™] BioLite[™] Microwell Plates, cat #12-556-004) at 3e6 cells per well on day one 10ng/ml of ultrapurified Flagellin derived from *S. typhimurium* (InvivoGen, cat# tlrl-epstfla-5) and incubated at 37°C in a humidified incubator containing 5% CO₂. Additional RPMIc + FLT3L with or without flagellin was added at 3ml on day four. Samples were collected and stained with TotalSeq[™]-B Mouse Myeloid Cocktail, V1.0 (Biolegend, cat# 199904) separately. RNA library preparation and sequencing was performed by the UVA Genome Analysis and Technology Core using a 10X Chromium X. The UVA bioinformatics core used Cell Ranger for demultiplexing. All cells with transcriptomes were retrieved and performed low viability (mitochondrial gene content > 10%), low staining quality, doublet, and negative HTO removal was performed. Bioturing BrowserX was utilized to identify differentially expressed genes and gene ontology analysis. Collection of gene sets for ontology analysis: <u>https://www.gsea-msigdb.org</u>, M5 ontology gene set from GSEA database was used.

SNP genotyping and Phenotyping of PBMCs

Frozen PBMCs were thawed, and genomic DNA was extracted and purified using PureLink Genomic DNA Purification Kit (cat# K1820-01). Genomic DNA was quantified using a NanoDrop spectrophotometry. TaqMan SNP Genotyping assay (Assay ID TLR5 C__25608804_10 A/G) was implemented using a wet DNA method. QuantStudio 6 Flex Real-Time PCR system was utilized to read plates and QuantStudio Real-Time PCR software v1.3 was used to generate allelic discrimination plots. For phenotypic validation, 25,000 PBMCs were counted and rested for 18 hours in RPMIc media, and then cultured for 18 hours with purified flagellin *S. typhimurium* (InvivoGen, cat# tlrl-epstfla-5) and measured IL-6/IL-8 release by ELISA (ELISA MAX[™] Deluxe Set Human IL-6, cat# 430504 and ELISA MAX[™] Deluxe Set Human IL-8, cat# 431504).

Patient Survival Assessment

Survival probability extracted from data from CBioPortal in collaboration with Aster Insights (formerly M2GEN) using ORIEN avatar.

Statistical analysis

Differences between the means of experimental groups were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney test. Mouse survival data were analyzed with the log-rank test. Data was analyzed using GraphPad Prism software (version 10.1.2; GraphPad). A P value less than 0.05 was considered significant. Graphics made using Biorender.

Reagent or Resource	Vendor	Identifier
InVivoMAb Anti-mouse PD-L1 (B7-H1)	BioXCell	Cat# BE0361
InVivoMAb Anti-mouse CTLA-4	BioXCell	Cat# BE0131
InVivoMAb Anti-mouse CD8a	BioXCell	Cat# BE0061
InVivoMAb rat IgG2b isotype control	BioXCell	Cat# BE0090
Mouse Anti-mTLR5 Neutralizing mAb	InvivoGen	mabg-mtlr5
Rat IgG2a isotype control antibody	InvivoGen	mabg2a-ctlrt
InVivoMAb recombinant Flt-3L-Ig	BioXCell	Cat# BE0098
Standard flagellin from S. typhimurium	InvivoGen	Cat# tlrl-stfla
Ultrapure flagellin from S. typhimurium	InvivoGen	Cat# tlrl-epstfla-5

Ultrapure flagellin from B . subtilis	InvivoGen	Cat# tlrl-pbsfla
OVA 257-264 (SIINFEKL)	InvivoGen	Cat# vac-sin
Primers		
KRAS Forward	CCA TGG CTT GAG TAA GTC TGC	IDT
KRAS Reverse	CGC AGA CTG TAG AGC AGC G	IDT
TLR5 fl Forward	CAG GTC TGG AAT GGG TGA AC	IDT
TLR5 fl Reverse	GTG GAA CAG AAA TGC CCA GT	IDT
CD11c Cre Forward	ACT TGG CAG CTG TCT CCA AG	IDT
CD11c Cre Reverse	GCG AAC ATC TTC AGG TTC TG	IDT
Experimental models: Mice		
C57BL/6	Wild-type	Jackson Laboratory
B6.129S1-TIr5tm1Flv/J	TLR5 KO	Jackson Laboratory
B6(Cg)-Tlr4tm1.2Karp/J	TLR4 KO	Jackson Laboratory
B6(Cg)-Tlr5tm1.1Gewr/J	TLR5 flox/flox	Jackson Laboratory
B6.Cg-Tg(Itgax-cre)1-1Reiz/J	CD11c-Cre	Jackson Laboratory
B6(FVB)-Tlr5tm1.1Gbrt/J	TLR5Td tomato mice	Jackson Laboratory
B6.SJL-Ptprca Pepcb/BoyJ	CD45.1	Jackson Laboratory
C57BL/6-Tg(TcraTcrb)1100Mjb/J	OT-1	Jackson Laboratory
Cell Lines		
ID8-Defb29/Vegf-A	Ovarian Epithelial	
UPK10	Ovarian Epithelial	
PPNM	Ovarian Epithelial	
Software		
Prism 10	GraphPad	
FlowJo 10	FlowJo	
Excel	Microsoft	
SpectroFlo	Cytek	

References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2022. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2022;72(1):7-33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21708.

2. Torre LA, Trabert B, Desantis CE, Miller KD, Samimi G, Runowicz CD, Gaudet MM, Jemal A, Siegel RL. Ovarian cancer statistics, 2018. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2018;68(4):284-96. doi: 10.3322/caac.21456.

3. Gaona-Luviano P, Medina-Gaona LA, Magaña-Pérez K. Epidemiology of ovarian cancer. Chinese Clinical Oncology. 2020;9(4):47-. doi: 10.21037/cco-20-34.

4. Culine S, Lhomme C, Kattan J, Michel G, Duvillard P, Droz JP. Cisplatin-based chemotherapy in the management of germ cell tumors of the ovary: The Institut Gustave Roussy Experience. Gynecol Oncol. 1997;64(1):160-5. doi: 10.1006/gyno.1996.4547. PubMed PMID: 8995567.

5. Geisler JP, Goulet R, Foster RS, Sutton GP. Growing teratoma syndrome after chemotherapy for germ cell tumors of the ovary. Obstet Gynecol. 1994;84(4 Pt 2):719-21. PubMed PMID: 9205463.

6. Rauh-Hain JA, Krivak TC, Del Carmen MG, Olawaiye AB. Ovarian cancer screening and early detection in the general population. Rev Obstet Gynecol. 2011;4(1):15-21. PubMed PMID: 21629494; PMCID: PMC3100094.

7. Armstrong DK, Alvarez RD, Backes FJ, Bakkum-Gamez JN, Barroilhet L, Behbakht K, Berchuck A, Chen L-M, Chitiyo VC, Cristea M, Derosa M, Eisenhauer EL, Gershenson DM, Gray HJ, Grisham R, Hakam A, Jain A, Karam A, Konecny GE, Leath Iii CA, Leiserowitz G, Liu J, Martin L, Matei D, Mchale M, Mclean K, Miller DS, Percac-Lima S, Remmenga SW, Schorge J, Stewart D, Thaker PH, Vargas R, Hendrickson AW, Werner TL, Zsiros E, Dwyer MA, Hang L. NCCN Guidelines® Insights: Ovarian Cancer, Version 3.2022. Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network. 2022;20(9):972-80. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2022.0047.

8. Shah S, Cheung A, Kutka M, Sheriff M, Boussios S. Epithelial Ovarian Cancer: Providing Evidence of Predisposition Genes. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2022;19(13):8113. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19138113.

9. Momenimovahed Z, Tiznobaik A, Taheri S, Salehiniya H. <p>Ovarian cancer in the world: epidemiology and risk factors</p>. International Journal of Women's Health. 2019;Volume 11:287-99. doi: 10.2147/ijwh.s197604.

10. Modugno F, Ness RB, Allen GO, Schildkraut JM, Davis FG, Goodman MT. Oral contraceptive use, reproductive history, and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer in women with and without endometriosis. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004;191(3):733-40. doi: 10.1016/j.aiog.2004.03.035. PubMod PMID: 15467532

10.1016/j.ajog.2004.03.035. PubMed PMID: 15467532.

11. Dilley J, Burnell M, Gentry-Maharaj A, Ryan A, Neophytou C, Apostolidou S, Karpinskyj C, Kalsi J, Mould T, Woolas R, Singh N, Widschwendter M, Fallowfield L, Campbell S, Skates SJ, Mcguire A, Parmar M, Jacobs I, Menon U. Ovarian cancer symptoms, routes to diagnosis and survival – Population cohort study in the 'no screen' arm of the UK Collaborative Trial of Ovarian Cancer Screening (UKCTOCS). Gynecologic Oncology. 2020;158(2):316-22. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2020.05.002.

 Orr B, Edwards RP. Diagnosis and Treatment of Ovarian Cancer. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2018;32(6):943-64. doi: 10.1016/j.hoc.2018.07.010. PubMed PMID: 30390767.
 Goff BA, Matthews B, Andrilla CHA, Miller JW, Trivers KF, Berry D, Lishner DM, Baldwin LM. How are symptoms of ovarian cancer managed? Cancer. 2011;117(19):4414-23. doi: 10.1002/cncr.26035.

14. Cortez AJ, Tudrej P, Kujawa KA, Lisowska KM. Advances in ovarian cancer therapy. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2018;81(1):17-38. Epub 2017/12/19. doi: 10.1007/s00280-017-3501-8. PubMed PMID: 29249039; PMCID: PMC5754410.

15. Jiang S, Pan AW, Lin T-Y, Zhang H, Malfatti M, Turteltaub K, Henderson PT, Pan C-X. Paclitaxel Enhances Carboplatin-DNA Adduct Formation and Cytotoxicity. Chemical Research in Toxicology. 2015;28(12):2250-2. doi: 10.1021/acs.chemrestox.5b00422.

16. Akin JM, Waddell JA, Solimando DA, Jr. Paclitaxel and Carboplatin (TC) Regimen for Ovarian Cancer. Hosp Pharm. 2014;49(5):425-31. doi: 10.1310/hpj4905-425. PubMed PMID: 24958952; PMCID: PMC4062714.

17. Wright AA, Cronin A, Milne DE, Bookman MA, Burger RA, Cohn DE, Cristea MC, Griggs JJ, Keating NL, Levenback CF, Mantia-Smaldone G, Matulonis UA, Meyer LA, Niland JC, Weeks JC, O'Malley DM. Use and Effectiveness of Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Treatment of Ovarian Cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(26):2841-7. Epub 20150803. doi:

10.1200/JCO.2015.61.4776. PubMed PMID: 26240233; PMCID: PMC4554746.

18. Timmermans M, Sonke GS, Van De Vijver KK, Van Der Aa MA, Kruitwagen RFPM. No improvement in long-term survival for epithelial ovarian cancer patients: A population-based study between 1989 and 2014 in the Netherlands. European Journal of Cancer. 2018;88:31-7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2017.10.030.

19. Ledermann JA, El-Khouly F. PARP inhibitors in ovarian cancer: Clinical evidence for informed treatment decisions. Br J Cancer. 2015;113 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S10-6. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2015.395. PubMed PMID: 26669450; PMCID: PMC4816268.

20. Yang Y, Du N, Xie L, Jiang J, Mo J, Hong J, Mao D, Ng DM, Shi H. The efficacy and safety of the addition of poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibitors to therapy for ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Surg Oncol. 2020;18(1):151. Epub 20200704. doi: 10.1186/s12957-020-01931-7. PubMed PMID: 32622363; PMCID: PMC7335450.

 Huang XZ, Jia H, Xiao Q, Li RZ, Wang XS, Yin HY, Zhou X. Efficacy and Prognostic Factors for PARP Inhibitors in Patients With Ovarian Cancer. Front Oncol. 2020;10:958. Epub 20200616. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00958. PubMed PMID: 32612955; PMCID: PMC7308557.
 Rickard BP, Conrad C, Sorrin AJ, Ruhi MK, Reader JC, Huang SA, Franco W, Scarcelli

G, Polacheck WJ, Roque DM, Del Carmen MG, Huang H-C, Demirci U, Rizvi I. Malignant Ascites in Ovarian Cancer: Cellular, Acellular, and Biophysical Determinants of Molecular Characteristics and Therapy Response. Cancers. 2021;13(17):4318. doi: 10.3390/cancers13174318.

23. Huang H, Li YJ, Lan CY, Huang QD, Feng YL, Huang YW, Liu JH. Clinical significance of ascites in epithelial ovarian cancer. Neoplasma. 2013;60(5):546-52. doi: 10.4149/neo 2013 071. PubMed PMID: 23790174.

24. Asem M, Young A, Oyama C, ClaureDeLaZerda A, Liu Y, Ravosa MJ, Gupta V, Jewell A, Khabele D, Stack MS. Ascites-induced compression alters the peritoneal microenvironment and promotes metastatic success in ovarian cancer. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):11913. Epub 20200717. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-68639-2. PubMed PMID: 32681052; PMCID: PMC7367827.

25. Rodrigues ISS, Martins-Filho A, Micheli DC, Lima CA, Tavares-Murta BM, Murta EFC, Nomelini RS. IL-6 and IL-8 as Prognostic Factors in Peritoneal Fluid of Ovarian Cancer. Immunol Invest. 2020;49(5):510-21. Epub 20191122. doi: 10.1080/08820139.2019.1691222. PubMed PMID: 31755326.

26. Chomarat P, Banchereau J, Davoust J, Karolina Palucka A. IL-6 switches the differentiation of monocytes from dendritic cells to macrophages. Nature Immunology. 2000;1(6):510-4. doi: 10.1038/82763.

27. Park S-J, Nakagawa T, Kitamura H, Atsumi T, Kamon H, Sawa S-I, Kamimura D, Ueda N, Iwakura Y, Ishihara K, Murakami M, Hirano T. IL-6 Regulates In Vivo Dendritic Cell Differentiation through STAT3 Activation. The Journal of Immunology. 2004;173(6):3844-54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.6.3844.

28. Fisher DT, Appenheimer MM, Evans SS. The two faces of IL-6 in the tumor microenvironment. Seminars in Immunology. 2014;26(1):38-47. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2014.01.008.

29. Fridlender ZG, Sun J, Mishalian I, Singhal S, Cheng G, Kapoor V, Horng W, Fridlender G, Bayuh R, Worthen GS, Albelda SM. Transcriptomic Analysis Comparing Tumor-Associated Neutrophils with Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells and Normal Neutrophils. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(2):e31524. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031524.

30. Matte I, Lane D, Laplante C, Rancourt C, Piche A. Profiling of cytokines in human epithelial ovarian cancer ascites. Am J Cancer Res. 2012;2(5):566-80. Epub 20120820. PubMed PMID: 22957308; PMCID: PMC3433103.

31. Wei X, Jin Y, Tian Y, Zhang H, Wu J, Lu W, Lu X. Regulatory B cells contribute to the impaired antitumor immunity in ovarian cancer patients. Tumour Biol. 2016;37(5):6581-8. Epub 20151205. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-4538-0. PubMed PMID: 26638169.

 Kim S, Kim B, Song YS. Ascites modulates cancer cell behavior, contributing to tumor heterogeneity in ovarian cancer. Cancer Science. 2016;107(9):1173-8. doi: 10.1111/cas.12987.
 Iyer S, Zhang S, Yucel S, Horn H, Smith SG, Reinhardt F, Hoefsmit E, Assatova B, Casado J, Meinsohn M-C, Barrasa MI, Bell GW, Pérez-Villatoro F, Huhtinen K, Hynninen J, Oikkonen J, Galhenage PM, Pathania S, Hammond PT, Neel BG, Farkkila A, Pépin D, Weinberg RA. Genetically Defined Syngeneic Mouse Models of Ovarian Cancer as Tools for the Discovery of Combination Immunotherapy. Cancer Discovery. 2021;11(2):384-407. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.cd-20-0818.

34. Zhan N, Dong W-G, Wang J. The clinical significance of vascular endothelial growth factor in malignant ascites. Tumor Biology. 2016;37(3):3719-25. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-4198-0.

35. Yabushita H, Shimazu M, Noguchi M, Kishida T, Narumiya H, Sawaguchi K, Noguchi M. Vascular endothelial growth factor activating matrix metalloproteinase in ascitic fluid during peritoneal dissemination of ovarian cancer. Oncol Rep. 2003;10(1):89-95. PubMed PMID: 12469150.

36. Masoumi Moghaddam S, Amini A, Morris DL, Pourgholami MH. Significance of vascular endothelial growth factor in growth and peritoneal dissemination of ovarian cancer. Cancer and Metastasis Reviews. 2012;31(1-2):143-62. doi: 10.1007/s10555-011-9337-5.

37. Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, Makrigiannakis A, Gray H, Schlienger K, Liebman MN, Rubin SC, Coukos G. Intratumoral T Cells, Recurrence, and Survival in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 2003;348(3):203-13. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa020177.

38. Mastelic-Gavillet B, Sarivalasis A, Lozano LE, Wyss T, Inoges S, de Vries IJM, Dartiguenave F, Jichlinski P, Derre L, Coukos G, Melero I, Harari A, Romero P, Vigano S, Kandalaft LE. Quantitative and qualitative impairments in dendritic cell subsets of patients with ovarian or prostate cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2020;135:173-82. Epub 20200623. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2020.04.036. PubMed PMID: 32590296.

39. Scarlett UK, Rutkowski MR, Rauwerdink AM, Fields J, Escovar-Fadul X, Baird J, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Jacobs AC, Gonzalez JL, Weaver J, Fiering S, Conejo-Garcia JR. Ovarian cancer progression is controlled by phenotypic changes in dendritic cells. Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2012;209(3):495-506. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111413.

40. Zheng X, Turkowski K, Mora J, Brune B, Seeger W, Weigert A, Savai R. Redirecting tumor-associated macrophages to become tumoricidal effectors as a novel strategy for cancer therapy. Oncotarget. 2017;8(29):48436-52. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17061. PubMed PMID: 28467800; PMCID: PMC5564660.

41. Schweer D, McAtee A, Neupane K, Richards C, Ueland F, Kolesar J. Tumor-Associated Macrophages and Ovarian Cancer: Implications for Therapy. Cancers (Basel). 2022;14(9). Epub 20220429. doi: 10.3390/cancers14092220. PubMed PMID: 35565348; PMCID: PMC9101750.

42. Liu C, Zhang Y, Li X, Wang D. Ovarian cancer-specific dysregulated genes with prognostic significance: scRNA-Seq with bulk RNA-Seq data and experimental validation. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2022;1512(1):154-73. Epub 20220305. doi: 10.1111/nyas.14748. PubMed PMID: 35247207.

43. Xu J, Fang Y, Chen K, Li S, Tang S, Ren Y, Cen Y, Fei W, Zhang B, Shen Y, Lu W. Single-Cell RNA Sequencing Reveals the Tissue Architecture in Human High-Grade Serous Ovarian Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2022;28(16):3590-602. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-22-0296. PubMed PMID: 35675036; PMCID: PMC9662915.

44. Xiang SY, Li QK, Yang Z, Yi Q. 5 signature genes revealed by single-cell profiling identified unique immune subtypes affecting the prognosis of ovarian cancer. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2024;28(5):2051-62. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_202403_35618. PubMed PMID: 38497886.

45. Ye Y, Chen NG. miR-146a: Overcoming coldness in ovarian cancer. Mol Ther Oncolytics. 2023;31:100753. Epub 20231203. doi: 10.1016/j.omto.2023.100753. PubMed PMID: 38144668; PMCID: PMC10746358.

46. Wang ZB, Zhang X, Fang C, Liu XT, Liao QJ, Wu N, Wang J. Immunotherapy and the ovarian cancer microenvironment: Exploring potential strategies for enhanced treatment efficacy. Immunology. 2024;173(1):14-32. Epub 20240415. doi: 10.1111/imm.13793. PubMed PMID: 38618976.

47. Veneziani AC, Gonzalez-Ochoa E, Alqaisi H, Madariaga A, Bhat G, Rouzbahman M, Sneha S, Oza AM. Heterogeneity and treatment landscape of ovarian carcinoma. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2023;20(12):820-42. Epub 20231002. doi: 10.1038/s41571-023-00819-1. PubMed PMID: 37783747.

48. Vazquez-Garcia I, Uhlitz F, Ceglia N, Lim JLP, Wu M, Mohibullah N, Niyazov J, Ruiz AEB, Boehm KM, Bojilova V, Fong CJ, Funnell T, Grewal D, Havasov E, Leung S, Pasha A, Patel DM, Pourmaleki M, Rusk N, Shi H, Vanguri R, Williams MJ, Zhang AW, Broach V, Chi DS, Da Cruz Paula A, Gardner GJ, Kim SH, Lennon M, Long Roche K, Sonoda Y, Zivanovic O, Kundra R, Viale A, Derakhshan FN, Geneslaw L, Issa Bhaloo S, Maroldi A, Nunez R, Pareja F, Stylianou A, Vahdatinia M, Bykov Y, Grisham RN, Liu YL, Lakhman Y, Nikolovski I, Kelly D, Gao J, Schietinger A, Hollmann TJ, Bakhoum SF, Soslow RA, Ellenson LH, Abu-Rustum NR, Aghajanian C, Friedman CF, McPherson A, Weigelt B, Zamarin D, Shah SP. Ovarian cancer mutational processes drive site-specific immune evasion. Nature. 2022;612(7941):778-86. Epub 20221214. doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-05496-1. PubMed PMID: 36517593; PMCID: PMC9771812.

49. Krempski J, Karyampudi L, Behrens MD, Erskine CL, Hartmann L, Dong H, Goode EL, Kalli KR, Knutson KL. Tumor-infiltrating programmed death receptor-1+ dendritic cells mediate immune suppression in ovarian cancer. J Immunol. 2011;186(12):6905-13. Epub 20110506. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100274. PubMed PMID: 21551365; PMCID: PMC3110549.

50. Cubillos-Ruiz R, Juan, Silberman C, Pedro, Rutkowski R, Melanie, Chopra S, Perales-Puchalt A, Song M, Zhang S, Bettigole E, Sarah, Gupta D, Holcomb K, Ellenson H, Lora, Caputo T, Lee A-H, Conejo-Garcia R, Jose, Glimcher H, Laurie. ER Stress Sensor XBP1 Controls Anti-tumor Immunity by Disrupting Dendritic Cell Homeostasis. Cell. 2015;161(7):1527-38. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.025.

51. Labidi-Galy SI, Sisirak V, Meeus P, Gobert M, Treilleux I, Bajard A, Combes J-D, Faget J, Mithieux F, Cassignol A, Tredan O, Durand I, Ménétrier-Caux C, Caux C, Blay J-Y, Ray-Coquard I, Bendriss-Vermare N. Quantitative and Functional Alterations of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Contribute to Immune Tolerance in Ovarian Cancer. Cancer Research. 2011;71(16):5423-34. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-11-0367.

52. Tang M, Diao J, Cattral MS. Molecular mechanisms involved in dendritic cell dysfunction in cancer. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2017;74(5):761-76. Epub 20160805. doi: 10.1007/s00018-016-2317-8. PubMed PMID: 27491428; PMCID: PMC11107728.

53. Qian F, Villella J, Wallace PK, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Tario JD, Jr., Andrews C, Matsuzaki J, Valmori D, Ayyoub M, Frederick PJ, Beck A, Liao J, Cheney R, Moysich K, Lele S, Shrikant P, Old LJ, Odunsi K. Efficacy of levo-1-methyl tryptophan and dextro-1-methyl tryptophan in reversing indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase-mediated arrest of T-cell proliferation in human epithelial ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2009;69(13):5498-504. Epub 20090602. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2106. PubMed PMID: 19491279.

54. Caro AA, Deschoemaeker S, Allonsius L, Coosemans A, Laoui D. Dendritic Cell Vaccines: A Promising Approach in the Fight against Ovarian Cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2022;14(16). Epub 20220821. doi: 10.3390/cancers14164037. PubMed PMID: 36011029; PMCID: PMC9406463.

55. Ferris ST, Durai V, Wu R, Theisen DJ, Ward JP, Bern MD, Davidson JTt, Bagadia P, Liu T, Briseno CG, Li L, Gillanders WE, Wu GF, Yokoyama WM, Murphy TL, Schreiber RD, Murphy KM. cDC1 prime and are licensed by CD4(+) T cells to induce anti-tumour immunity. Nature. 2020;584(7822):624-9. Epub 20200812. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2611-3. PubMed PMID: 32788723; PMCID: PMC7469755.

56. Sanchez-Paulete AR, Cueto FJ, Martinez-Lopez M, Labiano S, Morales-Kastresana A, Rodriguez-Ruiz ME, Jure-Kunkel M, Azpilikueta A, Aznar MA, Quetglas JI, Sancho D, Melero I. Cancer Immunotherapy with Immunomodulatory Anti-CD137 and Anti-PD-1 Monoclonal Antibodies Requires BATF3-Dependent Dendritic Cells. Cancer Discov. 2016;6(1):71-9. Epub 20151022. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0510. PubMed PMID: 26493961; PMCID: PMC5036540.

57. Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, Ivanova Y, Hundal J, Arthur CD, Krebber WJ, Mulder GE, Toebes M, Vesely MD, Lam SS, Korman AJ, Allison JP, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH, Pearce EL, Schumacher TN, Aebersold R, Rammensee HG, Melief CJ, Mardis ER, Gillanders WE, Artyomov MN, Schreiber RD. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. Nature. 2014;515(7528):577-81. doi: 10.1038/nature13988. PubMed PMID: 25428507; PMCID: PMC4279952.

58. Teijeira A, Garasa S, Luri-Rey C, de Andrea C, Gato M, Molina C, Kaisho T, Cirella A, Azpilikueta A, Wculek SK, Egea J, Olivera I, Rodriguez I, Rouzaut A, Verkhusha V, Valencia K, Sancho D, Berraondo P, Melero I. Depletion of Conventional Type-1 Dendritic Cells in Established Tumors Suppresses Immunotherapy Efficacy. Cancer Res. 2022;82(23):4373-85. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-22-1046. PubMed PMID: 36130020.

59. Mastelic-Gavillet B, Sarivalasis A, Lozano LE, Lofek S, Wyss T, Melero I, de Vries IJM, Harari A, Romero P, Kandalaft LE, Vigano S. Longitudinal analysis of DC subsets in patients with ovarian cancer: Implications for immunotherapy. Front Immunol. 2023;14:1119371. Epub 20230210. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1119371. PubMed PMID: 36845155; PMCID: PMC9950108.

60. Lei X, Khatri I, de Wit T, de Rink I, Nieuwland M, Kerkhoven R, van Eenennaam H, Sun C, Garg AD, Borst J, Xiao Y. CD4(+) helper T cells endow cDC1 with cancer-impeding functions in the human tumor micro-environment. Nat Commun. 2023;14(1):217. Epub 20230113. doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-35615-5. PubMed PMID: 36639382; PMCID: PMC9839676.

61. Arabpour M, Paul S, Grauers Wiktorin H, Kaya M, Kiffin R, Lycke N, Hellstrand K, Martner A. An adjuvant-containing cDC1-targeted recombinant fusion vaccine conveys strong protection against murine melanoma growth and metastasis. Oncoimmunology. 2022;11(1):2115618. Epub 20220824. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2022.2115618. PubMed PMID: 36046810; PMCID: PMC9423856.

62. Zhou Y, Slone N, Chrisikos TT, Kyrysyuk O, Babcock RL, Medik YB, Li HS, Kleinerman ES, Watowich SS. Vaccine efficacy against primary and metastatic cancer with in vitrogenerated CD103(+) conventional dendritic cells. J Immunother Cancer. 2020;8(1). doi: 10.1136/jitc-2019-000474. PubMed PMID: 32273347; PMCID: PMC7254126. 63. Tolcher AW, Brody JD, Rajakumaraswamy N, Kuhne M, Trowe T, Dauki AM, Pai S, Han L, Lin KW, Petrarca M, Kummar S. Phase I Study of GS-3583, an FMS-like Tyrosine Kinase 3 Agonist Fc Fusion Protein, in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2024;30(14):2954-63. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-23-2808. PubMed PMID: 38295150; PMCID: PMC11247315.

64. Morse MA, Nair S, Fernandez-Casal M, Deng Y, St Peter M, Williams R, Hobeika A, Mosca P, Clay T, Cumming RI, Fisher E, Clavien P, Proia AD, Niedzwiecki D, Caron D, Lyerly HK. Preoperative mobilization of circulating dendritic cells by Flt3 ligand administration to patients with metastatic colon cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(23):3883-93. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2000.18.23.3883. PubMed PMID: 11099317.

65. Freedman RS, Vadhan-Raj S, Butts C, Savary C, Melichar B, Verschraegen C, Kavanagh JJ, Hicks ME, Levy LB, Folloder JK, Garcia ME. Pilot study of Flt3 ligand comparing intraperitoneal with subcutaneous routes on hematologic and immunologic responses in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis and mesotheliomas. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(14):5228-37. PubMed PMID: 14614003.

66. Bottcher JP, Bonavita E, Chakravarty P, Blees H, Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Sammicheli S, Rogers NC, Sahai E, Zelenay S, Reis e Sousa C. NK Cells Stimulate Recruitment of cDC1 into the Tumor Microenvironment Promoting Cancer Immune Control. Cell. 2018;172(5):1022-37 e14. Epub 20180208. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.004. PubMed PMID: 29429633; PMCID: PMC5847168.

67. Marciscano AE, Anandasabapathy N. The role of dendritic cells in cancer and anti-tumor immunity. Semin Immunol. 2021;52:101481. Epub 20210520. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2021.101481. PubMed PMID: 34023170; PMCID: PMC8545750.

68. Bosteels C, Neyt K, Vanheerswynghels M, van Helden MJ, Sichien D, Debeuf N, De Prijck S, Bosteels V, Vandamme N, Martens L, Saeys Y, Louagie E, Lesage M, Williams DL, Tang SC, Mayer JU, Ronchese F, Scott CL, Hammad H, Guilliams M, Lambrecht BN. Inflammatory Type 2 cDCs Acquire Features of cDC1s and Macrophages to Orchestrate Immunity to Respiratory Virus Infection. Immunity. 2020;52(6):1039-56 e9. Epub 20200508. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.04.005. PubMed PMID: 32392463; PMCID: PMC7207120.

69. Saito Y, Komori S, Kotani T, Murata Y, Matozaki T. The Role of Type-2 Conventional Dendritic Cells in the Regulation of Tumor Immunity. Cancers (Basel). 2022;14(8). Epub 20220413. doi: 10.3390/cancers14081976. PubMed PMID: 35454882; PMCID: PMC9028336.

70. Binnewies M, Mujal AM, Pollack JL, Combes AJ, Hardison EA, Barry KC, Tsui J, Ruhland MK, Kersten K, Abushawish MA, Spasic M, Giurintano JP, Chan V, Daud AI, Ha P, Ye CJ, Roberts EW, Krummel MF. Unleashing Type-2 Dendritic Cells to Drive Protective Antitumor CD4(+) T Cell Immunity. Cell. 2019;177(3):556-71 e16. Epub 20190404. doi:

10.1016/j.cell.2019.02.005. PubMed PMID: 30955881; PMCID: PMC6954108.

71. Gerner MY, Mescher MF. Antigen processing and MHC-II presentation by dermal and tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2009;182(5):2726-37. doi:

10.4049/jimmunol.0803479. PubMed PMID: 19234167; PMCID: PMC2712950.

72. Zhang X, Artola-Boran M, Fallegger A, Arnold IC, Weber A, Reuter S, Taube C, Müller A. IRF4 Expression Is Required for the Immunoregulatory Activity of Conventional Type 2 Dendritic Cells in Settings of Chronic Bacterial Infection and Cancer. The Journal of Immunology. 2020;205(7):1933-43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.2000405.

73. Swiecki M, Colonna M. The multifaceted biology of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(8):471-85. Epub 20150710. doi: 10.1038/nri3865. PubMed PMID: 26160613; PMCID: PMC4808588.

74. Omatsu Y, Iyoda T, Kimura Y, Maki A, Ishimori M, Toyama-Sorimachi N, Inaba K. Development of murine plasmacytoid dendritic cells defined by increased expression of an inhibitory NK receptor, Ly49Q. J Immunol. 2005;174(11):6657-62. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.6657. PubMed PMID: 15905504.
75. Kamogawa-Schifter Y, Ohkawa J, Namiki S, Arai N, Arai K, Liu Y. Ly49Q defines 2 pDC subsets in mice. Blood. 2005;105(7):2787-92. Epub 20041214. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-09-3388. PubMed PMID: 15598811.

76. Zhou B, Lawrence T, Liang Y. The Role of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells in Cancers. Front Immunol. 2021;12:749190. Epub 20211019. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.749190. PubMed PMID: 34737750; PMCID: PMC8560733.

Conrad C, Gregorio J, Wang YH, Ito T, Meller S, Hanabuchi S, Anderson S, Atkinson N, Ramirez PT, Liu YJ, Freedman R, Gilliet M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells promote immunosuppression in ovarian cancer via ICOS costimulation of Foxp3(+) T-regulatory cells. Cancer Res. 2012;72(20):5240-9. Epub 20120731. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2271. PubMed PMID: 22850422; PMCID: PMC3652570.

78. Wei S, Kryczek I, Zou L, Daniel B, Cheng P, Mottram P, Curiel T, Lange A, Zou W. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce CD8+ regulatory T cells in human ovarian carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2005;65(12):5020-6. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-4043. PubMed PMID: 15958543.

79. Clark GJ, Jamriska L, Rao M, Hart DN. Monocytes immunoselected via the novel monocyte specific molecule, CD300e, differentiate into active migratory dendritic cells. J Immunother. 2007;30(3):303-11. doi: 10.1097/01.cji.0000211342.65964.9e. PubMed PMID: 17414321.

80. Gao Y, Li H, Li Z, Xie L, Liu X, Huang Z, Chen B, Lin X, Wang X, Zheng Y, Su W. Single-Cell Analysis Reveals the Heterogeneity of Monocyte-Derived and Peripheral Type-2 Conventional Dendritic Cells. J Immunol. 2021;207(3):837-48. Epub 20210719. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.2100094. PubMed PMID: 34282004.

81. Briseno CG, Haldar M, Kretzer NM, Wu X, Theisen DJ, Kc W, Durai V, Grajales-Reyes GE, Iwata A, Bagadia P, Murphy TL, Murphy KM. Distinct Transcriptional Programs Control Cross-Priming in Classical and Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells. Cell Rep. 2016;15(11):2462-74. Epub 20160602. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.05.025. PubMed PMID: 27264183; PMCID: PMC4941620.

82. Kuhn S, Yang J, Ronchese F. Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells Are Essential for CD8(+) T Cell Activation and Antitumor Responses After Local Immunotherapy. Front Immunol. 2015;6:584. Epub 20151123. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00584. PubMed PMID: 26635798; PMCID: PMC4655312.

83. Onishi H, Morisaki T, Baba E, Kuga H, Kuroki H, Matsumoto K, Tanaka M, Katano M. Dysfunctional and short-lived subsets in monocyte-derived dendritic cells from patients with advanced cancer. Clin Immunol. 2002;105(3):286-95. doi: 10.1006/clim.2002.5293. PubMed PMID: 12498810.

84. Ramos RN, Chin LS, Dos Santos AP, Bergami-Santos PC, Laginha F, Barbuto JA. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells from breast cancer patients are biased to induce CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Leukoc Biol. 2012;92(3):673-82. Epub 20120525. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0112048. PubMed PMID: 22636320.

85. Keirsse J, Van Damme H, Van Ginderachter JA, Laoui D. Exploiting tumor-associated dendritic cell heterogeneity for novel cancer therapies. J Leukoc Biol. 2017;102(2):317-24. Epub 20170407. doi: 10.1189/jlb.4MR1116-466R. PubMed PMID: 28389620.

86. Ma Y, Shurin GV, Peiyuan Z, Shurin MR. Dendritic cells in the cancer microenvironment. J Cancer. 2013;4(1):36-44. Epub 20121215. doi: 10.7150/jca.5046. PubMed PMID: 23386903; PMCID: PMC3564245.

87. Lan CY, Liu JH, Xia JC, Zheng LM. Biological characteristics of dendritic cells derived from peripheral blood of patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. Ai Zheng. 2009;28(2):132-7. Epub 20090227. PubMed PMID: 19550123.

88. Surówka J, Wertel I, Okła K, Bednarek W, Tarkowski R, Kotarski J. Influence of ovarian cancer type I and type II microenvironment on the phenotype and function of monocyte-derived

dendritic cells. Clinical and Translational Oncology. 2017;19(12):1489-97. doi: 10.1007/s12094-017-1686-2.

89. Schreibelt G, Tel J, Sliepen KH, Benitez-Ribas D, Figdor CG, Adema GJ, de Vries IJ. Toll-like receptor expression and function in human dendritic cell subsets: implications for dendritic cell-based anti-cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59(10):1573-82. Epub 20100305. doi: 10.1007/s00262-010-0833-1. PubMed PMID: 20204387; PMCID: PMC11029854.

90. Clarke B, Tinker AV, Lee CH, Subramanian S, van de Rijn M, Turbin D, Kalloger S, Han G, Ceballos K, Cadungog MG, Huntsman DG, Coukos G, Gilks CB. Intraepithelial T cells and prognosis in ovarian carcinoma: novel associations with stage, tumor type, and BRCA1 loss. Mod Pathol. 2009;22(3):393-402. Epub 20081205. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.2008.191. PubMed PMID: 19060844.

91. Lieber S, Reinartz S, Raifer H, Finkernagel F, Dreyer T, Bronger H, Jansen JM, Wagner U, Worzfeld T, Muller R, Huber M. Prognosis of ovarian cancer is associated with effector memory CD8(+) T cell accumulation in ascites, CXCL9 levels and activation-triggered signal transduction in T cells. Oncoimmunology. 2018;7(5):e1424672. Epub 20180315. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1424672. PubMed PMID: 29721385; PMCID: PMC5927536.

92. Yang T, Wall EM, Milne K, Theiss P, Watson P, Nelson BH. CD8+ T cells induce complete regression of advanced ovarian cancers by an interleukin (IL)-2/IL-15 dependent mechanism. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(23):7172-80. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1724. PubMed PMID: 18056198.

93. Anderson KG, Voillet V, Bates BM, Chiu EY, Burnett MG, Garcia NM, Oda SK, Morse CB, Stromnes IM, Drescher CW, Gottardo R, Greenberg PD. Engineered Adoptive T-cell Therapy Prolongs Survival in a Preclinical Model of Advanced-Stage Ovarian Cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2019;7(9):1412-25. Epub 20190723. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-19-0258. PubMed PMID: 31337659; PMCID: PMC6726582.

94. Zhang S, Ke X, Zeng S, Wu M, Lou J, Wu L, Huang P, Huang L, Wang F, Pan S. Analysis of CD8+ Treg cells in patients with ovarian cancer: a possible mechanism for immune impairment. Cell Mol Immunol. 2015;12(5):580-91. Epub 20150713. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2015.57. PubMed PMID: 26166762; PMCID: PMC4579658.

95. Nesbeth YC, Martinez DG, Toraya S, Scarlett UK, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Rutkowski MR, Conejo-Garcia JR. CD4+ T cells elicit host immune responses to MHC class II-negative ovarian cancer through CCL5 secretion and CD40-mediated licensing of dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2010;184(10):5654-62. Epub 20100416. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903247. PubMed PMID: 20400704; PMCID: PMC2874073.

96. Preston CC, Maurer MJ, Oberg AL, Visscher DW, Kalli KR, Hartmann LC, Goode EL, Knutson KL. The ratios of CD8+ T cells to CD4+CD25+ FOXP3+ and FOXP3- T cells correlate with poor clinical outcome in human serous ovarian cancer. PLoS One. 2013;8(11):e80063. Epub 20131114. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080063. PubMed PMID: 24244610; PMCID: PMC3828213.

97. Dobrzanski M, Rewers-Felkins K, Samad K, Quinlin I, Phillips C, Robinson W, Dobrzanski D, Wright S. Enhanced levels of endogenous common γ chain receptor cytokines influence CD8 T cell subpopulation numbers and phenotype in cancer patients receiving CD4 T cell immunotherapy: Observations In Four Cases Of Patients With Ovarian Cancer (46.31). The Journal of Immunology. 2012;188(1_Supplement):46.31-46.31. doi:

10.4049/jimmunol.188.Supp.46.31.

98. Nelson BH. The impact of T-cell immunity on ovarian cancer outcomes. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:101-16. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00614.x. PubMed PMID: 18363996.

99. Santoiemma PP, Reyes C, Wang LP, McLane MW, Feldman MD, Tanyi JL, Powell DJ, Jr. Systematic evaluation of multiple immune markers reveals prognostic factors in ovarian

cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;143(1):120-7. Epub 20160725. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2016.07.105. PubMed PMID: 27470997.

100. Zhang G, Liu C, Bai H, Cao G, Cui R, Zhang Z. Combinatorial therapy of immune checkpoint and cancer pathways provides a novel perspective on ovarian cancer treatment. Oncol Lett. 2019;17(3):2583-91. Epub 20190108. doi: 10.3892/ol.2019.9902. PubMed PMID: 30854033; PMCID: PMC6365948.

101. Peng Z, Li M, Li H, Gao Q. PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint blockade in ovarian cancer: Dilemmas and opportunities. Drug Discov Today. 2023;28(8):103666. Epub 20230609. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2023.103666. PubMed PMID: 37302543.

102. Zhu J, Wen H, Bi R, Wu Y, Wu X. Prognostic value of programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression in ovarian clear cell carcinoma. J Gynecol Oncol. 2017;28(6):e77. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2017.28.e77. PubMed PMID: 29027395; PMCID: PMC5641527.

103. Hamanishi J, Mandai M, Iwasaki M, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Yamaguchi K, Higuchi T, Yagi H, Takakura K, Minato N, Honjo T, Fujii S. Programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 and tumorinfiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are prognostic factors of human ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(9):3360-5. Epub 20070221. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0611533104. PubMed PMID: 17360651; PMCID: PMC1805580.

104. Mony JT, Zhang L, Ma T, Grabosch S, Tirodkar TS, Brozick J, Tseng G, Elishaev E, Edwards RP, Huang X, Vlad AM. Anti-PD-L1 prolongs survival and triggers T cell but not humoral anti-tumor immune responses in a human MUC1-expressing preclinical ovarian cancer model. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2015;64(9):1095-108. Epub 20150522. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1712-6. PubMed PMID: 25998800; PMCID: PMC4545381.

105. Grabosch S, Bulatovic M, Zeng F, Ma T, Zhang L, Ross M, Brozick J, Fang Y, Tseng G, Kim E, Gambotto A, Elishaev E, R PE, Vlad AM. Cisplatin-induced immune modulation in ovarian cancer mouse models with distinct inflammation profiles. Oncogene. 2019;38(13):2380-93. Epub 20181205. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0581-9. PubMed PMID: 30518877; PMCID: PMC6440870.

106. Zhu J, Yan L, Wang Q. Efficacy of PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in ovarian cancer: a single-arm meta-analysis. J Ovarian Res. 2021;14(1):112. Epub 20210828. doi: 10.1186/s13048-021-00862-5. PubMed PMID: 34454562; PMCID: PMC8403414.

107. Varga A, Piha-Paul S, Ott PA, Mehnert JM, Berton-Rigaud D, Morosky A, Yang P, Ruman J, Matei D. Pembrolizumab in patients with programmed death ligand 1-positive advanced ovarian cancer: Analysis of KEYNOTE-028. Gynecol Oncol. 2019;152(2):243-50. Epub 20181203. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2018.11.017. PubMed PMID: 30522700.

108. Patrinely JR, Jr., Dewan AK, Johnson DB. The Role of Anti-PD-1/PD-L1 in the Treatment of Skin Cancer. BioDrugs. 2020;34(4):495-503. doi: 10.1007/s40259-020-00428-9. PubMed PMID: 32447657; PMCID: PMC8056779.

109. Banerjee S, Tian T, Wei Z, Shih N, Feldman MD, Alwine JC, Coukos G, Robertson ES. The ovarian cancer oncobiome. Oncotarget. 2017;8(22):36225-45. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16717.

110. Chambers LM, Kuznicki M, Yao M, Chichura A, Gruner M, Reizes O, Debernardo R, Rose PG, Michener C, Vargas R. Impact of antibiotic treatment during platinum chemotherapy on survival and recurrence in women with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2020;159(3):699-705. Epub 20200917. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2020.09.010. PubMed PMID: 32950250.

111. Chambers LM, Esakov Rhoades EL, Bharti R, Braley C, Tewari S, Trestan L, Alali Z, Bayik D, Lathia JD, Sangwan N, Bazeley P, Joehlin-Price AS, Wang Z, Dutta S, Dwidar M, Hajjar A, Ahern PP, Claesen J, Rose P, Vargas R, Brown JM, Michener CM, Reizes O. Disruption of the Gut Microbiota Confers Cisplatin Resistance in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. Cancer Res. 2022;82(24):4654-69. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-22-0455. PubMed PMID: 36206317; PMCID: PMC9772178.

112. Chambers LM, Michener CM, Rose PG, Reizes O, Yao M, Vargas R. Impact of antibiotic treatment on immunotherapy response in women with recurrent gynecologic cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2021;161(1):211-20. Epub 20210124. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2021.01.015. PubMed PMID: 33504455.

113. Zitvogel L, Ma Y, Raoult D, Kroemer G, Gajewski TF. The microbiome in cancer immunotherapy: Diagnostic tools and therapeutic strategies. Science. 2018;359(6382):1366-70. doi: 10.1126/science.aar6918. PubMed PMID: 29567708.

114. Derosa L, Hellmann MD, Spaziano M, Halpenny D, Fidelle M, Rizvi H, Long N, Plodkowski AJ, Arbour KC, Chaft JE, Rouche JA, Zitvogel L, Zalcman G, Albiges L, Escudier B, Routy B. Negative association of antibiotics on clinical activity of immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with advanced renal cell and non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(6):1437-44. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy103. PubMed PMID: 29617710; PMCID: PMC6354674.

115. Routy B, Le Chatelier E, Derosa L, Duong CPM, Alou MT, Daillere R, Fluckiger A, Messaoudene M, Rauber C, Roberti MP, Fidelle M, Flament C, Poirier-Colame V, Opolon P, Klein C, Iribarren K, Mondragon L, Jacquelot N, Qu B, Ferrere G, Clemenson C, Mezquita L, Masip JR, Naltet C, Brosseau S, Kaderbhai C, Richard C, Rizvi H, Levenez F, Galleron N, Quinquis B, Pons N, Ryffel B, Minard-Colin V, Gonin P, Soria JC, Deutsch E, Loriot Y, Ghiringhelli F, Zalcman G, Goldwasser F, Escudier B, Hellmann MD, Eggermont A, Raoult D, Albiges L, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Gut microbiome influences efficacy of PD-1-based immunotherapy against epithelial tumors. Science. 2018;359(6371):91-7. Epub 20171102. doi: 10.1126/science.aan3706. PubMed PMID: 29097494.

116. Gopalakrishnan V, Spencer CN, Nezi L, Reuben A, Andrews MC, Karpinets TV, Prieto PA, Vicente D, Hoffman K, Wei SC, Cogdill AP, Zhao L, Hudgens CW, Hutchinson DS, Manzo T, Petaccia de Macedo M, Cotechini T, Kumar T, Chen WS, Reddy SM, Szczepaniak Sloane R, Galloway-Pena J, Jiang H, Chen PL, Shpall EJ, Rezvani K, Alousi AM, Chemaly RF, Shelburne S, Vence LM, Okhuysen PC, Jensen VB, Swennes AG, McAllister F, Marcelo Riquelme Sanchez E, Zhang Y, Le Chatelier E, Zitvogel L, Pons N, Austin-Breneman JL, Haydu LE, Burton EM, Gardner JM, Sirmans E, Hu J, Lazar AJ, Tsujikawa T, Diab A, Tawbi H, Glitza IC, Hwu WJ, Patel SP, Woodman SE, Amaria RN, Davies MA, Gershenwald JE, Hwu P, Lee JE, Zhang J, Coussens LM, Cooper ZA, Futreal PA, Daniel CR, Ajami NJ, Petrosino JF, Tetzlaff MT, Sharma P, Allison JP, Jenq RR, Wargo JA. Gut microbiome modulates response to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in melanoma patients. Science. 2018;359(6371):97-103. Epub 20171102. doi: 10.1126/science.aan4236. PubMed PMID: 29097493; PMCID: PMC5827966.

117. Matson V, Fessler J, Bao R, Chongsuwat T, Zha Y, Alegre ML, Luke JJ, Gajewski TF. The commensal microbiome is associated with anti-PD-1 efficacy in metastatic melanoma patients. Science. 2018;359(6371):104-8. doi: 10.1126/science.aao3290. PubMed PMID: 29302014; PMCID: PMC6707353.

118. Vetizou M, Pitt JM, Daillere R, Lepage P, Waldschmitt N, Flament C, Rusakiewicz S, Routy B, Roberti MP, Duong CP, Poirier-Colame V, Roux A, Becharef S, Formenti S, Golden E, Cording S, Eberl G, Schlitzer A, Ginhoux F, Mani S, Yamazaki T, Jacquelot N, Enot DP, Berard M, Nigou J, Opolon P, Eggermont A, Woerther PL, Chachaty E, Chaput N, Robert C, Mateus C, Kroemer G, Raoult D, Boneca IG, Carbonnel F, Chamaillard M, Zitvogel L. Anticancer immunotherapy by CTLA-4 blockade relies on the gut microbiota. Science. 2015;350(6264):1079-84. Epub 20151105. doi: 10.1126/science.aad1329. PubMed PMID: 26541610; PMCID: PMC4721659.

119. Davar D, Dzutsev AK, McCulloch JA, Rodrigues RR, Chauvin JM, Morrison RM, Deblasio RN, Menna C, Ding Q, Pagliano O, Zidi B, Zhang S, Badger JH, Vetizou M, Cole AM, Fernandes MR, Prescott S, Costa RGF, Balaji AK, Morgun A, Vujkovic-Cvijin I, Wang H, Borhani AA, Schwartz MB, Dubner HM, Ernst SJ, Rose A, Najjar YG, Belkaid Y, Kirkwood JM, Trinchieri G, Zarour HM. Fecal microbiota transplant overcomes resistance to anti-PD-1 therapy in melanoma patients. Science. 2021;371(6529):595-602. doi: 10.1126/science.abf3363. PubMed PMID: 33542131; PMCID: PMC8097968.

120. Dizman N, Meza L, Bergerot P, Alcantara M, Dorff T, Lyou Y, Frankel P, Cui Y, Mira V, Llamas M, Hsu J, Zengin Z, Salgia N, Salgia S, Malhotra J, Chawla N, Chehrazi-Raffle A, Muddasani R, Gillece J, Reining L, Trent J, Takahashi M, Oka K, Higashi S, Kortylewski M, Highlander SK, Pal SK. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab with or without live bacterial supplementation in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a randomized phase 1 trial. Nat Med. 2022;28(4):704-12. Epub 20220228. doi: 10.1038/s41591-022-01694-6. PubMed PMID: 35228755; PMCID: PMC9018425.

121. Li Y, Elmen L, Segota I, Xian Y, Tinoco R, Feng Y, Fujita Y, Segura Munoz RR, Schmaltz R, Bradley LM, Ramer-Tait A, Zarecki R, Long T, Peterson SN, Ronai ZA. Prebiotic-Induced Anti-tumor Immunity Attenuates Tumor Growth. Cell Rep. 2020;30(6):1753-66 e6. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.01.035. PubMed PMID: 32049008; PMCID: PMC7053418.

122. Peng Z, Cheng S, Kou Y, Wang Z, Jin R, Hu H, Zhang X, Gong JF, Li J, Lu M, Wang X, Zhou J, Lu Z, Zhang Q, Tzeng DTW, Bi D, Tan Y, Shen L. The Gut Microbiome Is Associated with Clinical Response to Anti-PD-1/PD-L1 Immunotherapy in Gastrointestinal Cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2020;8(10):1251-61. Epub 20200827. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-19-1014. PubMed PMID: 32855157.

123. Sivan A, Corrales L, Hubert N, Williams JB, Aquino-Michaels K, Earley ZM, Benyamin FW, Lei YM, Jabri B, Alegre ML, Chang EB, Gajewski TF. Commensal Bifidobacterium promotes antitumor immunity and facilitates anti-PD-L1 efficacy. Science. 2015;350(6264):1084-9. Epub 20151105. doi: 10.1126/science.aac4255. PubMed PMID: 26541606; PMCID: PMC4873287.

124. Shibata T, Takemura N, Motoi Y, Goto Y, Karuppuchamy T, Izawa K, Li X, Akashi-Takamura S, Tanimura N, Kunisawa J, Kiyono H, Akira S, Kitamura T, Kitaura J, Uematsu S, Miyake K. PRAT4A-dependent expression of cell surface TLR5 on neutrophils, classical monocytes and dendritic cells. Int Immunol. 2012;24(10):613-23. Epub 20120725. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxs068. PubMed PMID: 22836022.

125. Hawn TR, Verbon A, Lettinga KD, Zhao LP, Li SS, Laws RJ, Skerrett SJ, Beutler B, Schroeder L, Nachman A, Ozinsky A, Smith KD, Aderem A. A Common Dominant TLR5 Stop Codon Polymorphism Abolishes Flagellin Signaling and Is Associated with Susceptibility to Legionnaires' Disease. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2003;198(10):1563-72. doi: 10.1084/jem.20031220.

126. Rutkowski MR, Stephen TL, Svoronos N, Allegrezza MJ, Tesone AJ, Perales-Puchalt A, Brencicova E, Escovar-Fadul X, Nguyen JM, Cadungog MG, Zhang R, Salatino M, Tchou J, Rabinovich GA, Conejo-Garcia JR. Microbially driven TLR5-dependent signaling governs distal malignant progression through tumor-promoting inflammation. Cancer Cell. 2015;27(1):27-40. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.11.009. PubMed PMID: 25533336; PMCID: PMC4293269.

127. Sampath V, Garland JS, Le M, Patel AL, Konduri GG, Cohen JD, Simpson PM, Hines RN. A TLR5 (g.1174C > T) variant that encodes a stop codon (R392X) is associated with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2012;47(5):460-8. Epub 20111104. doi: 10.1002/ppul.21568. PubMed PMID: 22058078.

128. Gewirtz AT, Vijay-Kumar M, Brant SR, Duerr RH, Nicolae DL, Cho JH. Dominantnegative TLR5 polymorphism reduces adaptive immune response to flagellin and negatively associates with Crohn's disease. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2006;290(6):G1157-63. Epub 20060126. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00544.2005. PubMed PMID: 16439468.

129. Merx S, Zimmer W, Neumaier M, Ahmad-Nejad P. Characterization and functional investigation of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the human TLR5 gene. Hum Mutat. 2006;27(3):293. doi: 10.1002/humu.9409. PubMed PMID: 16470719.

130. Yoon SI, Kurnasov O, Natarajan V, Hong M, Gudkov AV, Osterman AL, Wilson IA. Structural basis of TLR5-flagellin recognition and signaling. Science. 2012;335(6070):859-64. doi: 10.1126/science.1215584. PubMed PMID: 22344444; PMCID: PMC3406927.

131. Mizel SB, West AP, Hantgan RR. Identification of a sequence in human toll-like receptor 5 required for the binding of Gram-negative flagellin. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(26):23624-9. Epub 20030423. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M303481200. PubMed PMID: 12711596.

132. Bambou JC, Giraud A, Menard S, Begue B, Rakotobe S, Heyman M, Taddei F, Cerf-Bensussan N, Gaboriau-Routhiau V. In vitro and ex vivo activation of the TLR5 signaling pathway in intestinal epithelial cells by a commensal Escherichia coli strain. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(41):42984-92. Epub 20040809. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M405410200. PubMed PMID: 15302888.

133. Feng S, Zhang C, Chen S, He R, Chao G, Zhang S. TLR5 Signaling in the Regulation of Intestinal Mucosal Immunity. J Inflamm Res. 2023;16:2491-501. Epub 20230614. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S407521. PubMed PMID: 37337514; PMCID: PMC10276996.

134. McNamara N, Gallup M, Sucher A, Maltseva I, McKemy D, Basbaum C. AsialoGM1 and TLR5 cooperate in flagellin-induced nucleotide signaling to activate Erk1/2. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2006;34(6):653-60. Epub 20060126. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2005-0441OC. PubMed PMID: 16439799; PMCID: PMC2644226.

135. Zeng H, Carlson AQ, Guo Y, Yu Y, Collier-Hyams LS, Madara JL, Gewirtz AT, Neish AS. Flagellin is the major proinflammatory determinant of enteropathogenic Salmonella. J Immunol. 2003;171(7):3668-74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.7.3668. PubMed PMID: 14500664.

136. Rhee SH, Im E, Pothoulakis C. Toll-like receptor 5 engagement modulates tumor development and growth in a mouse xenograft model of human colon cancer. Gastroenterology. 2008;135(2):518-28. Epub 20080423. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.04.022. PubMed PMID: 18538140; PMCID: PMC2667819.

137. Zhu J, Mohan C. Toll-like receptor signaling pathways--therapeutic opportunities. Mediators Inflamm. 2010;2010:781235. Epub 20101017. doi: 10.1155/2010/781235. PubMed PMID: 20981241; PMCID: PMC2963142.

138. Burdelya LG, Krivokrysenko VI, Tallant TC, Strom E, Gleiberman AS, Gupta D, Kurnasov OV, Fort FL, Osterman AL, Didonato JA, Feinstein E, Gudkov AV. An agonist of tolllike receptor 5 has radioprotective activity in mouse and primate models. Science. 2008;320(5873):226-30. doi: 10.1126/science.1154986. PubMed PMID: 18403709; PMCID: PMC4322935.

139. Fukuzawa N, Petro M, Baldwin WM, 3rd, Gudkov AV, Fairchild RL. A TLR5 agonist inhibits acute renal ischemic failure. J Immunol. 2011;187(7):3831-9. Epub 20110902. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003238. PubMed PMID: 21890657; PMCID: PMC3178726.

140. Kojouharov BM, Brackett CM, Veith JM, Johnson CP, Gitlin, II, Toshkov IA, Gleiberman AS, Gudkov AV, Burdelya LG. Toll-like receptor-5 agonist Entolimod broadens the therapeutic window of 5-fluorouracil by reducing its toxicity to normal tissues in mice. Oncotarget. 2014;5(3):802-14. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.1773. PubMed PMID: 24583651; PMCID: PMC3996654.

141. Brackett CM, Kojouharov B, Veith J, Greene KF, Burdelya LG, Gollnick SO, Abrams SI, Gudkov AV. Toll-like receptor-5 agonist, entolimod, suppresses metastasis and induces immunity by stimulating an NK-dendritic-CD8+ T-cell axis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(7):E874-83. Epub 20160201. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1521359113. PubMed PMID: 26831100; PMCID: PMC4763744.

142. Bakhribah H, Dy GK, Ma WW, Zhao Y, Opyrchal M, Purmal A, Gollnick S, Brady WE, Fetterly GJ, Ngamphaiboon N, Reungwetwattana T, Jacob SM, O'Hara C, Siedlecki F, Adjei A, Burdelya L, Bespalov I, Miller LL, Gudkov A, Adjei AA. A phase I study of the toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5) agonist, entolimod in patients (pts) with advanced cancers. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2015;33(15_suppl):3063-. doi: 10.1200/jco.2015.33.15_suppl.3063.

143. Rolfo C, Giovannetti E, Martinez P, Mccue S, Naing A. Applications and clinical trial landscape using Toll-like receptor agonists to reduce the toll of cancer. npj Precision Oncology. 2023;7(1). doi: 10.1038/s41698-023-00364-1.

144. Taylor DN, Treanor JJ, Strout C, Johnson C, Fitzgerald T, Kavita U, Ozer K, Tussey L, Shaw A. Induction of a potent immune response in the elderly using the TLR-5 agonist, flagellin, with a recombinant hemagglutinin influenza-flagellin fusion vaccine (VAX125, STF2.HA1 SI). Vaccine. 2011;29(31):4897-902. Epub 20110517. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.05.001. PubMed PMID: 21596084.

145. Kosten TR, Domingo CB, Haile CN, Nielsen DA. A Clinical Trial of Entolimod a TLR-5 Adjuvant for Vaccines Using Diphtheria or Tetanus as Carrier Proteins. Vaccines (Basel). 2022;10(10). Epub 20220922. doi: 10.3390/vaccines10101592. PubMed PMID: 36298456; PMCID: PMC9611255.

146. Yan L, Liang J, Yao C, Wu P, Zeng X, Cheng K, Yin H. Pyrimidine Triazole Thioether Derivatives as Toll-Like Receptor 5 (TLR5)/Flagellin Complex Inhibitors. ChemMedChem.
2016;11(8):822-6. Epub 20151204. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201500471. PubMed PMID: 26634412.
147. Dahlgren D, Lennernas H. Review on the effect of chemotherapy on the intestinal barrier: Epithelial permeability, mucus and bacterial translocation. Biomed Pharmacother.
2023;162:114644. Epub 20230403. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2023.114644. PubMed PMID: 37018992.

148. Zhou M, McFarland-Mancini MM, Funk HM, Husseinzadeh N, Mounajjed T, Drew AF. Toll-like receptor expression in normal ovary and ovarian tumors. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(9):1375-85. Epub 20090131. doi: 10.1007/s00262-008-0650-y. PubMed PMID: 19184006; PMCID: PMC11030589.

149. Huang B, Zhao J, Li H, He KL, Chen Y, Chen SH, Mayer L, Unkeless JC, Xiong H. Tolllike receptors on tumor cells facilitate evasion of immune surveillance. Cancer Res. 2005;65(12):5009-14. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0784. PubMed PMID: 15958541.

150. Kelly MG, Alvero AB, Chen R, Silasi DA, Abrahams VM, Chan S, Visintin I, Rutherford T, Mor G. TLR-4 signaling promotes tumor growth and paclitaxel chemoresistance in ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2006;66(7):3859-68. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3948. PubMed PMID: 16585214.

151. Szajnik M, Szczepanski MJ, Czystowska M, Elishaev E, Mandapathil M, Nowak-Markwitz E, Spaczynski M, Whiteside TL. TLR4 signaling induced by lipopolysaccharide or paclitaxel regulates tumor survival and chemoresistance in ovarian cancer. Oncogene. 2009;28(49):4353-63. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.289. PubMed PMID: 19826413; PMCID: PMC2794996.

152. Kim KH, Jo MS, Suh DS, Yoon MS, Shin DH, Lee JH, Choi KU. Expression and significance of the TLR4/MyD88 signaling pathway in ovarian epithelial cancers. World J Surg Oncol. 2012;10:193. Epub 20120917. doi: 10.1186/1477-7819-10-193. PubMed PMID: 22985132; PMCID: PMC3539930.

153. Berger R, Fiegl H, Goebel G, Obexer P, Ausserlechner M, Doppler W, Hauser-Kronberger C, Reitsamer R, Egle D, Reimer D, Muller-Holzner E, Jones A, Widschwendter M. Toll-like receptor 9 expression in breast and ovarian cancer is associated with poorly differentiated tumors. Cancer Sci. 2010;101(4):1059-66. Epub 20100112. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2010.01491.x. PubMed PMID: 20156214; PMCID: PMC3188854.

154. Muccioli M, Benencia F. Toll-like Receptors in Ovarian Cancer as Targets for Immunotherapies. Front Immunol. 2014;5:341. Epub 20140722. doi:

10.3389/fimmu.2014.00341. PubMed PMID: 25101083; PMCID: PMC4105689.

155. Rutkowski R, Melanie, Stephen L, Tom, Svoronos N, Allegrezza J, Michael, Tesone J, Amelia, Perales-Puchalt A, Brencicova E, Escovar-Fadul X, Nguyen M, Jenny, Cadungog G, Mark, Zhang R, Salatino M, Tchou J, Rabinovich A, Gabriel, Conejo-Garcia R, Jose. Microbially

Driven TLR5-Dependent Signaling Governs Distal Malignant Progression through Tumor-Promoting Inflammation. Cancer Cell. 2015;27(1):27-40. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.11.009.

156. Scarlett UK, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Nesbeth YC, Martinez DG, Engle X, Gewirtz AT, Ahonen CL, Conejo-Garcia JR. In situ stimulation of CD40 and Toll-like receptor 3 transforms ovarian cancer-infiltrating dendritic cells from immunosuppressive to immunostimulatory cells. Cancer Res. 2009;69(18):7329-37. Epub 20090908. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0835. PubMed PMID: 19738057; PMCID: PMC2754806.

157. Sabbatini P, Tsuji T, Ferran L, Ritter E, Sedrak C, Tuballes K, Jungbluth AA, Ritter G, Aghajanian C, Bell-McGuinn K, Hensley ML, Konner J, Tew W, Spriggs DR, Hoffman EW, Venhaus R, Pan L, Salazar AM, Diefenbach CM, Old LJ, Gnjatic S. Phase I trial of overlapping long peptides from a tumor self-antigen and poly-ICLC shows rapid induction of integrated immune response in ovarian cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(23):6497-508. Epub 20121002. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2189. PubMed PMID: 23032745.

158. Vindevogel E, Baert T, A VANH, Verbist G, Vande Velde G, Garg AD, Agostinis P, Vergote I, Coosemans AN. The Use of Toll-like Receptor 4 Agonist to Reshape the Immune Signature in Ovarian Cancer. Anticancer Res. 2016;36(11):5781-92. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11162. PubMed PMID: 27793900.

159. Uematsu S, Akira S. Immune responses of TLR5(+) lamina propria dendritic cells in enterobacterial infection. J Gastroenterol. 2009;44(8):803-11. Epub 20090624. doi: 10.1007/s00535-009-0094-y. PubMed PMID: 19547909.

160. Feng T, Cong Y, Alexander K, Elson CO. Regulation of Toll-like receptor 5 gene expression and function on mucosal dendritic cells. PLoS One. 2012;7(4):e35918. Epub 20120424. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035918. PubMed PMID: 22545147; PMCID: PMC3335826.

161. Liu H, Chen F, Wu W, Cao AT, Xue X, Yao S, Evans-Marin HL, Li YQ, Cong Y. TLR5 mediates CD172alpha(+) intestinal lamina propria dendritic cell induction of Th17 cells. Sci Rep. 2016;6:22040. Epub 20160224. doi: 10.1038/srep22040. PubMed PMID: 26907705; PMCID: PMC4764953.

162. Vijay-Kumar M, Sanders CJ, Taylor RT, Kumar A, Aitken JD, Sitaraman SV, Neish AS, Uematsu S, Akira S, Williams IR, Gewirtz AT. Deletion of TLR5 results in spontaneous colitis in mice. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(12):3909-21. doi: 10.1172/JCI33084. PubMed PMID: 18008007; PMCID: PMC2075480.

163. Singh V, Yeoh BS, Carvalho F, Gewirtz AT, Vijay-Kumar M. Proneness of TLR5 deficient mice to develop colitis is microbiota dependent. Gut Microbes. 2015;6(4):279-83. Epub 20150611. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2015.1060390. PubMed PMID: 26067589; PMCID: PMC4615783.

164. Means TK, Hayashi F, Smith KD, Aderem A, Luster AD. The Toll-like receptor 5 stimulus bacterial flagellin induces maturation and chemokine production in human dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2003;170(10):5165-75. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.10.5165. PubMed PMID: 12734364.

165. Cortez AJ, Tudrej P, Kujawa KA, Lisowska KM. Advances in ovarian cancer therapy.
Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology. 2018;81(1):17-38. doi: 10.1007/s00280-017-3501-8.
166. Foley OW, Birrer N, Rauh-Hain JA, Clark RM, Ditavi E, Del Carmen MG. Effect of
Educational Intervention on Cervical Cancer Prevention and Screening in Hispanic Women.
Journal of Community Health. 2015;40(6):1178-84. doi: 10.1007/s10900-015-0045-x.

167. Truxova I, Kasikova L, Hensler M, Skapa P, Laco J, Pecen L, Belicova L, Praznovec I, Halaska MJ, Brtnicky T, Salkova E, Rob L, Kodet R, Goc J, Sautes-Fridman C, Fridman WH, Ryska A, Galluzzi L, Spisek R, Fucikova J. Mature dendritic cells correlate with favorable immune infiltrate and improved prognosis in ovarian carcinoma patients. Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer. 2018;6(1). doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0446-3.

168. Eisenthal A, Polyvkin N, Bramante-Schreiber L, Misonznik F, Hassner A, Lifschitz-Mercer B. Expression of dendritic cells in ovarian tumors correlates with clinical outcome in patients with ovarian cancer. Hum Pathol. 2001;32(8):803-7. doi: 10.1053/hupa.2001.26455. PubMed PMID: 11521223.

169. Curiel TJ, Wei S, Dong H, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, Krzysiek R, Knutson KL, Daniel B, Zimmermann MC, David O, Burow M, Gordon A, Dhurandhar N, Myers L, Berggren R, Hemminki A, Alvarez RD, Emilie D, Curiel DT, Chen L, Zou W. Blockade of B7-H1 improves myeloid dendritic cell-mediated antitumor immunity. Nat Med. 2003;9(5):562-7. Epub 2003/04/22. doi: 10.1038/nm863. PubMed PMID: 12704383.

170. Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Silberman PC, Rutkowski MR, Chopra S, Perales-Puchalt A, Song M, Zhang S, Bettigole SE, Gupta D, Holcomb K, Ellenson LH, Caputo T, Lee AH, Conejo-Garcia JR, Glimcher LH. ER Stress Sensor XBP1 Controls Anti-tumor Immunity by Disrupting Dendritic Cell Homeostasis. Cell. 2015;161(7):1527-38. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.025. PubMed PMID: 26073941; PMCID: PMC4580135.

171. Cubillos-Ruiz J, Engle X, Scarlett U, Martinez D, Barber A, Elgueta R, Wang L, Nesbeth Y, Durant Y, Gewirtz A, Sentman C, Kedl R, Conejo-Garcia J. Polyethylenimine-based siRNA nanocomplexes reprogram tumor-associated dendritic cells via TLR5 to elicit therapeutic antitumor immunity. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2009;119(8):2231-44. doi: 10.1172/jci37716.

172. Scarlett U, Cubillos-Ruiz J, Nesbeth Y, Martinez D, Engle X, Gewirtz A, Ahonen C, Conejo-Garcia J. In situ stimulation of CD40 and Toll-like receptor 3 transforms ovarian cancerinfiltrating dendritic cells from immunosuppressive to immunostimulatory cells. Cancer research. 2009;69(18):7329-37. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-09-0835.

173. Rob L, Cibula D, Knapp P, Mallmann P, Klat J, Minar L, Bartos P, Chovanec J, Valha P, Pluta M, Novotny Z, Spacek J, Melichar B, Kieszko D, Fucikova J, Hrnciarova T, Korolkiewicz RP, Hraska M, Bartunkova J, Spisek R. Safety and efficacy of dendritic cell-based immunotherapy DCVAC/OvCa added to first-line chemotherapy (carboplatin plus paclitaxel) for epithelial ovarian cancer: a phase 2, open-label, multicenter, randomized trial. J Immunother Cancer. 2022;10(1). Epub 2022/01/08. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2021-003190. PubMed PMID: 34992091; PMCID: PMC8739446.

174. Gray HJ, Benigno B, Berek J, Chang J, Mason J, Mileshkin L, Mitchell P, Moradi M, Recio FO, Michener CM, Secord AA, Tchabo NE, Chan JK, Young J, Kohrt H, Gargosky SE, Goh JC. Progression-free and overall survival in ovarian cancer patients treated with CVac, a mucin 1 dendritic cell therapy in a randomized phase 2 trial. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:34. Epub 2016/06/23. doi: 10.1186/s40425-016-0137-x. PubMed PMID: 27330807; PMCID: PMC4915201.

175. Block MS, Dietz AB, Gustafson MP, Kalli KR, Erskine CL, Youssef B, Vijay GV, Allred JB, Pavelko KD, Strausbauch MA, Lin Y, Grudem ME, Jatoi A, Klampe CM, Wahner-Hendrickson AE, Weroha SJ, Glaser GE, Kumar A, Langstraat CL, Solseth ML, Deeds MC, Knutson KL, Cannon MJ. Th17-inducing autologous dendritic cell vaccination promotes antigenspecific cellular and humoral immunity in ovarian cancer patients. Nat Commun.

2020;11(1):5173. Epub 2020/10/16. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18962-z. PubMed PMID: 33057068; PMCID: PMC7560895 Folate Receptors', which is currently licensed to Marker Therapeutics, Inc. of Houston, TX. M.J.C. is an inventor on a patent filed by the University of Arkansas, entitled 'Inhibition of dendritic cell-driven regulatory T cell activation and potentiation of tumor antigen-specific T cell responses by interleukin-15 and MAP kinase inhibitor'. The remaining authors have no competing interests.

176. Faber E, Tedin K, Speidel Y, Brinkmann MM, Josenhans C. Functional expression of TLR5 of different vertebrate species and diversification in intestinal pathogen recognition. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1). doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-29371-0.

177. Cen X, Liu S, Cheng K. The Role of Toll-Like Receptor in Inflammation and Tumor Immunity. Frontiers in Pharmacology. 2018;9. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00878.

178. Kaczanowska S, Joseph AM, Davila E. TLR agonists: our best frenemy in cancer immunotherapy. J Leukoc Biol. 2013;93(6):847-63. Epub 20130308. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1012501. PubMed PMID: 23475577; PMCID: PMC3656332.

179. Zhou B, Sun C, Huang J, Xia M, Guo E, Li N, Lu H, Shan W, Wu Y, Li Y, Xu X, Weng D, Meng L, Hu J, Gao Q, Ma D, Chen G. The biodiversity Composition of Microbiome in Ovarian Carcinoma Patients. Scientific Reports. 2019;9(1). doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-38031-2.

180. Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. Nature reviews Immunology. 2012;12(4):253-68. doi: 10.1038/nri3175.

181. Scarlett U, Rutkowski M, Rauwerdink A, Fields J, Escovar-Fadul X, Baird J, Cubillos-Ruiz J, Jacobs A, Gonzalez J, Weaver J, Fiering S, Conejo-Garcia J. Ovarian cancer progression is controlled by phenotypic changes in dendritic cells. The Journal of experimental medicine. 2012;209(3):495-506. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111413.

182. Roberts EW, Broz ML, Binnewies M, Headley MB, Nelson AE, Wolf DM, Kaisho T, Bogunovic D, Bhardwaj N, Krummel MF. Critical Role for CD103(+)/CD141(+) Dendritic Cells Bearing CCR7 for Tumor Antigen Trafficking and Priming of T Cell Immunity in Melanoma. Cancer Cell. 2016;30(2):324-36. Epub 2016/07/19. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.06.003. PubMed PMID: 27424807; PMCID: PMC5374862.

183. Broz ML, Binnewies M, Boldajipour B, Nelson AE, Pollack JL, Erle DJ, Barczak A, Rosenblum MD, Daud A, Barber DL, Amigorena S, Van't Veer LJ, Sperling AI, Wolf DM, Krummel MF. Dissecting the tumor myeloid compartment reveals rare activating antigenpresenting cells critical for T cell immunity. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(5):638-52. Epub 2014/12/03. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.007. PubMed PMID: 25446897; PMCID: PMC4254577.

184. Bottcher JP, Reis ESC. The Role of Type 1 Conventional Dendritic Cells in Cancer Immunity. Trends Cancer. 2018;4(11):784-92. Epub 2018/10/26. doi:

10.1016/j.trecan.2018.09.001. PubMed PMID: 30352680; PMCID: PMC6207145.

185. Veglia F, Gabrilovich DI. Dendritic cells in cancer: the role revisited. Curr Opin Immunol. 2017;45:43-51. Epub 2017/02/14. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2017.01.002. PubMed PMID: 28192720; PMCID: PMC5449252.

186. Spranger S, Dai D, Horton B, Gajewski TF. Tumor-Residing Batf3 Dendritic Cells Are Required for Effector T Cell Trafficking and Adoptive T Cell Therapy. Cancer Cell. 2017;31(5):711-23 e4. Epub 2017/05/10. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.04.003. PubMed PMID: 28486109; PMCID: PMC5650691.

187. Disis ML, Patel MR, Pant S, Hamilton EP, Lockhart AC, Kelly K, Beck JT, Gordon MS, Weiss GJ, Taylor MH, Chaves J, Mita AC, Chin KM, von Heydebreck A, Cuillerot JM, Gulley JL. Avelumab (MSB0010718C; anti-PD-L1) in patients with recurrent/refractory ovarian cancer from the JAVELIN Solid Tumor phase Ib trial: Safety and clinical activity. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2016;34(15). doi: DOI 10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15_suppl.5533. PubMed PMID: WOS:000404711501207.

188. Gadducci A, Guerrieri ME. Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Gynecological Cancers: Update of Literature and Perspectives of Clinical Research. Anticancer Res. 2017;37(11):5955-65. Epub 2017/10/25. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.12042. PubMed PMID: 29061774.

189. Heong V, Ngoi N, Tan DS. Update on immune checkpoint inhibitors in gynecological cancers. J Gynecol Oncol. 2017;28(2):e20. Epub 2016/12/29. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2017.28.e20. PubMed PMID: 28028993; PMCID: PMC5323287.

190. Wang W, Liu JR, Zou W. Immunotherapy in Ovarian Cancer. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2019;28(3):447-64. Epub 2019/05/14. doi: 10.1016/j.soc.2019.02.002. PubMed PMID: 31079799.

191. Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Engle X, Scarlett UK, Martinez D, Barber A, Elgueta R, Wang L, Nesbeth Y, Durant Y, Gewirtz AT, Sentman CL, Kedl R, Conejo-Garcia JR. Polyethylenimine-

based siRNA nanocomplexes reprogram tumor-associated dendritic cells via TLR5 to elicit therapeutic antitumor immunity. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(8):2231-44. Epub 20090713. doi: 10.1172/JCI37716. PubMed PMID: 19620771; PMCID: PMC2719935.

192. Conejo-Garcia JR, Benencia F, Courreges MC, Kang E, Mohamed-Hadley A, Buckanovich RJ, Holtz DO, Jenkins A, Na H, Zhang L, Wagner DS, Katsaros D, Caroll R, Coukos G. Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cell precursors recruited by a beta-defensin contribute to vasculogenesis under the influence of Vegf-A. Nat Med. 2004;10(9):950-8. Epub 20040829. doi: 10.1038/nm1097. PubMed PMID: 15334073.

193. Roby KF, Taylor CC, Sweetwood JP, Cheng Y, Pace JL, Tawfik O, Persons DL, Smith PG, Terranova PF. Development of a syngeneic mouse model for events related to ovarian cancer. Carcinogenesis. 2000;21(4):585-91. Epub 2000/04/07. PubMed PMID: 10753190.

194. Price AE, Shamardani K, Lugo KA, Deguine J, Roberts AW, Lee BL, Barton GM. A Map of Toll-like Receptor Expression in the Intestinal Epithelium Reveals Distinct Spatial, Cell Type-Specific, and Temporal Patterns. Immunity. 2018;49(3):560-75.e6. Epub 20180828. doi: 10.1016/j.jmmuni.2018.07.016. PubMed PMID: 30170812; PMCID; PMC6152941.

195. Pushalkar S, Hundeyin M, Daley D, Zambirinis CP, Kurz E, Mishra A, Mohan N, Aykut B, Usyk M, Torres LE, Werba G, Zhang K, Guo Y, Li Q, Akkad N, Lall S, Wadowski B, Gutierrez J, Kochen Rossi JA, Herzog JW, Diskin B, Torres-Hernandez A, Leinwand J, Wang W, Taunk PS, Savadkar S, Janal M, Saxena A, Li X, Cohen D, Sartor RB, Saxena D, Miller G. The Pancreatic Cancer Microbiome Promotes Oncogenesis by Induction of Innate and Adaptive Immune Suppression. Cancer Discov. 2018;8(4):403-16. Epub 2018/03/24. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-1134. PubMed PMID: 29567829; PMCID: PMC6225783.

196. Fazio C, Ricciardiello L. Inflammation and Notch signaling: a crosstalk with opposite effects on tumorigenesis. Cell Death Dis. 2016;7(12):e2515. Epub 2016/12/09. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.408. PubMed PMID: 27929540; PMCID: PMC5260996.

197. Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. J Immunol. 2009;182(8):4499-506. Epub 2009/04/04. doi:

10.4049/jimmunol.0802740. PubMed PMID: 19342621; PMCID: PMC2810498.

198. Jahchan NS, Mujal AM, Pollack JL, Binnewies M, Sriram V, Reyno L, Krummel MF. Tuning the Tumor Myeloid Microenvironment to Fight Cancer. Front Immunol. 2019;10:1611. Epub 2019/08/14. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01611. PubMed PMID: 31402908; PMCID: PMC6673698.

199. Tesone AJ, Rutkowski MR, Brencicova E, Svoronos N, Perales-Puchalt A, Stephen TL, Allegrezza MJ, Payne KK, Nguyen JM, Wickramasinghe J, Tchou J, Borowsky ME, Rabinovich GA, Kossenkov AV, Conejo-Garcia JR. Satb1 Overexpression Drives Tumor-Promoting Activities in Cancer-Associated Dendritic Cells. Cell Rep. 2016;14(7):1774-86. doi:

10.1016/j.celrep.2016.01.056. PubMed PMID: 26876172; PMCID: PMC4767618.

200. Liu Y, Xiang X, Zhuang X, Zhang S, Liu C, Cheng Z, Michalek S, Grizzle W, Zhang HG. Contribution of MyD88 to the tumor exosome-mediated induction of myeloid derived suppressor cells. Am J Pathol. 2010;176(5):2490-9. Epub 2010/03/30. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.090777. PubMed PMID: 20348242; PMCID: PMC2861113.

201. Nefedova Y, Huang M, Kusmartsev S, Bhattacharya R, Cheng P, Salup R, Jove R, Gabrilovich D. Hyperactivation of STAT3 is involved in abnormal differentiation of dendritic cells in cancer. J Immunol. 2004;172(1):464-74. Epub 2003/12/23. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.1.464. PubMed PMID: 14688356.

202. Kroczek RA, Henn V. The Role of XCR1 and its Ligand XCL1 in Antigen Cross-Presentation by Murine and Human Dendritic Cells. Frontiers in Immunology. 2012;3. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00014.

203. Salmon H, Idoyaga J, Rahman A, Leboeuf M, Remark R, Jordan S, Casanova-Acebes M, Khudoynazarova M, Agudo J, Tung N, Chakarov S, Rivera C, Hogstad B, Bosenberg M, Hashimoto D, Gnjatic S, Bhardwaj N, Palucka K, Anna, Brown D, Brian, Brody J, Ginhoux F,

Merad M. Expansion and Activation of CD103+ Dendritic Cell Progenitors at the Tumor Site Enhances Tumor Responses to Therapeutic PD-L1 and BRAF Inhibition. Immunity. 2016;44(4):924-38. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.03.012.

204. Li F, Li C, Cai X, Xie Z, Zhou L, Cheng B, Zhong R, Xiong S, Li J, Chen Z, Yu Z, He J, Liang W. The association between CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and the clinical outcome of cancer immunotherapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. eClinicalMedicine. 2021;41:101134. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101134.

205. Kalinski P, Hilkens CM, Snijders A, Snijdewint FG, Kapsenberg ML. IL-12-deficient dendritic cells, generated in the presence of prostaglandin E2, promote type 2 cytokine production in maturing human naive T helper cells. J Immunol. 1997;159(1):28-35. PubMed PMID: 9200435.

206. Vignali DA, Kuchroo VK. IL-12 family cytokines: immunological playmakers. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(8):722-8. Epub 20120719. doi: 10.1038/ni.2366. PubMed PMID: 22814351; PMCID: PMC4158817.

207. Peach RJ, Bajorath J, Naemura J, Leytze G, Greene J, Aruffo A, Linsley PS. Both extracellular immunoglobin-like domains of CD80 contain residues critical for binding T cell surface receptors CTLA-4 and CD28. J Biol Chem. 1995;270(36):21181-7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.36.21181. PubMed PMID: 7545666.

208. Fujii S-I, Liu K, Smith C, Bonito AJ, Steinman RM. The Linkage of Innate to Adaptive Immunity via Maturing Dendritic Cells In Vivo Requires CD40 Ligation in Addition to Antigen Presentation and CD80/86 Costimulation. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2004;199(12):1607-18. doi: 10.1084/jem.20040317.

209. Kim SJ, Chen Z, Chamberlain ND, Essani AB, Volin MV, Amin MA, Volkov S, Gravallese EM, Arami S, Swedler W, Lane NE, Mehta A, Sweiss N, Shahrara S. Ligation of TLR5 promotes myeloid cell infiltration and differentiation into mature osteoclasts in rheumatoid arthritis and experimental arthritis. J Immunol. 2014;193(8):3902-13. Epub 20140908. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302998. PubMed PMID: 25200955; PMCID: PMC4185216.

210. Flies DB, Higuchi T, Harris JC, Jha V, Gimotty PA, Adams SF. Immune checkpoint blockade reveals the stimulatory capacity of tumor-associated CD103⁺ dendritic cells in late-stage ovarian cancer. Oncolmmunology. 2016;5(8):e1185583. doi: 10.1080/2162402x.2016.1185583.

211. Kenkel JA, Tseng WW, Davidson MG, Tolentino LL, Choi O, Bhattacharya N, Seeley ES, Winer DA, Reticker-Flynn NE, Engleman EG. An Immunosuppressive Dendritic Cell Subset Accumulates at Secondary Sites and Promotes Metastasis in Pancreatic Cancer. Cancer Research. 2017;77(15):4158-70. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-16-2212.

212. Naik SH, Proietto AI, Wilson NS, Dakic A, Schnorrer P, Fuchsberger M, Lahoud MH, O'Keeffe M, Shao QX, Chen WF, Villadangos JA, Shortman K, Wu L. Cutting edge: generation of splenic CD8+ and CD8- dendritic cell equivalents in Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand bone marrow cultures. J Immunol. 2005;174(11):6592-7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.6592. PubMed PMID: 15905497.

213. Brasel K, De Smedt T, Smith JL, Maliszewski CR. Generation of murine dendritic cells from flt3-ligand-supplemented bone marrow cultures. Blood. 2000;96(9):3029-39. PubMed PMID: 11049981.

214. Mabuchi S, Sasano T, Komura N. Targeting Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in Ovarian Cancer. Cells. 2021;10(2). Epub 20210205. doi: 10.3390/cells10020329. PubMed PMID: 33562495; PMCID: PMC7914407.

215. Cui TX, Kryczek I, Zhao L, Zhao E, Kuick R, Roh MH, Vatan L, Szeliga W, Mao Y, Thomas DG, Kotarski J, Tarkowski R, Wicha M, Cho K, Giordano T, Liu R, Zou W. Myeloidderived suppressor cells enhance stemness of cancer cells by inducing microRNA101 and suppressing the corepressor CtBP2. Immunity. 2013;39(3):611-21. Epub 20130905. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.025. PubMed PMID: 24012420; PMCID: PMC3831370. 216. Cha JH, Chan LC, Li CW, Hsu JL, Hung MC. Mechanisms Controlling PD-L1 Expression in Cancer. Mol Cell. 2019;76(3):359-70. Epub 20191024. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2019.09.030. PubMed PMID: 31668929; PMCID: PMC6981282.

217. Chen S, Crabill GA, Pritchard TS, McMiller TL, Wei P, Pardoll DM, Pan F, Topalian SL. Mechanisms regulating PD-L1 expression on tumor and immune cells. J Immunother Cancer. 2019;7(1):305. Epub 20191115. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0770-2. PubMed PMID: 31730010; PMCID: PMC6858680.

218. Durai V, Bagadia P, Granja JM, Satpathy AT, Kulkarni DH, Davidson JTt, Wu R, Patel SJ, Iwata A, Liu TT, Huang X, Briseno CG, Grajales-Reyes GE, Wohner M, Tagoh H, Kee BL, Newberry RD, Busslinger M, Chang HY, Murphy TL, Murphy KM. Cryptic activation of an Irf8 enhancer governs cDC1 fate specification. Nat Immunol. 2019;20(9):1161-73. Epub 20190812. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0450-x. PubMed PMID: 31406378; PMCID: PMC6707878.

219. Sichien D, Scott CL, Martens L, Vanderkerken M, Van Gassen S, Plantinga M, Joeris T, De Prijck S, Vanhoutte L, Vanheerswynghels M, Van Isterdael G, Toussaint W, Madeira FB, Vergote K, Agace WW, Clausen BE, Hammad H, Dalod M, Saeys Y, Lambrecht BN, Guilliams M. IRF8 Transcription Factor Controls Survival and Function of Terminally Differentiated Conventional and Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells, Respectively. Immunity. 2016;45(3):626-40. Epub 20160913. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.08.013. PubMed PMID: 27637148.

220. Lanca T, Ungerback J, Da Silva C, Joeris T, Ahmadi F, Vandamme J, Svensson-Frej M, Mowat AM, Kotarsky K, Sigvardsson M, Agace WW. IRF8 deficiency induces the transcriptional, functional, and epigenetic reprogramming of cDC1 into the cDC2 lineage. Immunity. 2022;55(8):1431-47 e11. Epub 20220712. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2022.06.006. PubMed PMID: 35830859.

221. Tobin RP, Jordan KR, Kapoor P, Spongberg E, Davis D, Vorwald VM, Couts KL, Gao D, Smith DE, Borgers JSW, Robinson S, Amato C, Gonzalez R, Lewis KD, Robinson WA, Borges VF, McCarter MD. IL-6 and IL-8 Are Linked With Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Accumulation and Correlate With Poor Clinical Outcomes in Melanoma Patients. Front Oncol. 2019;9:1223. Epub 20191108. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.01223. PubMed PMID: 31781510; PMCID: PMC6857649.

222. Trinchieri G. Interleukin-12 and the regulation of innate resistance and adaptive immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3(2):133-46. Epub 2003/02/04. doi: 10.1038/nri1001. PubMed PMID: 12563297.

223. Nakao S, Arai Y, Tasaki M, Yamashita M, Murakami R, Kawase T, Amino N, Nakatake M, Kurosaki H, Mori M, Takeuchi M, Nakamura T. Intratumoral expression of IL-7 and IL-12 using an oncolytic virus increases systemic sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. Sci Transl Med. 2020;12(526). Epub 2020/01/17. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aax7992. PubMed PMID: 31941828.

224. Hwang WT, Adams SF, Tahirovic E, Hagemann IS, Coukos G. Prognostic significance of tumor-infiltrating T cells in ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2012;124(2):192-8. Epub 2011/11/02. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2011.09.039. PubMed PMID: 22040834; PMCID: PMC3298445.

225. Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, Makrigiannakis A, Gray H, Schlienger K, Liebman MN, Rubin SC, Coukos G. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 2003;348(3):203-13. Epub 2003/01/17. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa020177. PubMed PMID: 12529460.

226. Pinto MP, Balmaceda C, Bravo ML, Kato S, Villarroel A, Owen GI, Roa JC, Cuello MA, Ibanez C. Patient inflammatory status and CD4+/CD8+ intraepithelial tumor lymphocyte infiltration are predictors of outcomes in high-grade serous ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2018;151(1):10-7. Epub 2018/08/07. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2018.07.025. PubMed PMID: 30078505.

227. Sarkar S, Kalia V, Haining WN, Konieczny BT, Subramaniam S, Ahmed R. Functional and genomic profiling of effector CD8 T cell subsets with distinct memory fates. J Exp Med. 2008;205(3):625-40. Epub 20080303. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071641. PubMed PMID: 18316415; PMCID: PMC2275385.

228. Joshi NS, Cui W, Chandele A, Lee HK, Urso DR, Hagman J, Gapin L, Kaech SM. Inflammation directs memory precursor and short-lived effector CD8(+) T cell fates via the graded expression of T-bet transcription factor. Immunity. 2007;27(2):281-95. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.07.010. PubMed PMID: 17723218; PMCID: PMC2034442.

229. Chassaing B, Ley RE, Gewirtz AT. Intestinal epithelial cell toll-like receptor 5 regulates the intestinal microbiota to prevent low-grade inflammation and metabolic syndrome in mice. Gastroenterology. 2014;147(6):1363-77 e17. Epub 20140827. doi:

10.1053/j.gastro.2014.08.033. PubMed PMID: 25172014; PMCID: PMC4253564.

230. Grosso JF, Goldberg MV, Getnet D, Bruno TC, Yen HR, Pyle KJ, Hipkiss E, Vignali DA, Pardoll DM, Drake CG. Functionally distinct LAG-3 and PD-1 subsets on activated and chronically stimulated CD8 T cells. J Immunol. 2009;182(11):6659-69. doi:

10.4049/jimmunol.0804211. PubMed PMID: 19454660; PMCID: PMC3082361.

231. Ma J, Yan S, Zhao Y, Yan H, Zhang Q, Li X. Blockade of PD-1 and LAG-3 expression on CD8+ T cells promotes the tumoricidal effects of CD8+ T cells. Front Immunol.

2023;14:1265255. Epub 20230928. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1265255. PubMed PMID: 37841254; PMCID: PMC10568325.

232. Barry ST, Gabrilovich DI, Sansom OJ, Campbell AD, Morton JP. Therapeutic targeting of tumour myeloid cells. Nat Rev Cancer. 2023;23(4):216-37. Epub 20230206. doi: 10.1038/s41568-022-00546-2. PubMed PMID: 36747021.

233. Peng Q, Qiu X, Zhang Z, Zhang S, Zhang Y, Liang Y, Guo J, Peng H, Chen M, Fu YX, Tang H. PD-L1 on dendritic cells attenuates T cell activation and regulates response to immune checkpoint blockade. Nat Commun. 2020;11(1):4835. Epub 20200924. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18570-x. PubMed PMID: 32973173; PMCID: PMC7518441.

234. Mayoux M, Roller A, Pulko V, Sammicheli S, Chen S, Sum E, Jost C, Fransen MF, Buser RB, Kowanetz M, Rommel K, Matos I, Colombetti S, Belousov A, Karanikas V, Ossendorp F, Hegde PS, Chen DS, Umana P, Perro M, Klein C, Xu W. Dendritic cells dictate responses to PD-L1 blockade cancer immunotherapy. Sci Transl Med. 2020;12(534). doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aav7431. PubMed PMID: 32161104.

235. Yonekura S, Terrisse S, Alves Costa Silva C, Lafarge A, Iebba V, Ferrere G, Goubet AG, Fahrner JE, Lahmar I, Ueda K, Mansouri G, Pizzato E, Ly P, Mazzenga M, Thelemaque C, Fidelle M, Jaulin F, Cartry J, Deloger M, Aglave M, Droin N, Opolon P, Puget A, Mann F, Neunlist M, Bessard A, Aymeric L, Matysiak-Budnik T, Bosq J, Hofman P, Duong CPM, Ugolini S, Quiniou V, Berrard S, Ryffel B, Kepp O, Kroemer G, Routy B, Lordello L, Bani MA, Segata N, Yousef Yengej F, Clevers H, Scoazec JY, Pasolli E, Derosa L, Zitvogel L. Cancer induces a stress ileopathy depending on B-adrenergic receptors and promoting dysbiosis that contribute to carcinogenesis. Cancer Discov. 2021. Epub 2021/12/22. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-0999. PubMed PMID: 34930787.

236. Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Mohamed E, Rodriguez PC. Unfolding anti-tumor immunity: ER stress responses sculpt tolerogenic myeloid cells in cancer. J Immunother Cancer. 2017;5:5. Epub 2017/01/21. doi: 10.1186/s40425-016-0203-4. PubMed PMID: 28105371; PMCID: PMC5240216.

237. Cueto FJ, Sancho D. The Flt3L/Flt3 Axis in Dendritic Cell Biology and Cancer Immunotherapy. Cancers (Basel). 2021;13(7). Epub 20210326. doi: 10.3390/cancers13071525. PubMed PMID: 33810248; PMCID: PMC8037622.

238. McDaniel MM, Kottyan LC, Singh H, Pasare C. Suppression of Inflammasome Activation by IRF8 and IRF4 in cDCs Is Critical for T Cell Priming. Cell Rep. 2020;31(5):107604. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.107604. PubMed PMID: 32375053; PMCID: PMC7325595.

239. Hargadon KM. Strategies to Improve the Efficacy of Dendritic Cell-Based Immunotherapy for Melanoma. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1594. Epub 20171120. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01594. PubMed PMID: 29209327; PMCID: PMC5702020.

240. Prokopi A, Tripp CH, Tummers B, Hornsteiner F, Spoeck S, Crawford JC, Clements DR, Efremova M, Hutter K, Bellmann L, Cappellano G, Cadilha BL, Kobold S, Boon L, Ortner D, Trajanoski Z, Chen S, de Gruijl TD, Idoyaga J, Green DR, Stoitzner P. Skin dendritic cells in melanoma are key for successful checkpoint blockade therapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2021;9(1). doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-000832. PubMed PMID: 33408092; PMCID: PMC7789456. Yonekura S, Terrisse S, Alves Costa Silva C, Lafarge A, lebba V, Ferrere G, Goubet 241. AG, Fahrner JE, Lahmar I, Ueda K, Mansouri G, Pizzato E, Ly P, Mazzenga M, Thelemaque C, Fidelle M, Jaulin F, Cartry J, Deloger M, Aglave M, Droin N, Opolon P, Puget A, Mann F, Neunlist M, Bessard A, Aymeric L, Matysiak-Budnik T, Bosq J, Hofman P, Duong CPM, Ugolini S, Quiniou V, Berrard S, Ryffel B, Kepp O, Kroemer G, Routy B, Lordello L, Bani MA, Segata N, Yengej FY, Clevers H, Scoazec JY, Pasolli E, Derosa L, Zitvogel L. Cancer Induces a Stress Ileopathy Depending on beta-Adrenergic Receptors and Promoting Dysbiosis that Contributes to Carcinogenesis. Cancer Discov. 2022;12(4):1128-51. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-0999. PubMed PMID: 34930787.

242. Robertson KD, Nagalli S. Rifaximin. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL)2024.

243. Kim SI, Kang N, Leem S, Yang J, Jo H, Lee M, Kim HS, Dhanasekaran DN, Kim YK, Park T, Song YS. Metagenomic Analysis of Serum Microbe-Derived Extracellular Vesicles and Diagnostic Models to Differentiate Ovarian Cancer and Benign Ovarian Tumor. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12(5). Epub 20200521. doi: 10.3390/cancers12051309. PubMed PMID: 32455705; PMCID: PMC7281409.

244. Zhou B, Sun C, Huang J, Xia M, Guo E, Li N, Lu H, Shan W, Wu Y, Li Y, Xu X, Weng D, Meng L, Hu J, Gao Q, Ma D, Chen G. The biodiversity Composition of Microbiome in Ovarian Carcinoma Patients. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):1691. Epub 20190208. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-38031-2. PubMed PMID: 30737418; PMCID: PMC6368644.

245. West MA, Prescott AR, Chan KM, Zhou Z, Rose-John S, Scheller J, Watts C. TLR ligand-induced podosome disassembly in dendritic cells is ADAM17 dependent. J Cell Biol. 2008;182(5):993-1005. Epub 20080901. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200801022. PubMed PMID: 18762577; PMCID: PMC2528573.

246. van Helden SF, Oud MM, Joosten B, Peterse N, Figdor CG, van Leeuwen FN. PGE2mediated podosome loss in dendritic cells is dependent on actomyosin contraction downstream of the RhoA-Rho-kinase axis. J Cell Sci. 2008;121(Pt 7):1096-106. Epub 20080311. doi: 10.1242/jcs.020289. PubMed PMID: 18334555.

247. Rhee I, Zhong MC, Reizis B, Cheong C, Veillette A. Control of dendritic cell migration, T cell-dependent immunity, and autoimmunity by protein tyrosine phosphatase PTPN12 expressed in dendritic cells. Mol Cell Biol. 2014;34(5):888-99. Epub 20131223. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01369-13. PubMed PMID: 24366546; PMCID: PMC4023833.

248. Liu K, Nussenzweig MC. Origin and development of dendritic cells. Immunol Rev. 2010;234(1):45-54. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00879.x. PubMed PMID: 20193011.

249. Hildner K, Edelson BT, Purtha WE, Diamond M, Matsushita H, Kohyama M, Calderon B, Schraml BU, Unanue ER, Diamond MS, Schreiber RD, Murphy TL, Murphy KM. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. Science. 2008;322(5904):1097-100. doi: 10.1126/science.1164206. PubMed PMID: 19008445; PMCID: PMC2756611.

250. Hacker C, Kirsch RD, Ju XS, Hieronymus T, Gust TC, Kuhl C, Jorgas T, Kurz SM, Rose-John S, Yokota Y, Zenke M. Transcriptional profiling identifies Id2 function in dendritic cell development. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(4):380-6. Epub 20030224. doi: 10.1038/ni903. PubMed PMID: 12598895.

251. Kashiwada M, Pham NL, Pewe LL, Harty JT, Rothman PB. NFIL3/E4BP4 is a key transcription factor for CD8alpha(+) dendritic cell development. Blood. 2011;117(23):6193-7. Epub 20110407. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-07-295873. PubMed PMID: 21474667; PMCID: PMC3122942.

252. Meyer MA, Baer JM, Knolhoff BL, Nywening TM, Panni RZ, Su X, Weilbaecher KN, Hawkins WG, Ma C, Fields RC, Linehan DC, Challen GA, Faccio R, Aft RL, DeNardo DG. Breast and pancreatic cancer interrupt IRF8-dependent dendritic cell development to overcome immune surveillance. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):1250. Epub 20180328. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03600-6. PubMed PMID: 29593283; PMCID: PMC5871846.

253. Yan X, Zhao X, Huo R, Xu T. IRF3 and IRF8 Regulate NF-kappaB Signaling by Targeting MyD88 in Teleost Fish. Front Immunol. 2020;11:606. Epub 20200416. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00606. PubMed PMID: 32373114; PMCID: PMC7179762.

254. Lau CM, Tiniakou I, Perez OA, Kirkling ME, Yap GS, Hock H, Reizis B. Transcription factor Etv6 regulates functional differentiation of cross-presenting classical dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2018;215(9):2265-78. Epub 20180807. doi: 10.1084/jem.20172323. PubMed PMID: 30087163; PMCID: PMC6122974.

255. Bayerl F, Meiser P, Donakonda S, Hirschberger A, Lacher SB, Pedde AM, Hermann CD, Elewaut A, Knolle M, Ramsauer L, Rudolph TJ, Grassmann S, Ollinger R, Kirchhammer N, Trefny M, Anton M, Wohlleber D, Hochst B, Zaremba A, Kruger A, Rad R, Obenauf AC, Schadendorf D, Zippelius A, Buchholz VR, Schraml BU, Bottcher JP. Tumor-derived prostaglandin E2 programs cDC1 dysfunction to impair intratumoral orchestration of anti-cancer T cell responses. Immunity. 2023;56(6):1341-58 e11. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2023.05.011. PubMed PMID: 37315536.

256. Hunt R, Sauna ZE, Ambudkar SV, Gottesman MM, Kimchi-Sarfaty C. Silent (synonymous) SNPs: should we care about them? Methods Mol Biol. 2009;578:23-39. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60327-411-1_2. PubMed PMID: 19768585.

257. Newman AM, Liu CL, Green MR, Gentles AJ, Feng W, Xu Y, Hoang CD, Diehn M, Alizadeh AA. Robust enumeration of cell subsets from tissue expression profiles. Nat Methods. 2015;12(5):453-7. Epub 20150330. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3337. PubMed PMID: 25822800; PMCID: PMC4739640.

258. van Beek JJP, Florez-Grau G, Gorris MAJ, Mathan TSM, Schreibelt G, Bol KF, Textor J, de Vries IJM. Human pDCs Are Superior to cDC2s in Attracting Cytolytic Lymphocytes in Melanoma Patients Receiving DC Vaccination. Cell Rep. 2020;30(4):1027-38 e4. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.12.096. PubMed PMID: 31995747.

259. Florez-Grau G, Escalona JC, Lacasta-Mambo H, Roelofs D, Bodder J, Beuk R, Schreibelt G, De Vries JIM. Human Dendritic Cell Subset Isolation by Magnetic Bead Sorting: A Protocol to Efficiently Obtain Pure Populations. Bio Protoc. 2023;13(20):e4851. Epub 20231020. doi: 10.21769/BioProtoc.4851. PubMed PMID: 37900109; PMCID: PMC10603258.

260. Chakraborty S, Ye J, Wang H, Sun M, Zhang Y, Sang X, Zhuang Z. Application of tolllike receptors (TLRs) and their agonists in cancer vaccines and immunotherapy. Front Immunol. 2023;14:1227833. Epub 20231023. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1227833. PubMed PMID: 37936697; PMCID: PMC10626551.

261. Kaur A, Baldwin J, Brar D, Salunke DB, Petrovsky N. Toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists as a driving force behind next-generation vaccine adjuvants and cancer therapeutics. Curr Opin Chem Biol. 2022;70:102172. Epub 20220701. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2022.102172. PubMed PMID: 35785601.

262. Sato Y, Goto Y, Narita N, Hoon DS. Cancer Cells Expressing Toll-like Receptors and the Tumor Microenvironment. Cancer Microenviron. 2009;2 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):205-14. Epub 20090815. doi: 10.1007/s12307-009-0022-y. PubMed PMID: 19685283; PMCID: PMC2756339.

263. Yu L, Wang L, Chen S. Dual character of Toll-like receptor signaling: pro-tumorigenic effects and anti-tumor functions. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013;1835(2):144-54. Epub 20121208. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2012.10.006. PubMed PMID: 23232186.

264. Nempont C, Cayet D, Rumbo M, Bompard C, Villeret V, Sirard JC. Deletion of flagellin's hypervariable region abrogates antibody-mediated neutralization and systemic activation of TLR5-dependent immunity. J Immunol. 2008;181(3):2036-43. doi:

10.4049/jimmunol.181.3.2036. PubMed PMID: 18641341.

265. Marroquin CE, Westwood JA, Lapointe R, Mixon A, Wunderlich JR, Caron D, Rosenberg SA, Hwu P. Mobilization of dendritic cell precursors in patients with cancer by flt3 ligand allows the generation of higher yields of cultured dendritic cells. J Immunother. 2002;25(3):278-88. doi: 10.1097/01.CJI.0000016307.48397.27. PubMed PMID: 12000870; PMCID: PMC2553208.

266. Lei X, Palomero J, de Rink I, de Wit T, van Baalen M, Xiao Y, Borst J. Flagellin/TLR5 Stimulate Myeloid Progenitors to Enter Lung Tissue and to Locally Differentiate Into Macrophages. Front Immunol. 2021;12:621665. Epub 20210319. doi:

10.3389/fimmu.2021.621665. PubMed PMID: 33815375; PMCID: PMC8017192.

267. Bodey B, Bodey B, Jr., Siegel SE, Kaiser HE. Failure of cancer vaccines: the significant limitations of this approach to immunotherapy. Anticancer Res. 2000;20(4):2665-76. PubMed PMID: 10953341.

268. Koski GK, Cohen PA, Roses RE, Xu S, Czerniecki BJ. Reengineering dendritic cellbased anti-cancer vaccines. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:256-76. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00617.x. PubMed PMID: 18364007.

269. Cheever MA, Higano CS. PROVENGE (Sipuleucel-T) in prostate cancer: the first FDAapproved therapeutic cancer vaccine. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(11):3520-6. Epub 20110406. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3126. PubMed PMID: 21471425.

270. Najafi S, Mortezaee K. Advances in dendritic cell vaccination therapy of cancer. Biomed Pharmacother. 2023;164:114954. Epub 20230529. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2023.114954. PubMed PMID: 37257227.

271. Andrews DM, Maraskovsky E, Smyth MJ. Cancer vaccines for established cancer: how to make them better? Immunol Rev. 2008;222:242-55. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00612.x. PubMed PMID: 18364006.

272. Sutherland SIM, Ju X, Horvath LG, Clark GJ. Moving on From Sipuleucel-T: New Dendritic Cell Vaccine Strategies for Prostate Cancer. Front Immunol. 2021;12:641307. Epub 20210329. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.641307. PubMed PMID: 33854509; PMCID: PMC8039370.
273. Jackson EL, Willis N, Mercer K, Bronson RT, Crowley D, Montoya R, Jacks T, Tuveson DA. Analysis of lung tumor initiation and progression using conditional expression of oncogenic <i>K-ras</i>. Genes & Development. 2001;15(24):3243-8. doi: 10.1101/gad.943001.

274. Jonkers J, Meuwissen R, van der Gulden H, Peterse H, van der Valk M, Berns A. Synergistic tumor suppressor activity of BRCA2 and p53 in a conditional mouse model for breast cancer. Nat Genet. 2001;29(4):418-25. Epub 2001/11/06. doi: 10.1038/ng747

ng747 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 11694875.

275. Caton ML, Smith-Raska MR, Reizis B. Notch-RBP-J signaling controls the homeostasis of CD8- dendritic cells in the spleen. J Exp Med. 2007;204(7):1653-64. Epub 20070625. doi: 10.1084/jem.20062648. PubMed PMID: 17591855; PMCID: PMC2118632.

276. Price AE, Shamardani K, Lugo KA, Deguine J, Roberts AW, Lee BL, Barton GM. A Map of Toll-like Receptor Expression in the Intestinal Epithelium Reveals Distinct Spatial, Cell Type-Specific, and Temporal Patterns. Immunity. 2018;49(3):560-75 e6. Epub 20180828. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.07.016. PubMed PMID: 30170812; PMCID: PMC6152941.

277. Hogquist KA, Jameson SC, Heath WR, Howard JL, Bevan MJ, Carbone FR. T cell receptor antagonist peptides induce positive selection. Cell. 1994;76(1):17-27. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(94)90169-4. PubMed PMID: 8287475.

278. Janowska-Wieczorek A, Majka M, Kijowski J, Baj-Krzyworzeka M, Reca R, Turner AR, Ratajczak J, Emerson SG, Kowalska MA, Ratajczak MZ. Platelet-derived microparticles bind to hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells and enhance their engraftment. Blood. 2001;98(10):3143-9. doi: 10.1182/blood.v98.10.3143. PubMed PMID: 11698303.

279. Jones-Nelson O, Hilliard JJ, DiGiandomenico A, Warrener P, Alfaro A, Cheng L, Stover CK, Cohen TS, Sellman BR. The Neutrophilic Response to Pseudomonas Damages the Airway Barrier, Promoting Infection by Klebsiella pneumoniae. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.

2018;59(6):745-56. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2018-0107OC. PubMed PMID: 30109945. 280. Kovacs SB, Oh C, Aachoui Y, Miao EA. Evaluating cytokine production by flow

cytometry using brefeldin A in mice. STAR Protoc. 2021;2(1):100244. Epub 20201230. doi: 10.1016/j.xpro.2020.100244. PubMed PMID: 33458706; PMCID: PMC7797915.